
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
Agenda 

 
Wednesday, 7 February 2018 
7.30 pm,  
Civic Suite 
Catford 
SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact:  John Bardens (02083149976) 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2017 

 
3 - 10 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

11 - 14 

3.   Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

4.   Social prescribing review - draft report 
 

15 - 36 

5.   Adult safeguarding annual report 
 

37 - 86 

6.   CQC update on care homes 
 

87 - 92 

7.   CQC inspections of SLaM 
 

93 - 112 

8.   The future of the NHS Walk-in Centre, New Cross and improving 
access and provision to primary care - update 
 

113 - 126 

9.   Linkline Community Alarm Service 
 

127 - 166 

10.   Adult social care charging framework 
 

167 - 238 

11.   Select Committee work programme 
 

239 - 258 

12.   Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
Members 

 
 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Wednesday, 7 February 2018.   
 
Janet Senior, Acting Chief Executive 
Tuesday, 30 January 2018 
 
  

Councillor John Muldoon (Chair)  

Councillor Susan Wise (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor Paul Bell  

Councillor Peter Bernards  

Councillor Colin Elliott  

Councillor Sue Hordijenko  

Councillor Stella Jeffrey  

Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa  

Councillor Jacq Paschoud  

Councillor Joan Reid  

Councillor Alan Hall (ex-Officio)  

Councillor Gareth Siddorn (ex-Officio)  

  

   



1 
 

MINUTES OF THE HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES 

SELECT COMMITTEE 

Wednesday 6 December 2017, 7.00pm 

Present: Councillors John Muldoon (Chair), Joan Reid, Peter Bernards, Colin Elliot, 

Olurotimi Ogunbadewa, and Jacq Paschoud.  

Apologies: Councillors Susan Wise (Vice Chair), Paul Bell, and Stella Jeffrey. 

Also Present: Charmaine Binns (Lewisham Disability Coalition, Community 

Development Worker), Roz Hardie (Lewisham Disability Coalition, Director), Simon 

Parton (Lewisham Local Medical Committee, Chair), Michael Munson (Bromley and 

Lewisham Mind, Community Support Services Manager), James Lee (Head of Service 

Culture and Community Development), Warwick Tomsett (Head of Targeted Services 

and Joint Commissioning for CYP), Sarah Wainer (Programme Lead, Whole System 

Model of Care), Dee Carlin (Head of Joint Commissioning), Nigel Bowness 

(Healthwatch), Georgina Nunney (Principal Lawyer), and John Bardens (Scrutiny 

Manager). 

1. Minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2017 

Resolved: the minutes of the last meeting were agreed as a true record. 

2. Declarations of interest 

The following non-prejudicial interests were declared: 

 Councillor John Muldoon is a member of South London and Maudsley NHS 

Foundation Trust. 

 Councillor Jacq Paschoud has a family member in receipt of a package of adult 

social care. 

 Councillor Colin Elliot is a Council appointee to the Lewisham Disability Coalition. 

3. Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 

There were no Mayor and Cabinet responses. 

5. Committee response to referral from Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Resolved: the Committee agreed the draft response. 

 

 

 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



2 
 

8. Integration review update 

Sarah Wainer (Programme Lead, Whole System Model of Care) introduced the 

report. The following key points were noted: 

8.1  The officer report provides an update on the progress made on the 

recommendations of the committee’s in-depth review of the integration of health 

and social care. 

8.2 One of the key developments is the approved funding for a 16-week pilot 

bringing together a group of district nurses and care workers to operate as one 

team to test a more collaborative way of working model. 

8.3 The pilot will test, among other things, an approach to multi-disciplinary working 

across district nursing and home care that enables more co-ordinated, person-

centred care and support. 

8.4 Lewisham Health and Care Partners (LHCP) have agreed a vision for 

community-based care which will be communicated more widely to inform 

future development and delivery. 

8.5 Feedback continues to show that LHCP need to provide clearer 

communications on the challenges and plans to improve health and care 

across the borough. A communications and engagement lead has been 

appointed to support this work. 

8.6 The committee noted that the update to recommendation 14, on the 

complaints process for community-based services, did not address how and 

when people are notified of the complaints process. The committee stressed 

that some people need reassurance that making a complaint will not affect 

their care. 

8.7 In relation to recommendation 15, on activities for young adults with learning 

disabilities, the committee expressed concern that the lack of activities for this 

group, particularly during the summer and winter holidays, was not being 

addressed. 

Resolved: the committee noted the update. 

6. Transition from children's to adult social care 

Warwick Tomsett (Head of Targeted Services and Joint Commissioning for CYP) 

introduced the report. The following key points were noted: 

6.1 The pilot transition team went live in March. Staff from children’s and adult 

social care are currently focusing on transition and adulthood arrangements 

for young people aged 17 and above, but are working towards young people 

from the age of 14. 

Page 4



3 
 

6.2 A joint Ofsted and CQC inspection of SEND (Special Educational Needs and 

Disabilities) provision across the borough was carried out in October. The 

inspection recently published its outcome letter. This noted good frontline 

practice, good joint agency working, and some areas of improvement. It also 

highlighted the issue of short breaks ending at age 18 and whether anything 

can be done for ages 19-25. 

6.3 The inspection found that parents’ views of the support they receive is mixed. 

Generally, parents who have had more recent contact with the transition team 

are more positive about their experience. 

Resolved: the committee noted the report. 

4. Social prescribing in-depth review - evidence session 

Charmaine Binns (Lewisham Disability Coalition, Community Development Worker) 

and Roz Hardie (Lewisham Disability Coalition, Director) provided evidence to the 

committee. The following key points were noted: 

4.1 The Lewisham Disability Coalition (LDC) is part of Community Connections. 

They are funded through the Council's main grants programme to provide 

advice primarily for adults. Many people who come to LDC are lonely and 

being part of the consortium makes it easier to refer people on to other 

organisations. 

4.2 Community Connections was commissioned to provide greater access to 

social prescribing activity, partly in recognition that social isolation and 

loneliness can be bigger predictors of ill health than smoking and obesity. 

4.3 A key part of the work of Community Connections is looking at local needs, 

identifying the gaps in available services, and working with local organisations 

to fill those gaps.  

4.4 Community Connections works with a range of partners. This includes Age 

UK, Voluntary Action Lewisham, Carers Lewisham, Lewisham Disability 

Coalition, Rushey Green Time Bank, Voluntary Services Lewisham, Mindcare, 

and the Council. 

4.5 More than 900 people were referred to Community Connections in 2016/17. 

This includes 200 from adult social care, 200 from GPs, 100 from NHS 

services, 100 from the Council’s enablement team, 120 self-referrals, 80 from 

SAIL, 50 from other community organisations, and 40 from Community 

Connections’ own outreach. 

4.6 Social prescribing could play more of a role, particularly for people with 

learning disability. There are only two organisations that people with learning 

disability can be referred to, and during the school holidays there are none. 

Page 5



4 
 

4.7 Other partners that it would help to have involved in social prescribing include 

local NHS Trusts and London Transport. Lack of transport is a significant 

issue.  

4.8 Community groups and organisations need more help and support with 

capacity building and building partnerships. Public Health currently provide 

some funding for this through Neighbourhood Community Development 

Partnerships (NCDPs). 

4.9 LDC recognises that while there are high levels of demand in the community, 

there is also increasing pressure on the Council’s budget and it is unlikely that 

current levels of investment can be sustained. LDC recognises that they need 

to identify alternative sources of income. LDC has also been working, as part 

of the NCDPs, to support existing organisations to achieve economies of 

scale. 

4.10 LDC noted that there is a significant gap in support for people who need help 

navigating their way around the health and care systems, including social 

prescribing providers. 

Michael Munson (Bromley and Lewisham Mind, Community Support Services 

Manager) provided evidence to the committee. The following key points were noted: 

4.11 Bromley and Lewisham Mind provides a range of community-based mental 

health support services including their Community Support Service (CSS), 

Peer Support Service, MindCare for people with dementia, and Mindful Mums 

for pregnant and new mums. Support usually lasts for 12-20 weeks in CSS 

and is for people who are in primary care or not receiving support from 

secondary mental health services.  

4.12 Mind often signposts to other community groups and organisations towards 

the end of their support in order to help people sustain the mental health 

improvements they have gained during their short-term support. Mind will 

quality control and follow-up signposting to check if there are any barriers to 

people engaging with that particular organisation. Mind noted that it’s easy to 

pick out a community-based activity, but whether it’s suitable, understanding, 

welcoming and appropriate for a particular person with a mental health 

problem is another matter altogether.  

4.13 In 2016/17, the Community Support Service received 540 referrals. 33% of 

referrals come from secondary care, 24% from IAPT, 18% self-referred, 17% 

from GPs, and 8% from other third-sector providers. 71% of referrals were 

taken on as new cases (82% the year before). The 17% of GP referrals come 

from 25 practices. Nine of these provide 76% of the GP referrals. The highest 

numbers of referrals come from New Cross, Perry Vale, Bellingham, and 

Rushey Green. 

Page 6



5 
 

4.14 People have multiple support needs requiring social prescribing. 85% of 

referrals mentioned motivation and confidence. 75% mentioned meaningful 

use of time, and 65% developing skills. Money, budgeting, social activities, 

and managing mental health was mentioned by at least 50%.  

4.15 Mind noted, looking at individuals’ wellbeing scores when they first approach 

the service (the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale), that the severity 

of need has risen over the last three years. 

4.16 The Community Support Service has an intervention cost, from acceptance 

onto caseload to discharge, of c£730. 

4.17 Mind is deliberately not linking in with the Neighbourhood Care Networks in 

the borough as they wouldn’t be able to deal with the extra referrals. Mind are 

not part of Advice Lewisham and they could not deal with the increased level 

of referrals if they were. 

4.18 Mind’s CSS service mirrors the borough demographic in every way other than 

age. It is predominantly used by the 35-55 age group. This tends to be the 

age at which people have more domestic responsibilities and are more 

vulnerable to relationship, debt or social exclusion problems.  

4.19 Mental health needs in younger people and men lacks social prescribing 

options, and in over 65s depression is under-diagnosed. There is evidence 

that 75% of mental health problems begin before the age of 14 and that one in 

six young people have a mental health problem. Mind noted that there is little 

support available in the borough for younger people aged 14 to 25.  

4.20 79% of people discharged from Mind’s support services recoded a meaningful 

improvement in their wellbeing.  

4.21 Mind can help individuals who attend together with partners or carers, but 

Mind’s support services are focused on the individual with the mental health 

needs and do not have the capacity to provide advice and support to the 

wider family. 

4.22 The social prescribing process needs to be accessible by those who are 

social phobic and unable to leave the house to engage with support services. 

4.22 Mind’s Peer Support programme delivers around 90 community-based group 

activity sessions to over 250 unique individuals per quarter. 80 new 

participants join each quarter and can join any number of sessions provided 

by people with lived experience of mental health problems.  The service 

delivers around 200% of targeted outcomes and is funded by Lewisham Main 

Grants. 

4.23 The Committee noted that there appears to be significant difficulty finding 

activities and support for younger people with mental health needs (and 

learning disability). 

Page 7



6 
 

Simon Parton (Lewisham Local Medical Committee, Chair) provided evidence to the 

committee. The following key points were noted: 

4.24 A significant number of younger people are not accessing mental health 

support services. A significant number of over 65s are also missed as GPs 

tend to focus on conditions such as dementia rather than depression.  

4.25 GPs are fully aware of social issues and would prefer to see more social 

prescribing. 35-40% of GP consultations relate to social issues, including 

debt, family and wellbeing problems. GPs struggle to provide effective support 

for these in 10-minute consultations. 

4.26 There is an asymmetry in spending on medical and social interventions. A lot 

of money spent on healthcare interventions could have been saved with social 

interventions. 

4.27 One of the barriers to greater use of social prescribing among GPs is 

knowledge of the various services available. GPs are often unaware of what’s 

out there and how to access it. Some GP practices are more used to and 

confident making referrals than others.  

4.28 Social prescribing needs to be continuously promoted to GPs and referral 

pathways need to be quick and easy. GPs also need to be confident that if 

they make a referral something will happen and people will not just return to 

them. 

4.29 Consideration needs to be given to how interventions are evaluated and 

knowledge shared. Some services available do not currently have any 

outcome measures. 

4.30 The SAIL referral form is a good step forward. It’s very simple and has 

increased the awareness of social prescribing among GPs in Lewisham over 

the last year. But it needs to be continuously promoted. There needs to be 

more integrated pathways with a quick tick-box referral process like SAIL. The 

benefits will be seen in time.  

4.31 The Lewisham Local Medical Committee promotes SAIL in their newsletter 

and are hoping to have SAIL physically located in a GP practice.  

4.32 The committee queried whether a lack of evidence on social prescribing is the 

reason that there is less take up among GPs and the wider clinical 

community.  

4.33 The committee noted written evidence from a local GP stating that they do not 

get feedback from Community Connections when they make a referral so do 

not know how effective or useful it is. 

4.34 The committee noted that patient report feedback is the most important 

feedback and should be capable of being captured, analysed and shared.  

Page 8



7 
 

4.35 The committee noted written evidence from Speaking Up stating that there 

are a number of services in the borough specifically for older people which 

younger people are excluded from.  

4.36 The committee noted that if young people are unable to find enough to do in 

the daytime they can start to feel socially excluded and demotivated. The 

committee expressed particular concern about the provision for young people. 

Resolved: the committee noted the witnesses’ evidence. 

 

7. Leisure centre contract 

James Lee (Head of Service Culture and Community Development) introduced the 

report. The following key points were noted: 

7.1 There were nearly 2m visits to Lewisham’s leisure facilities in 2016/17. This is 

a 12% increase on 2015/16. Membership levels and income, however, is not 

as strong. This is a result of increased competition from budget gyms. 

7.2 There was an overall drop in participation in three targeted groups: a 16% 

drop in users aged 16-19, a 4% drop in BME users, and a 6% drop in under 

16 users. Officers will work with Fusion over the coming year to increase 

levels of young people’s participation. 

7.3 There have been no formal complaints as a result of the decision to remove 

free swimming for under 16s from 1 September 2016. 

7.4 There has been a significant increase year on year of swim school 

participants, partly as a result of more swimming lessons being offered for a 

wider age range of children and adults. Officers have worked with the 

Amateur Swimming Association to develop initiatives to increase swimming 

participation and review the school swimming offer. 

7.5 The criteria for Exercise on Referral have been tightened and is now targeted 

at those in real need of personal attention and extra care (for example obese 

people with underlying health indications). The number of people attending an 

initial assessment after a referral has increased from 61% to 73%. 

7.6 £1m savings were taken from the leisure budget from 1 April 2017. The 

savings included a negotiation of the contract with Fusion, including pricing.  

7.7 The quality of service delivery has dropped significantly in 2016/17. There has 

been an increase in complaints about repairs and maintenance, cleanliness 

and class cancellations. Meetings have taken place with Fusion directors to 

outline the Council’s concerns and seek assurances that improvements will be 

put in place. 

Page 9



8 
 

7.8 The committee noted that one of the reasons for low levels of swimming 

among disabled users was that there was a lack of information about 

swimming for disabled users on leisure centre websites  

7.9 The committee expressed concern about the cleanliness and maintenance of 

leisure sites in the borough. The committee noted that considerable 

investment that had been made to bring leisure facilities into good order and 

how difficult it could be to bring them back up to standard if they are allowed 

to deteriorate.  

7.10 The council can claw back payment for the non-opening of swimming pools. 

This has been rare in the past, but is becoming increasingly common. 

Resolved: the committee noted the report. 

9. Select Committee work programme 

John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager) introduced the work programme.  

Resolved: the committee noted and agreed the work programme. 

10. Referrals 

There were no referrals. 

The meeting ended at 21.00pm 

Chair:  

 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Date: 

 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Page 10



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Declaration of interests 

Contributor Chief Executive Item 2 

Class Part 1 (open) 7 February 2018 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 
 
1. Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member 
Code of Conduct: 
 
(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2) Other registerable interests 
(3) Non-registerable interests 

 
2. Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or 
gain 

 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 

by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the 
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a 
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial 
benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they 

are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the 
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, 
services or works. 

 
(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 

Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest.   

 
(g)  Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
 

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land 
in the borough;  

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



(b) and either 
 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
3.  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 

were appointed or nominated by the Council 
(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 

purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25 

 
4. Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely 
to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more 
than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is 
not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

  
5.  Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any 
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw 
from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest 
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’ 
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to 
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the 
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before 
the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in 

Page 12



consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below 
applies. 

 
(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 

disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a 
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think 
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the 
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 

member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect 
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the 
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable 
interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 

personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the 
advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6. Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not 
be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and 
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

 
7. Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 

or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless 
the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which 
you are a governor;  

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e) Ceremonial honours for members 
(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Social prescribing in-depth review – draft report 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 4 

Class Part 1 (open) 7 February 2018 

 
1. Overview  

As part of the work programme for 2017/18, the Committee agreed to carry out an 
in-depth review of social prescribing in Lewisham. The scope was agreed in June 
2017 and evidence gathered at meetings in September and December 2017. 

The attached draft report presents the written and verbal evidence received by the 
Committee. The executive summary, recommendations and conclusion will be 
inserted once the draft report has been agreed. The final report will be presented to 
Mayor and Cabinet at the earliest opportunity. 

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is asked to: 

 Agree the draft review report 

 Consider any recommendations the report should make 

 Note that the final report, including the recommendations agreed at this meeting, 
will be presented to Mayor and Cabinet 

3.  Legal implications 

The report will be submitted to Mayor and Cabinet, which holds the decision-making 
powers in respect of this matter. 

4.  Financial implications 

There are no direct financial implications arising out of this report. However, the 
financial implications of any specific recommendations will need to be considered in 
due course. 

5.  Equalities implications 

There are no direct equalities implications arising from the implementation of the 
recommendations in this report. The Council works to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination and harassment, promote equality of opportunity and good relations 
between different groups in the community and to recognise and to take account of 
people’s differences. 

If you have any questions, please contact John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager) 
on 02083149976. 

 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
  

 

____________________________________ 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
 
Social prescribing 
 
March 2018 
____________________________________ 

 
Membership of the Healthier Communities Select Committee in 2017/18: 
 
Councillor John Muldoon (Chair)   

Councillor Susan Wise (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor Paul Bell      

Councillor Peter Bernards      

Councillor Colin Elliot      

Councillor Sue Hordijenko     

Councillor Stella Jeffrey 

Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa      

Councillor Jacq Paschoud      

Councillor Joan Reid      

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 17

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=178
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=116
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=142
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=170
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=192
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=177
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=191
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=141
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=176
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=147


2 
  

Social prescribing in Lewisham 

Chair’s introduction..................................................................................................... 3 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................... 4 

Recommendations ..................................................................................................... 5 

The purpose and structure of this review ................................................................... 6 

Introduction and policy context ................................................................................... 7 

What is social prescribing? ......................................................................................... 8 

Social prescribing in Lewisham .................................................................................. 8 

Community connections ............................................................................................. 9 

Neighbourhood Community Development Partnerships........................................... 10 

Social prescribing review group ............................................................................... 10 

Lewisham SAIL ........................................................................................................ 11 

Lewisham health and social care directory ............................................................... 12 

Community and voluntary-sector organisations ....................................................... 12 

Evidence of effectiveness ......................................................................................... 14 

Gaps in provision and awareness ............................................................................ 16 

Monitoring and ongoing scrutiny .............................................................................. 18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



3 
  

Chair’s introduction 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillor John Muldoon (Chair of the Healthier Communities Select Committee) 

 

Page 19



4 
  

Executive Summary 

1.1 Copy  
 

Social Prescribing in Lewisham 

1.2 Copy 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



5 
  

Recommendations 

Social Prescribing in Lewisham 

1. Copy  

 
Social Prescribing in Lewisham 

2. Copy  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



6 
  

The purpose and structure of this review 

 
3.1 At its meeting on 25 April 2017 the Healthier Communities Select Committee 

agreed to hold an in-depth review of social prescribing. 
 

3.2 At its meeting on 13 June 2017, the Committee agreed the scope of the review. 
 
3.3 The key lines of enquiry were: 

The extent of social prescribing in Lewisham: Who are the partners and 

organisations currently involved in the development and provision of social 

prescribing services? What types of activities and interventions are provided, and 

how many people are being referred? What types of problems is social 

prescribing commonly used for, and which groups of people tend to be most 

commonly referred?  

The plans for social prescribing in Lewisham: What is the potential for 

expanding social prescribing in Lewisham? For which problems and groups of 

people could it play more of a role? What further partners and organisations could 

be involved in the development and provision of social prescribing? What is the 

capacity of local partners and organisations to provide more services?  

The effectiveness of social prescribing in Lewisham: For which problems 

and groups of people has social prescribing been used most effectively? How 

are the outcomes of activities and interventions captured and measured? How is 

the effectiveness and efficiency of social prescribing schemes evaluated?  

The gaps in social prescribing coverage: For which problems and groups of 

people is social prescribing coverage lacking? What further help and support do 

providers and other local organisations need to reach more people? What help 

and support do providers and local organisations need to improve the way they 

work more generally? 

3.4 The timetable for the review was: 
 

First evidence session – 20 July 2017 

Council officers, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Community 

Connections, Lewisham Safe and Independent Living (SAIL). 

Second evidence session – 7 September 2017 

Lewisham Disability Coalition, Rushey Green Time Bank, Sydenham Gardens, 

Lewisham Local Medical Committee, Healthy Living Centre, the Big Group. 

Report – 1 November 2017  

Committee to consider the final report presenting all the evidence and agree 

recommendations for submission to Mayor and Cabinet.  

 
 

Page 22



7 
  

 
 

Introduction and policy context 
 

4.1 Interest in social prescribing has increased across the UK primarily because of 
the increasing burden on the NHS of long-term conditions and the growing 
crisis in general practice.1 The challenge of caring for an ageing population and 
supporting people with long-term conditions is one of the most important the 
country faces – chronic illnesses consume approximately 70% of the health 
budget.2  
 

4.2 Professor Sir Michael Marmot’s 2010 review, Fair Society, Healthy Lives, 
pointed out that the majority of health outcomes are attributable to social-
economic factors. In fact, it is estimated that around a fifth of visits to GPs are 
for a social problem rather than medical one.3 It is also acknowledged within 
primary care that around 30% of all consultations and 50% of consecutive 
attendances concern some form of mental health problem, usually depression 
or anxiety.4 
 

4.3 Given the increasing pressure in primary care, the fact that there is often no 
cure for many long-term conditions, and that GPs are not necessarily equipped 
to handle all the social and psychological burdens that patients present, some 
health experts argue that it is necessary to look beyond the traditional clinical 
model the NHS offers and develop new approaches, including social 
prescribing.5 
 

4.4 Some commentators believe that, by connecting people with local community 
services and activities, we can help improve the health and wellbeing of large 
numbers of people. Social prescribing, and a more holistic approach, is 
increasingly being seen as a potential solution to the burden of managing long-
term conditions and repeat attendees in surgeries.6 
 

4.5 Social prescribing was highlighted in NHS England’s General Practice Forward 
View as a mechanism to support more integration of primary care with wider 
health and care systems to reduce demand on stretched primary care services. 
The south east London Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), in 
common with all of London’s STPs includes a commitment to self-care and 
social prescribing. (officer report) 
 

4.6 Industry experts recognise, however, that links between primary care and third 
sector organisations are often underdeveloped, and that there is currently little 
robust evidence demonstrating the effectiveness and efficiency of social 
prescribing schemes.7 
 

                                                           
1 Kimberlee, R. (2015) What is social prescribing? Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal, 2 (1), p102 
2 Local Government Association, Just what the doctor ordered: social prescribing – a guide for local authorities, May 2016, p2 
3 ibid 
4 Kimberlee, R. (2015), p102 
5 ibid, it is anticipated that consultation rate will increase by 5% over the next 20 years. 
6 Kimberlee, R. (2015), p102 
7 ibid 

Page 23

https://blogs.ncvo.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/what-is-social-prescibing.pdf
Just%20what%20the%20doctor%20ordered:%20social%20prescribing%20-%20a%20guide%20for%20local%20authorities


8 
  

What is social prescribing? 
 

5.1 Social prescribing, or “community referral”, is a way of enabling GPs, nurses 
and other primary care professionals to refer people with social, emotional or 
practical needs to a range of local, non-clinical services. Social prescribing, 
recognising that people’s health is determined by a range of social, economic 
and environmental factors, seeks to address people’s needs in a holistic way, 
and to support individuals to take greater control of their own health.8 
 

5.2 Social prescribing schemes can involve a variety of activities, which are 
typically provided by voluntary and community sector organisations. Examples 
include volunteering, arts activities, group learning, gardening, befriending, 
cookery, healthy eating advice and a range of sports. It can also involve simply 
putting people in contact with services that can provide help and advice with 
issues such as debt, benefits and housing.9 
 

5.3 Social prescribing and similar approaches have been used in the NHS for many 
years, with several schemes dating back to the 1990s. The Bromley by Bow 
Centre, for example, one of the oldest and best-known social prescribing 
projects, was established in 1984 (see case study below). However, interest in 
social prescribing has increased over the past decade or so, with more than 
100 schemes now running across the UK, more than 25 of which are in 
London.10 

Social prescribing in Lewisham 
 

6.1 In Lewisham, the use of social prescribing is part of the wider shift by health 
and care providers towards prevention, early action and enabling people to look 
after themselves – by finding information or making connections in the local 
community, for example. Lewisham health and care partners said that social 
prescribing is not necessarily a medical model; it is more concerned with 
supporting an individual’s wider health and wellbeing including any underlying 
issues such as social isolation.  
 

6.2 Social prescribing is also a key focus of the four Neighbourhood Care Networks 
being developed in the borough (a central part of the wider integration of health 
and social care in Lewisham), and a number of tools have been developed at a 
neighbourhood level to support social prescribing.11 This includes 
Neighbourhood Community Teams,12 Multi-Disciplinary Meetings and 
Neighbourhood Co-ordinators,13 and Lewisham’s Single Point of Access.14 
 

                                                           
8 King’s Fund, What is social prescribing? (webpage), February 2017 (accessed May 2017) 
9 Local Government Association, Just what the doctor ordered: social prescribing – a guide for local authorities, May 2016, p4 
10 King’s Fund, What is social prescribing? (webpage), February 2017 (accessed May 2017) 
11 Lewisham’s Neighbourhood Care Networks aim to provide more integrated, higher quality, more timely, and cost-effective 

community-based care by bringing together, at a local level, the different organisations, individuals and agencies involved in a 

person’s health and care. They also aim to establish connections with other local support available, such as that provided by 

local voluntary and community organisations or by housing, welfare or education providers.  (Source: Health and adult social 

care integration, HCSC in-depth review final report, March 2017) 
12 virtual teams of district nurses and adult social care staff 
13 to support health and care staff to improve multi-disciplinary working 
14 To provide general health and care information and advice 

Page 24

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/topics/primary-and-community-care/social-prescribing
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/just-what-doctor-ordered--6c2.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/topics/primary-and-community-care/social-prescribing
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/overview-scrutiny/Overview-and-Scrutiny-Reports/Documents/Health%20and%20adult%20social%20care%20integration%20review.pdf
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/overview-scrutiny/Overview-and-Scrutiny-Reports/Documents/Health%20and%20adult%20social%20care%20integration%20review.pdf


9 
  

6.3 An overview of some of the other key initiatives related to social prescribing in 
Lewisham is set out below. 

Community connections 

 
7.1 Established in 2013 by a consortium of voluntary sector organisations led by 

Age UK Lewisham and Southwark, Community Connections is a community-
development programme with the aim of decreasing social isolation and 
improving mental wellbeing.  
 

7.2 The programme helps vulnerable adults access community-based groups and 
activities, such as lunch clubs, befriending services and community learning, 
and it supports local voluntary and community-sector organisations to build 
capacity and develop services to meet local needs. 
 

7.3 Community Connections was commissioned to provide greater access to social 
prescribing activity, in recognition that social isolation and loneliness can be 
bigger predictors of ill health than smoking and obesity.15  
 

7.4 In 2016/17, Community Connections received more than 900 referrals. This 
included 200 from adult social care, 200 from GPs, 120 self-referrals, and 40 
from outreach work. 690 of these received a person-centred support plan 
following a home visit from a Community Facilitator. 57% of people supported 
were over 65 years old.16  
 

 
 

7.5 The needs that people are most often referred for include social isolation, 
mental ill health, dementia, access to activities and groups, and information and 
advice. The support people are most often referred to include social activities, 
groups for those with learning disabilities, volunteering opportunities, men’s 
groups, and mental health support.  

                                                           
15 UK must tackle loneliness, says Jo Cox Commission report, BBC News, 14 December 17 
16 Community Connections Annual Report 2016/17, p9 

Source: Community Connections Annual Report 2016/17 

Page 25

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-42354807


10 
  

Neighbourhood Community Development Partnerships 

 
8.1 With one in each of the four neighbourhood areas in the borough, 

Neighbourhood Community Development Partnerships (NCDPs) work with 
local community groups and organisations to help them to connect to statutory 
providers and build capacity by recruiting, supporting and training local 
volunteers. In 2016/17, community-development workers developed 55 
organisation-support plans, working with various community groups and 
organisations to develop new projects and increase the capacity of existing 
projects.  
 

8.2 Each Neighbourhood Community Development Partnership will be responsible 
for producing a Neighbourhood Community Development Plan. This will use the 
findings from Community Connections’ analysis of gaps in local services in 
order to identify key priorities for the neighbourhood. A grant of £25k per 
partnership will be available to deliver local solutions to the local priorities 
identified. Health and care partners stated that NCDPs have the potential to 
expand the role of the voluntary and community sector in social prescribing.  

Social prescribing review group 

 
9.1 The Social Prescribing Review Group was established in December 2016 to 

develop a system-wide approach to the development of social prescribing in 
Lewisham. The group includes representation from secondary care, primary 
care, public health, social care and Community Connections and aims to review 
the activity in the borough that might be considered social prescribing, identify 
gaps in provision to improve 
targeting of activity, and consider 
a more coherent social 
prescribing model. The review is 
considering the infrastructure and 
capacity of the local voluntary 
and community sector and 
whether social prescribing is 
always an appropriate and 
reliable resource. There will be a 
particular focus on projects where 
there is a link worker in place (as 
per the Social Prescribing 
Network definition). 
 

9.2 There will also be a particular focus on the mechanism by which social 
prescribing referrals are made and what support the council can provide to 
ensure this operates as effectively as possible. Health and care partners stated 
that while there is considerable data on individual interventions, there is much 
less on the different referral mechanisms in use.  
 

9.3 As well as those who may need support face-to-face or over the phone, health 
and care partners stated that it is important to consider how to support those 

The three key components of a social 

prescribing scheme:  

 a referral from a healthcare 

professional,  

 a consultation with a link worker, and  

 an agreed referral to a local voluntary, 

community and social enterprise 

organisation. 

Social Prescribing Network (January 2016) 

Page 26



11 
  

who are able to navigate the health and care system themselves, for example, 
by making online information easier to access. 
 

9.4 Given that the evidence on social prescribing shows that the most effective 
social prescribing schemes are targeted at particular groups, the review will 
also consider whether the appropriate groups are being targeted. Officers noted 
that Healthy London Partnership has recently carried out analysis of GP 
practice data in Lewisham in order to work out which groups, if targeted, could 
benefit most from social prescribing.17 

Lewisham SAIL 

 
10.1 Fully launched in 2017, Lewisham SAIL (Safe and Independent Living) is 

intended to provide a quick and simple way of accessing local services to 
support older people (60+) with their independence, safety and wellbeing.  
 

   
 

10.2 Lewisham SAIL has formed partnerships with a range of organisations to 
provide referrals for support with, among other things, health and wellbeing, 
mental resilience, social Isolation, financial inclusion, fire safety, home security, 
safeguarding and personal safety and security. Anyone can make a SAIL 
referral by completing the one-page checklist (see appendix).   

 
10.3 Between July 2016 and March 2017, Lewisham SAIL received 194 referrals 

from more than 50 different organisations, including GPs, adult social care, the 
police, fire brigade, local NHS trusts, and various voluntary sector and 
community groups. 25% of referrals came from GPs.18 

                                                           
17 The Healthy London Partnership advocates the increased use of social prescribing and has been working to identify, using 
existing data sets, the numbers of people who may benefit in London from social prescribing. It also intends to calculate the 
return to the NHS in London on investment in implementing social prescribing initiatives over a five year period to March 2021. 
18 Lewisham Safe and Independent Living (SAIL) Connections Impact Report July 2016- March 2017, p2 

Page 27

http://www.ageuk.org.uk/bp-assets/globalassets/lewisham-and-southwark/documents/lewisham-sail-checklist-aug-17.pdf


12 
  

 
10.4 The service is targeted at those aged 65 and over because older people are 

more likely to have more than one long-term condition, to become socially 
isolated, to need help finding support, and less likely to have access to the 
internet. But SAIL will “do everything [they] can to help people access the 
services required even if they don’t fit perfectly onto the checklist”. The average 
age of those who have use SAIL is 78.19 
 

10.5 SAIL works closely with Community Connections and the Neighbourhood 
Community Development Partnerships in order to maintain its knowledge of the 
various groups and providers in the borough. 
 

10.6 Lewisham health and care partners are planning a review of the SAIL initiative. 
This will evaluate the early stages of the programme and consider gaps and 
recommendations for improvement. 

Lewisham health and social care directory 

 
11.1 The development of the Lewisham health and social care online directory of 

services is closely linked with the future development of social prescribing in 
the borough. The online directory will allow people to search by postcode for a 
broad range of services and activities. Improvements are currently being made 
to the content and functioning of the site, including the development of a 
screening tool, in the form of a questionnaire, which will be linked to the 
services in the directory.  

Community and voluntary-sector organisations 

 
12.1 In Lewisham, there are a wide range of voluntary and community-sector 

organisations involved in the provision of or referral to activities that could be 
described as social prescribing. During the course of the review, the Committee 
heard from a number of these organisations including: Sydenham Garden, 
Lewisham Carers, Lewisham Speaking Up, Bromley and Lewisham Mind, 
Lewisham Disability Coalition, and the Lewisham Local Medical Committee.  
 

12.2 Sydenham Garden provides fixed-length social and creative activity for people 
experiencing a wide range of mental ill-health. They also provide similar 
activities for people recently diagnosed with dementia. This is Sydenham 
Garden’s core provision and all of their “co-workers” (the name they give 
people who access their services) are referred by health professionals. In 
2016/17, Sydenham Garden received 421 referrals. In 2015/16 they received 
403 referrals and in 2014/15 they received 269.20 
 

12.3 Lewisham Carers operates on a neighbourhood model throughout Lewisham, 
providing regular “pop-up” advice and information sessions in GP practices. 
They provide a wide range of advice, information and advocacy, emotional 
support and specialist support. Lewisham Carers also seek and respond to 

                                                           
19 ibid, p9 
20 Annual Evaluation of Sydenham Garden 2016 – 2017, p3 

Page 28



13 
  

feedback and understand that the services they provide are much needed and 
helpful.  
 

12.4 Lewisham Speaking Up works exclusively with adults with learning disability. 
They run a number of groups and activities that could be described as social 
prescribing and make referrals to other schemes that could be described as 
such. They are aware of other groups for people with learning disability, such 
as “Heart n Soul”, an arts-activity group. From being based in the Albany in 
Deptford, they are also aware of a number of schemes specifically for older 
people, such as “Meet me at the Albany”, which is another arts-based 
programme.  
 

12.5 Lewisham Speaking Up has recently received funding from the Deptford 
Challenge Trust to set up a “Speak Up and Wellbeing” group for adults with 
learning disability who receive little or no support from statutory services. This 
stemmed from organising a “People’s Parliament” event on loneliness and 
friendships, at which 60% of people with learning disability said that they 
experienced loneliness. Those who said they were lonely were often those who 
received traditional services such as a day service or support in the community.  
 

12.6 The Lewisham Disability Coalition (LDC) provides an advice service primarily 
for adults living with a long-term health problem or disability. They are part of 
Community Connections and signpost to other groups and organisations. Many 
people who approach LDC for advice are in fact lonely. LDC said that being 
part of Community Connections makes it easier to refer people on to more 
appropriate support. 
 

12.7 Bromley and Lewisham Mind provides a range of community-based mental 
health support services, This includes the Community Support Service (CSS), 
Peer Support Service, MindCare (for people with dementia), and Mindful Mums 
(for pregnant and new mums).  
 

12.8 Support from the CSS usually lasts for 12-20 weeks. Towards the end of their 
support, Mind often signposts people to other community groups and 
organisations in order to sustain the mental health improvements made during 
their short-term support. Mind will also follow up to check if there are any 
barriers to people engaging. Mind noted that it’s easy to pick out a community-
based activity, but “whether it’s suitable, understanding, welcoming and 
appropriate for a particular person with a mental health problem is another 
matter altogether”.  
 

12.9 In 2016/17, Mind’s Community Support Service received 540 referrals. 33% of 
these were from secondary care, 18% were self-referred and 17% were from 
GPs. GP referrals came from 25 practices in the borough. Nine of these 
provided 76% of all GP referrals. The issues most often mentioned in referrals 
include: motivation and confidence (85%), meaningful use of time (75%), 
developing skills (65%), money, budgeting and social activities (50%).  
 

12.10 The committee noted the importance of following up on referrals and 
gathering feedback and drew attention to written evidence from a local GP 

Page 29



14 
  

who had not received any feedback after making referrals to Community 
Connections, which he said makes it very difficult to understand how useful or 
effective a referral has been. The committee also recalled a previous visit to 
Downham Leisure Centre where GPs were not following up and it seemed 
that people were being referred but not attending. As an example of good 
practice, the committee cited the Abbots Hall Road Healthy Lifestyle Centre, 
which provides follow-up, mentoring and coaching. 

 

      Recommendation 

 

 
Evidence of effectiveness 

13.1 There is emerging evidence that social prescribing can lead to a range of 
positive health and well-being outcomes, and that getting people involved in 
community life, keeping them active and improving social connections is good 
for both health and wellbeing.21 
 

13.2 Studies have pointed to improvements in areas such as quality of life and 
emotional wellbeing, mental and general wellbeing, and levels of depression 
and anxiety.For example, a study into a social prescribing project in Bristol 
found improvements in anxiety levels and in feelings about general health and 
quality of life.22 
 

13.3 Social prescribing schemes may also lead to a reduction in the use of NHS 
services. A study of a scheme in Rotherham found, for more than 8 in 10 
patients referred, that there were reductions in NHS use in terms of accident 
and emergency attendance, outpatient appointments and inpatient 
admissions.23 
 

13.4 However, commentators have noted that systematic and robust evidence on 
the effectiveness of social prescribing is very limited. Quantitative evidence 
deploying robust methodologies to demonstrate effectiveness is particularly 
hard to find.24  
 

13.5 In Lewisham, 68% of those supported by Community Connections in 2016/17 
reported an increase in mental wellbeing. This is based on a five-item wellbeing 
checklist completed at the start and end of the intervention. A three-month 
follow-up found that self-reported wellbeing continued to increase after the end 
of Community Connections’ involvement. From the point of referral to three 
months after the intervention was completed, there was a 10% increase in 
average wellbeing score.  
 

                                                           
21 ibid, p5  
22 King’s Fund, What is social prescribing? (webpage), February 2017 (accessed May 2017) 
23 ibid  
24 Kimberlee, R. (2015), p108 

Page 30

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/topics/primary-and-community-care/social-prescribing


15 
  

 
 

13.6 Sydenham Garden said that in their experience a number of their projects are 
“some of the most effective non-clinical interventions”. Based on their scores on 
a recognised wellbeing scale, co-workers leave Sydenham Garden with their 
wellbeing at normal levels. This has been confirmed through case studies, 
focus groups, questionnaires and carer feedback. With Sydenham Garden’s 
Garden Project, for example, in 2016/17, 68% of co-workers recorded a 
positive change to their mental wellbeing.25  
 

13.7 In 2016/17, 79% of those supported by Mind’s Community Support Service 
recorded a meaningful improvement in their wellbeing. The biggest 
improvements were in “feeling significantly better about themselves, more 
cheerful and confident, and that they were dealing with their problems well”. In 
a survey rating satisfaction with the service at point of discharge, 150 clients 
expressed an average 91.2% satisfaction. 
 

13.8 Lewisham Speaking Up noted from their experience of supporting people with 
learning disability that the most important non-clinical interventions are those 
that address the social problems this group can face. This includes helping 
people with debt, benefits, and housing problems, and providing self-advocacy 
which addresses issues with self-esteem, confidence, meeting friends and 
socialising. Activity-based groups such as arts, gardening and sports also work 
well. Lewisham Speaking Up recognised that much of the evidence on social 

                                                           
25 Annual Evaluation of Sydenham Garden 2016 – 2017, p5 

Source: Community Connections Annual Report 2016/17 

Page 31



16 
  

prescribing is more anecdotal than quantitative, but stressed that in their 
experience people “really value these groups and activities”. 
 

13.9 The committee heard from a number of witnesses that more consideration 
needs to be given to how social prescribing interventions are evaluated. More 
services should have clear outcome measures so that more evidence on the 
effectiveness of interventions can be shared. As well as data, the committee 
noted that patient-reported feedback is also important evidence of 
effectiveness, which should be capable of being captured, analysed and 
shared. The committee discussed with a number of witnesses whether a lack of 
coherent evidence on social prescribing, generally and locally, could be one of 
the barriers to greater take-up among GPs and the wider clinical community.  

 

      Recommendations 
 
 

Gaps in provision and awareness 
 

14.1 The Social Prescribing Review Group has so far found that the majority of 
social prescribing activity in Lewisham is targeted at specific groups, such as 
people aged over 60, or people with long-term conditions, for example. The 
group also found that there is clear gap in support for people under 60.   
 

14.2 SAIL Lewisham noted that there is unmet need for a range of support, 
particularly home visits to provide information and advice to people who are 
unable to leave their home. The committee also heard that social prescribing 
needs to be accessible to those who are unable to leave their home to engage 
with support because they have social phobia.  
 

14.3 SAIL is aware of a gap in social prescribing support for people under 60, as 
they continue to receive referrals from people in their 40s and 50s. SAIL said 
that GPs in particular have difficulty finding support for people who are over 50, 
but under 60 – often people who are vulnerable. 
 

14.4 The Lewisham Disability Coalition (LDC) said that social prescribing could play 
more of a role for people with learning disability in particular. There are only two 
organisations that people with learning disability can be referred to, and during 
the school holidays there are none. There is also significant gap in support for 
people who need help navigating the health and care system, including social 
prescribing.  
 

14.5 Among people with learning disability, there is a demand for more support with 
developing a social life, which can be very difficult for some people with 
learning disability and autism. Lewisham Speaking Up noted that disabled 
people experience higher levels of loneliness, which is detrimental to overall 
health. More support and interventions around making friends and developing 
relationships, including sexual ones, would help people with learning disability 
live happier and healthier lives. 
 

Page 32



17 
  

14.6 There is an appetite for more social prescribing activity among the adults with 
mental ill-health that Sydenham Garden work with, and among the 
professionals that refer to them – Sydenham Garden receive a third more 
referrals than they can place. Ecotherapies, creative and social activities, peer 
support and physical activity are all social prescriptions that would benefit 
people with mental ill-health. 
 

14.7 Mind noted that there is a lack of social prescribing options for younger people 
(14-25) in particular. Mind’s own services are predominantly used by the 35-55 
age group (as this tends to be the age at which people are more vulnerable to 
relationship, debt or social exclusion problems), but Mind noted that 75% of 
mental health problems begin before the age of 14 and that one in six young 
people have a mental health problem. The Chair of the Lewisham Local 
Medical Committee (LMC) also noted that a significant number of younger 
people are not accessing mental health support services.  
 

14.8 GPs in Lewisham would like to see more social prescribing for social issues in 
particular. 35-40% of GP consultations relate to social issues, such as debt, 
family and general wellbeing problems. One of the main barriers to the greater 
use of social prescribing among GPs is a lack of knowledge and awareness of 
the services available. Some GP practices are used to and confident making 
social prescribing referrals, but many are unaware of what’s available or how to 
access it.  
 

14.9 The committee heard that social prescribing needs to be continuously promoted 
to GPs and that social prescribing referral pathways need to be quick and easy. 
GPs need to be confident that if they make a referral something will happen 
and people will not just return to them. The SAIL referral is a good step forward 
in increasing awareness of social prescribing among GPs – but there need to 
be more integrated pathways with a quick tick-box referral process like SAIL.  

 
14.10 The committee heard that the link work between the prescriber and the 

prescription is vital. In Sydenham Garden’s experience, separate 
organisations set up to signpost or link people do not work, as they serve their 
own interests and add an extra step to the patient’s journey. Sydenham 
Garden has found funding their own link worker to be most effective. They 
also support the idea of having a link worker based in practices. 

 
14.11 The committee expressed concern at the apparent difficulty finding activities 

and support for support for younger people with learning disability mental 
health needs – particularly around the ages 14-25. The committee stressed 
that without activities during the daytime younger people can become socially 
excluded and start to feel demotivated. The committee noted that there are a 
number of services specifically for older people which younger people are 
excluded from and expressed concern that the whole community was not 
being considered. 

 

         Recommendations 
 

Page 33



18 
  

Monitoring and ongoing scrutiny 
 

15.1 The recommendations from this review will be referred for consideration by 
the Mayor and Cabinet at their meeting on XX March 2018 and their response 
reported back to the Committee within two months of the meeting, or at the 
earliest opportunity following the 2018 local elections. The Committee will also 
receive a progress update six months after this in order to monitor the 
implementation of the review’s recommendations. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



19 
  

 

Appendix 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 
1. Purpose 
 
This report provides members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee 
with an overview of the partnership work carried out by Lewisham Adult 
Safeguarding Board from April 2016 – March 2017. The report is for 
information. 
 
2. Recommendation 
 

Members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee are 
recommended to: 

 

 Note the content of the report. 
 
3. Summary of report 
 
This report contains information on the following: 

 What the LSAB partnership have accomplished in 2016-2017 

 The difference to adults at risk of harm in Lewisham 

 Quality Assurance and Organisational Learning 

 Current Safeguarding Adult Reviews 

 Resources and Funding 2016-2017 

 What we will do in 2017-2018 

 Performance Report 2016-2017 

 LSAB Contact Details and How to Report Your Concerns 

 Statements from our partners 

 Lewisham Council Adult Social Care 

 Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Metropolitan Police Service - Lewisham 

 Healthwatch-Lewisham 

 South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust 

 Safer Lewisham Partnership 

 Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 
 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
 

Report Title 
 

Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2016-2017 

Contributors 
 

Professor Michael Preston-Shoot – 
Independent Chair 
Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board 

Item No. 5 

Class 
 

 Date:  Wednesday 7th February 2018 

Strategic 
Context 

The annual report provides an overview of the adult 
safeguarding partnership work carried out in the borough of 
Lewisham during 2016-2017. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



 2 

4. Financial implications 

There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

5. Legal implications  

There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

6. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7. Equalities Implications 
 

There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 
 
8. Environmental Implications 

 
There are no environmental implications arising from this report. 

 
Background Documents 

NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report 2016-2017 

Healthwatch-Lewisham Annual Report 2016-2017 

South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust annual Report 2016-2017 
 

Page 38

http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/news-publications/publications/Publications%20documents/Lewisham%20CCG%20Annual%20Report%20and%20Accounts%202016-17.pdf
http://www.healthwatchlewisham.co.uk/what-we-do/annual-reports/
http://www.slam.nhs.uk/media/478878/final_da_designed_slam_annual_report_2016-17.pdf


 

 

Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board 

Annual Report 

2016-2017  

Page 39



 
 

Page 2 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Contents 

Section  Page 

 Statement from the Independent Chair 3 

1.  About us 4 

2.  What we have accomplished in 2016-2017 9 

3.  The difference to adults at risk of harm 12 

4.  Quality Assurance and Organisational Learning 18 

5.  Safeguarding Adult Reviews 19 

6.  Resources and Funding 2016-2017 23 

7.  What we will do in 2017-2018 25 

8.  Performance Report 2016-2017 26 

 Partner Statements  

9.  London Borough of Lewisham - Adult Social Care 29 

10.  NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group 32 

11.  Metropolitan Police Service - Lewisham 35 

12.  Healthwatch - Lewisham 37 

13.  South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust 38 

14.  London Borough of Lewisham - Safer Lewisham Partnership 40 

15.  Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 43 

16.  LSAB Contact Details and How to Report Your Concerns 45 

17.  Appendices 46 

18.  Glossary of Terms 47 

  

Page 40

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 3 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Statement from the Independent Chair 

 

Welcome to the pages of this annual report of the activities of the Lewisham Safeguarding Adults 
Board (LSAB). I hope that you will find much of interest and of value. The report spans the year April 
2016 to March 2017. During that period, in January 2017, I became the Board’s Independent Chair 
and thanks must go to Aileen Buckton, Executive Director Community Services, who chaired the LSAB 
for a time between the resignation of the previous Independent Chair and my arrival. 

The Board is required by the Care Act 2014 to publish an annual report and a strategic business plan. 
Readers will find previous plans and reports on the LSAB’s web pages, which are frequently updated 
with helpful information. This report provides details of how the strategic plan has been taken forward. 

The Board is also required to commission Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) when particular 
circumstances are met. In this annual report you will find details of two SARs that were commissioned 
during 2016-2017, with expected completion in the first quarter of 2017-2018. The learning derived 
from these SARs, and the actions that have been taken to improve services to adults at risk of abuse 
and harm, will be reported on in next year’s annual report. In this report some detail is given of the two 
cases alongside a report from the case review group overall. 

Since taking up my post I have spent some time meeting senior managers, operational managers and 
front line practitioners across all the organisations that have responsibility in Lewisham for keeping 
adults safe from abuse and harm. I have been impressed by their commitment and their willingness to 
share their experience with me. These conversational meetings have been very useful for me in 
thinking through how the SAB can add value to the work of the different organisations in Lewisham 
and help to ensure excellence in adult safeguarding policy and practice. 

Next year’s annual report will cover in detail the changes that we have made and will be making to the 
work of the Board and its engagement with other organisations in Lewisham. The Board’s web pages 
will be regularly updated with the latest news from the Board and the events that it is planning. Future 
work plans are now clearly formulated and being implemented, including learning and service 
development seminars and annual conferences. The Board will be developing policies and procedures 
for types of abuse and neglect that were included in adult safeguarding by the Care Act 2014, such as 
self-neglect, and will be working with partner agencies to ensure that the training needs of front line 
staff and their managers are fully met. Much closer links are being forged with service providers and 
with Boards responsible for safeguarding children and for safer communities. 

Meanwhile, in this report readers will find updates from each of the SAB’s partner agencies on their 
adult safeguarding work, focusing on objectives, achievements and future plans. The volume and 
types of adult safeguarding activity in Lewisham are also reported, with information too about how the 
Board’s budget has been used. This annual report hopefully gives a sense of momentum, which will be 
further reflected in the Board’s web pages going forward. 

Professor Michael Preston-Shoot 
Independent Chair  

Page 41

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 4 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

1 
About us 

What we do 

The overarching purpose of Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) is to help and 
safeguard adults with care and support needs by: 

 Assuring itself that local safeguarding arrangements are in place as defined by the 
Care Act 2014 and statutory guidance; 

 Assuring itself that safeguarding practice is person-centred and outcome-focused; 

 Working collaboratively to prevent abuse and neglect where possible; 

 Ensuring agencies and individuals give timely and proportionate responses when 
abuse or neglect have occurred; and 

 Assuring itself that safeguarding practice is continuously improving and enhancing 
the quality of life of adults in Lewisham. 

The Board meets four times each year and has an Independent Chair. 

In Lewisham the Board believes that "Safeguarding is Everyone's Business". The Board’s pledge 
to the people of Lewisham is that by working together and in partnership the risk of abuse or harm 
can be reduced by raising awareness of safeguarding of adults. As intelligence is gathered from 
across the partnership activity trends can be analysed and areas of concern identified so that 
preventative measures can be applied to keep people safe. 

Our Aims 

The work priorities for the Board are directed and shaped by a number of factors including: local 
demography, analysis of local safeguarding activity information; as well as lessons learned from 
national or local case reviews, research or new initiatives. 

Board Sub-Groups 

 LSAB Case Review Group 

A group of professionals from partner agencies who consider referrals for Safeguarding Adult 
Reviews or other type of review which will enable local or national learning opportunities. 

We are creating forums to raise awareness, and task and finish groups to take forward specific 
issues, such as training. 

Page 42

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 5 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

What is safeguarding?  

Safeguarding means protecting an adult’s right to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect. It is 
about people and organisations working together to prevent and stop both the risks and 
experience of abuse or neglect, while at the same time making sure that the adult’s wellbeing is 
promoted including, where appropriate, having regard to their views, wishes, feelings and beliefs 
in deciding on any action. 

Six Safeguarding Principles 

 Empowerment 

People being supported and encouraged to make their own decisions and informed consent. 

 Prevention 

It is better to take action before harm occurs. 

 Proportionality 

The least intrusive response appropriate to the risk presented. 

 Protection 

Support and representation for those in greatest need. 

 Partnership 

Local solutions through services working with their communities. Communities have a part to play 
in preventing, detecting and reporting neglect and abuse. 

 Accountability 

Accountability and transparency in delivering safeguarding. 

What are the main types of abuse and neglect? 

Physical abuse including: 

 assault 

 hitting 

 slapping 

 pushing 

 misuse of medication 

 restraint 

 inappropriate physical sanctions 

Domestic violence including: 

 psychological 

 physical 

 sexual 

 financial 

Page 43

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 6 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

 emotional abuse 

 so called ‘honour’ based violence 

Sexual abuse including: 

 rape 

 indecent exposure 

 sexual harassment 

 inappropriate looking or touching 

 sexual teasing or innuendo 

 sexual photography 

 subjection to pornography or witnessing sexual acts 

 indecent exposure 

 sexual assault 

 sexual acts to which the adult has not consented or was pressured into consenting 

Psychological abuse including: 

 emotional abuse 

 threats of harm or abandonment 

 deprivation of contact 

 humiliation 

 blaming 

 controlling 

 intimidation 

 coercion 

 harassment 

 verbal abuse 

 cyber bullying 

 isolation 

 unreasonable and unjustified withdrawal of services or supportive networks 

Financial or material abuse including: 

 theft 

 fraud 

Page 44

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 7 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

 internet scamming 

 coercion in relation to an adult’s financial affairs or arrangements, including in connection 
with wills, property, inheritance or financial transactions 

 the misuse or misappropriation of property, possessions or benefits 

Modern slavery encompasses: 

 slavery 

 human trafficking 

 forced labour and domestic servitude. 

 traffickers and slave masters using whatever means they have at their disposal to coerce, 
deceive and force individuals into a life of abuse, servitude and inhumane treatment 

Discriminatory abuse including forms of: 

 harassment 

 slurs or similar treatment: 

 because of race 

 gender and gender identity 

 age 

 disability 

 sexual orientation 

 religion 

Organisational abuse 

Including neglect and poor care practice within an institution or specific care setting such as a 
hospital or care home, for example, or in relation to care provided in one’s own home. This may 
range from one off incidents to on-going ill-treatment. It can be through neglect or poor 
professional practice as a result of the structure, policies, processes and practices within an 
organisation. 

Neglect and acts of omission including: 

 ignoring medical 

 emotional or physical care needs 

 failure to provide access to appropriate health, care and support or educational services 

 the withholding of the necessities of life, such as medication, adequate nutrition and heating 

Self-neglect 

This covers a wide range of behaviour neglecting to care for one’s personal hygiene, health or 
surroundings and includes behaviour such as hoarding.  

Page 45

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 8 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Visit our website for more information on recognising the signs of abuse and neglect and 

how you can report it. 

What about Making Safeguarding Personal? 

In addition to the principles outlined above, it is also important that all safeguarding partners take a 
broad community approach to establishing safeguarding arrangements. It is vital that all 
organisations recognise that adult safeguarding arrangements are there to protect individuals. We 
all have different preferences, histories, circumstances and life-styles, so it is unhelpful to 
prescribe a process that must be followed whenever a concern is raised. 

 

  

Page 46

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab
http://www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 9 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

2 
What we have accomplished in 2016-2017 

The LSAB has a representative of the Board at the following community groups: 

 Lewisham Violence against Women and Girls (VAWG) Forum 
 Lewisham Hate Crime Steering Group 
 Lewisham Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) Task & Finish group 

The LSAB has ensured representation of the Board at these key events: 

 Lewisham Carers Day 
 Positive Women Conference 
 Lewisham Disabilities People’s Parliament 

We promised to deliver against the following four priorities: 

Priority 1: Continue to promote partnership working; 
Priority 2: Prevention and awareness of abuse through training & information sharing; 
Priority 3: Promote positive practice: Making Safeguarding Personal; 
Priority 4: Safeguarding Board development. 

Priority 1: Promote partnership working 

The Chair of the LSAB has worked with the Chair of LSCB and representatives from Safer 
Lewisham Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing Board to understand the interfaces of the 
different types of reviews carried out by the different partnerships across Lewisham. A joint 
working protocol has been agreed. 

Areas of joint responsibility between the adult and children Boards are being considered by the 
respective Independent Chairs on a regular basis. 

Work has progressed on the development of a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) in 
partnership with Adult Social Care. Throughout the year the LSAB Business Manager has been an 
active member of the adult MASH Working Group. 

Liaison with other Boards has been progressed by the LSAB Business Manager who is a member 
of a national Safeguarding Adult Board Managers’ online discussion group. The Business 
Manager is also a member of a tri-borough SAB Business Manager forum. 

The LSAB Housing Provider forum has been established with all major social housing providers 
who work in the borough. The forum has an active membership; and has met twice during the 
year. 

Page 47

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 10 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

We have explored re-establishing a multi-agency Hoarding Protocol with social housing providers. 
We discussed this issue with housing providers at the first forum. While welcoming the idea of a 
‘refreshed’ multi-agency joint working protocol each had developed their own processes for 
dealing with hoarding. As a result focus has shifted to developing a multi-agency policy and set of 
procedures for managing all cases of self-neglect. 

We produced and published a Workforce Development and Audit Check Plan 2016-17. The 
completed Workforce Development and Audit Check Plan provides localised information including: 

 Recruitment of Staff and Volunteers 
 Competency Categories 
 Competency Level Guidance 
 Training Available in Lewisham 

The Safeguarding training offer to organisations in Lewisham has been improved and well 
publicised. Interest in improving knowledge of safeguarding amongst local organisations and the 
numbers completing safeguarding learning has increased substantially. 

Priority 2: Prevention of abuse through training, awareness raising and information sharing 

During the year the LSAB Development Officer has been an active member of many community 
groups throughout the borough. They have been talking with groups of service users or groups 
representing service users (including their Carers and Advocates). During these meetings 
awareness of the Board and its approach to the prevention of abuse was actively promoted with 
information leaflets. 

An independent Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board website has been developed in 
collaboration with Lewisham Safeguarding Children’s Board. Working together on this project 
provided the opportunity to achieve Value for Money and strengthened joint working between the 
Boards. 

Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (LCCG) in partnership with Athena began delivery of 
Identify and Refer for Improved Safety (IRIS) training to support staff in primary care to identify 
and refer potential victims of domestic violence. 

A project brief has been agreed with Voluntary Action Lewisham to deliver a safeguarding adults 
awareness training programme for faith groups in 2017-18. 

Information Sharing Protocols with the Metropolitan Police and Lewisham Adult Social Care are 
now in place. 

Training is being commissioned on self-neglect, Making Safeguarding Person, and mental 
capacity assessments. Learning and service development seminars have been inaugurated. They 
will be held quarterly. The first focused on learning from Safeguarding Adult Reviews about self-
neglect. 

Priority 3: Promote positive practice: Making Safeguarding Personal 

The principles of Making Safeguarding Personal are embedded into the practice of all Board 
partner organisations. 

We have developed and promoted an effective Safeguarding Adult Review Framework for the 
borough. 

Page 48

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 11 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Awareness of the PREVENT project (provided by Safer Lewisham Partnership for the borough) 
has increased substantially for Board member organisations. The Officer responsible for the 
project has spoken at many LSAB meetings and forums to achieve the increase. Completion of 
PREVENT training by member organisations has also increased. 

LCCG advise the Board business team of any incidents where the initial fact finding report 
indicates there may be safeguarding issues and they have commissioned a Serious Incident 
Review (SIR) from the health provider concerned. Once the SIR is agreed by LCCG it is passed to 
the Board business team for the Independent Chair’s information and consideration of any further 
action that may be required by the Board. 

Successful promotion of the new borough wide S.A.I.L. (Safe and Independent Living) service was 
achieved via the independent website and promotion at the LSAB Housing Provider Forum. 

Via the website the Board provides online information for care providers in Lewisham which 
includes: 

 Professional Competency and National Competence Framework via the LSAB Workforce 
Development and Audit Check Plan 2016-17; 

 Current learning and development opportunities available nationally and in Lewisham; 
 Safeguarding Good Practice Standards. 

Priority 4: Safeguarding Board development 

Reviewed and implemented the LSAB Strategic Plan 2015-18 post implementation of the Care Act 
2014. 

Reviewed annual safeguarding audits, tailoring them to the function of the individual provider, 
reducing the burden on auditees. 

The role and work of the Board has been promoted at many local events, local groups and 
voluntary sector providers. 

The Board planned the first of what will become annual development days where members review 
the performance of the Board and meet practitioners and managers to inform future adult 
safeguarding priority-setting. 

The Board commenced work on Safeguarding Adults performance indicators with Lewisham Adult 
Social Care in line with London Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) 
guidelines and Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP). Progress has been delayed while waiting 
for the London Safeguarding Adult Board to determine the performance they wish to consider from 
each Board. This will ensure cross-London comparability, work will recommence following the 
release of the London Board’s performance indicators in 2017-18. 

  

Page 49

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 12 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

3 
The difference to adults at risk of harm in Lewisham 

Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group Case Studies 

 

Working with individuals and/or families 

Lewisham CCG (LCCG) is a commissioning authority and rarely works directly with individuals or 
families. However, LCCG indirectly supports individuals and families through our work at a range 
of panels including those, for example, that review the role of public agencies that had engaged 
with a victim of domestic homicide. During 2016-2017 LCCG has supported three Domestic 
Homicide Reviews, two in Lewisham and one in London Borough of Bexley. 

Working with groups 

LCCG is an active member of the groups below, all of which discuss individual and family cases. 
LCCG contributes clinical input and health oversight to the decision making process. 

 Multi-agency Adult Safeguarding Committee 

 LSAB Case Review Group 

 Multi-agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) 

 Multi-agency Risk Assessment Committee (MARAC) 

 Domestic Homicide Review Panel(s) 

 Prevent Channel Panel 

Working with another agency or agencies 

LCCG is a member of safeguarding committees at our main NHS providers; South London and 
Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust. At these meetings 
LCCG helps to formulate policy and processes. It scrutinises performance data, and compliance 
with agreed safeguarding procedures.  

Page 50

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 13 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Lewisham Homes Case Studies 

 

Case Study 1 

General needs tenancy, domestic violence concern 2016-17. 

A resident came to report that she was a victim of Domestic Abuse. When visiting the victim’s 
property her ex-partner was verbally abusive, assaulted and made threats to kill. 

The Police were called and the perpetrator was arrested and subsequently granted bail. 

Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) Officer Action 

Whilst working with the Police the ASB Officer ensured the tenant was taken to a place of safety 
immediately. Lewisham Homes worked with Lewisham Council to place the tenant and her 
children into temporary accommodation. The ASB Officer also referred the tenant to Athena for 
specialist support. 

The ASB Officer contacted the family Social Worker and attended the multi-agency Child 
Protection meeting. It was agreed that the children were to be placed on the Child Protection 
Register due to the level of assessed risk and because our tenant had the potential to reconcile 
with her ex-partner which she had done previously. 

The ASB Officer worked with Lewisham Council to initiate a reciprocal housing arrangement with 
the view to permanently re-house the tenant. For the safety of the victim and her family this would 
be outside of the borough. 

Case Study 2 

Sheltered tenancy, domestic violence and mental health concern 2016-2017 

A safeguarding referral was made as a result of a resident disclosing that her husband was 
abusive towards her and sometimes she felt like taking her own life. The resident did not want 
anyone else to know of the situation but the Independent Living Officer (ILO) had made it clear at 
the start of the conversation that depending on the nature of the conversation she may have a 
duty to report it to relevant parties. 

ILO action 

The ILO worked with the couple, Mental Health Team, Lewisham Homes Anti-Social Behaviour 
Team and Lewisham Adult Social Care to identify possible support. Although the victim refused 
any intervention, the perpetrator was willing to accept help. 

Following referral a further incident occurred where the perpetrator disclosed to the ILO he had 
assaulted the victim as he was stressed. The ILO reported the disclosure to the police who 
attended. The perpetrator was not charged with any offence. 

A follow up referral was made to Lewisham Adult Social Care and further discussions with the 
allocated Social Worker, ILO and residents took place. The perpetrator agreed to a GP referral to 

Page 51

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 14 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

discuss his anger issues. Regular visits from the ILO were put in place to support and encourage 
the couple to take part in activities within the scheme. 

Case Study 3 

Sheltered tenancy, possible hoarding concern 2016-2017. 

Following feedback from a warm homes visit that a resident had large stacks of papers and books 
in their flat and was possibly a safeguarding concern, the Independent Living Officer (ILO) visited 
the resident. The ILO agreed with the resident to make a referral to the community safety team for 
a home safety fire check. The ILO delayed making a Safeguarding referral, as the resident did not 
wish for a referral to be made. Previously the resident hadn’t engaged with professionals at all but 
through the ILO came around to the idea and allowed the Home Fire Safety check to go ahead. 
The visit took place and advice was given; annual checks were agreed.  

The resident now has regular visits from the ILO who monitors the safeguarding situation which 
negated the need to make the Safeguarding referral. 

 

 

  

Page 52

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 15 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Phoenix Community Housing - Making Safeguarding Personal Case Study 

 

Mr & Mrs A are elderly, have learning difficulties and cannot read or write. A year ago Mrs A fell 
and broke her hip and now has mobility issues. 

Mr P is a young person and neighbour to Mr & Mrs A. 

Ms P is the partner of Mr P. 

All are Phoenix residents. 

Stage 1: 

Mr & Mrs A attended an office appointment reporting that they were being harassed by Mr P and 
wanted help to stop it. 

Mr & Mrs A advised that one day when coming back from the shops they saw Mr P and he told 
them that they owed him £30. Mrs A said that she did not owe any money, Mr P then assaulted Mr 
& Mrs A, grabbed Mrs A’s purse and took a cash card. Mr P stated that Mr & Mrs A would get the 
card back when the money they allegedly owed is paid. 

The assault was witnessed by Ms P. Ms P took the cash card and withdrew £40 giving the cash to 
Mr P. Mr P stated that he would use this money to buy alcohol and feed his kids. 

Mr & Mrs A said that the incident had been reported to the police. When questioned by the police, 
Ms P advised that she had not had contact with Mr & Mrs A for a long time. 

Stage 2: 

Mr A went to the shops and bumped into Mr P. Mr P assaulted Mr A and again asked for money. 
Mr P followed Mr A home and stole jewellery from Mrs A and £40 in cash. Mr P said that he 
wanted £50 that day and £50 the following Monday. 

Stage 3: 

On receiving this report from Mr & Mrs A, Phoenix called the police to attend the office and raised 
concerns about the incidents and Mr & Mrs A’s vulnerability. 

Police advised that incidents had previously been reported but Mrs A did not want to pursue any 
action. 

Mr & Mrs A require assistance with shopping, cleaning and managing their finances. 

A referral to Lewisham Social Care Advice and Information Team (SCAIT) was made by the 
Housing Management Team and a Social Worker allocated. 

Taking into consideration the needs and wishes of Mr & Mrs A, a referral to Lewisham’s 
Emergency Re-housing Panel was also made and Mr & Mrs A were re-housed in sheltered 
accommodation away from the area. 

Page 53

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 16 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Following the report made to the police Mr P was arrested and remanded in custody. Mr P was 
subsequently convicted of robbery and burglary and sentenced to three years in prison. An 
injunction and possession order were sought by Phoenix and Mr P’s property was recovered. 

Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust - Case Studies 

 

Case Study 1 

Mrs X aged 75 years was admitted to University Hospital Lewisham (UHL) with gross constipation, 
abdominal pains and immobility. She had been discharged from UHL with a package of care in 
place and a plan to have a hospital bed in her home so that her care could be given safely. A letter 
was sent a week after her discharge by the Occupational Therapy (OT) team highlighting concerns 
that Mrs X’s husband did not agree for a hospital bed to be delivered and had tried to block 
delivery of this. The OT team highlighted that this would jeopardise Mrs X’s well-being. A letter of 
concern was sent to Mrs X’s GP and to Lewisham Adult Social Care who followed up the case by 
undertaking home visits to investigate the concerns. 

It appeared from reading the medical and multi-disciplinary notes and from further discussions with 
multi-agencies that Mr and Mrs X’s relationship had been under strain for many years and this was 
compounded by housing issues, lack of space, drug and alcohol abuse and Domestic Violence. 
Mrs X was formally assessed by the medical and safeguarding team as having mental capacity to 
make decisions about her discharge arrangements. The safeguarding team spent two sessions 
with Mrs X and she reported feeling better because she was being listened to and she was 
beginning to walk again using a Zimmer frame and get her strength back. Prior to her admission 
she had chronic constipation which is why she felt unable to stand or walk. She said her sofa was 
too low for her to get up from and that his led to her immobility as she ‘just lay there’ and her 
husband and family ignored her. Mrs X had a commode next to the sofa but was unable to get to it 
and became more unwell and despondent. Mrs X felt surrounded by mess and felt that her family 
had too many issues to support her in a positive way. 

Mrs X’s hair was very matted at the back of her head and she had not washed her hair for about a 
year as she could not manage this. The ward team supported Mrs X with her hair and appearance 
and this helped her to feel human again. She reported feeling better than she had done for years. 
Mrs X said that her husband and sons did not want her as she was a nuisance due to her health 
problems. There had been issues with the hospital bed being too large and taking up too much 
space in the family flat which was overcrowded and dirty. Mrs X reported that her husband said 
that she ‘should go to hospital if she wants a hospital bed’ and that she should stay there. She had 
felt very isolated, unwanted and alone. 

Mrs X was aware that she would need a hospital bed if she were to go home with a package of 
care in order to promote her mobility and well-being. However, Mrs X decided that she did not 
wish to go home at all and would prefer to be cared for elsewhere. 

Mrs X responded well to regular care input, meals, mobilising and support with personal care and 
medication. One morning the safeguarding team visited Mrs X and she was enjoying her breakfast 
which was a bowl of cornflakes and cup of tea and reported that she felt ‘cared about and cared 
for’. The medical team, social work staff, occupational therapists and safeguarding team worked 
together with Mrs X to find her the right placement and to receive the care she wanted. A referral 

Page 54

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 17 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

was also made to counselling services to support Mrs X as she wanted emotional support. Mrs X 
was able to work with the safeguarding team and multi-disciplinary team and to discuss options 
available to her. Mrs X started to benefit from this support and felt more empowered to make the 
decision that she did not wish to live with her husband or family and she wanted to be ‘cared for’. 
Mrs X moved into sheltered housing with extra-care and was able to access the care and support 
she needed and also engage in social activities which Mrs X reported made her happy which she 
had not felt for many years. Mrs X also accessed befriending support and made new friends which 
she was delighted with. 

Case Study 2 

On an elderly care ward the Adult Safeguarding Advisor was carrying out their duties. The Ward 
Manager asked for supervision and support regarding a patient. The patient (who had a diagnosis 
of dementia) had been assessed by the medical team and found not to have capacity to make a 
safe decision about her discharge destination. A best interests meeting had been held that 
morning to discuss discharge options. The patient had expressed to staff that she wanted to go 
home to her sheltered accommodation with support. 

The patient’s son who attended the meeting became very angry and stated his mother could not 
go back home as the heating ‘did not work’. The Ward Manager advised the hospital safeguarding 
team that the behaviour demonstrated by the patient’s son during the meeting intimidated the staff. 
A decision was not reached and the meeting was curtailed. 

Outside of the meeting, the Warden from the patient’s sheltered accommodation told ward staff 
that the patient’s son had been turning the heating off (the heating had been serviced 
professionally and was functioning perfectly). It was also disclosed that the patient’s son had 
access to the patient’s finances but there was no formal lasting power of attorney in place. The 
warden advised the patient often had no food, and did not have money to purchase essential 
supplies such as underwear. 

Adult Safeguarding advised the ward that they should raise a safeguarding alert and the Ward 
Manager actioned this advice swiftly. Formal consent was gained from the patient before the 
concern was shared. The patient said she would like to buy underwear and go back home. The 
patient told the ward manager that she was fond of her son and he was ‘all she had’ although ‘he 
got angry’. The referral was received electronically by the safeguarding team and was passed with 
a summary of concerns (highlighting the son’s attitude towards the Multi-Disciplinary Team) to the 
hospital social work team. The next day the Safeguarding Advisor discussed the case with the 
operational manager of the hospital social work team. It was decided a Section 42 enquiry would 
be initiated, a safeguarding adult manager and enquiry officer were appointed and a case 
conference was arranged. An application to the Court of Protection was also going to be 
considered at this stage. 

  

Page 55

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 18 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

4 
Quality Assurance and Organisational Learning 

The Board conducts annual audits on safeguarding practice in Lewisham. 

The following organisations completed the audit: 

 Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust 

 London Fire Brigade 

 NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group 

 London borough of Lewisham - Joint Commissioning 

 National Probation Trust 

 London Ambulance Service 

 South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM) 

Audit Result Highlights 

 SLaM holds a quarterly safeguarding adults committee which has strong representation 
from external stakeholders. 

 Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust’s Learning Disability Lead has produced short videos 
demonstrating how people with a learning disability can access services. 

 Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group will hold a Health Safeguarding Conference titled 
“Neglect” June 2017. 

 London Fire Brigade are active participants in Safeguarding Adult Reviews and have made 
significant contributions to those reviews where they can provide subject matter expertise 
(for example, following fire deaths). 

 London Ambulance Service produced a series of 4 bespoke Dementia Films for ambulance 
service staff. The films featured patients’ carers, experts and ambulance staff. The films 
were shared nationally with other UK Ambulance Trusts.  

Page 56

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 19 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

5 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews 

During 2016-2017 the Case Review Group has revised its terms of reference. Its membership has 
been clarified and strengthened; the group now includes senior staff representation from the three 
statutory partners (Local Authority, LCCG and Police), two NHS Trusts and a local authority 
solicitor. 

The group has sought reassurance that staff members in partner agencies know how to refer 
cases to the group for consideration as safeguarding adult reviews. The Safeguarding Adults 
Board website contains the forms that agencies should complete when making referrals to the 
group. 

The group has instituted a regular system of reporting on cases involving drug and alcohol related 
deaths. Quarterly reports will be received from Joint Commissioning (Addictions) and any 
significant issues requiring learning and service development will be taken to the Safeguarding 
Adults Board for discussion and action. 

The group has determined that quarterly learning and service development seminars should be 
held at which recommendations from safeguarding adult reviews will be shared, followed by 
consideration of the strengths and vulnerabilities of adult safeguarding policies, procedures and 
practices in Lewisham. Action plans can then be agreed to ensure that disseminated lessons from 
safeguarding adult reviews are learned and applied in the Lewisham context. 

The group has liaised with other Safeguarding Adults Boards in respect of two cases which 
ultimately did not require action by the Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board. 

The group now receives information relating to CQC inspections of service providers in Lewisham 
and will investigate any case where there are significant safeguarding concerns. 

During 2016-2017 the group has commissioned two safeguarding adult reviews, which are due for 
completion early in 2017-2018. Findings from these reviews will be disseminated and learning and 
development seminars held to raise awareness of principles of good practice that have been 
drawn from each case.  

Page 57

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 20 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Lewisham Case Review Group - Reviews in Progress 

Adult AA involves the death of an adult as a result of fire. 

Introduction 

Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) has determined that this death satisfies the Care 
Act 2014 (Section 44) statutory requirement for a Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR). The LSAB 
has decided that an overview model, which documents events and analyses their causes, is 
appropriate in the circumstances; thereby satisfying the statutory guidance that the approach 
taken to reviews should be proportionate according to the scale and level of complexity of the 
issues being examined. 

Scope of the SAR 

An independent overview author has been appointed to: 

 Document and examine the events leading up to the fire; 

 Review the original reasons for and suitability of Adult AA’s placement and the 
outcomes of subsequent placement reviews; 

 Review care plans, mental capacity assessments, physical ability assessments, and 
risk assessments relating to Adult AA; 

 Examine the standards of practice within the care home; 

 Consider whether these comply with national standards and/or local policies, 
procedures and guidance, with particular attention given to care planning and risk 
assessment as well as smoking; 

 Evaluate whether these meet statutory and/or regulatory requirements and guidance 
(e.g. Health & Safety, Fire Safety, the Mental Capacity Act, and National Patient 
Safety Alerts etc.). 

Methodology 

The independent overview author will work with a panel of the SAB to: 

 Prepare a composite headline chronology; 

 Consider the review and learning of individual agencies since the incident and focus on 
good practice, identify aspects for further improvement and areas where multi-agency 
action is required; 

 Undertake an analysis of causes and remedial actions recommended within management 
reports for professionals, individual agencies and across the multi-agency safeguarding 
system; 

 The SAR investigation will seek to avoid duplicating the work of investigations by other 
authorities (H.M. Coroner, London Fire Brigade, Metropolitan Police Service and Care 
Quality Commission) but rather draw on these for information and advice as well as 
providing an opportunity to collate the findings of them all and explore any gaps.  

Page 58

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 21 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

In terms of specific methodology the independent over view report has been asked to: 

 Utilise where beneficial the NHS Root Cause Analysis (RCA) Tool as the model is tried and 
tested in healthcare. It has features which assist in identifying multiple causes and/or 
contributory factors, focusing on those with the greatest potential to cause (and therefore 
prevent) future incidents. 

It is expected that the SAR will: 

 Identify and summarise relevant data (e.g. documents, interviews, records, logs etc.). 

 Invite individual agencies to undertake their own analysis and then be in a position to 
consider these in the round. 

 Describe the chronology of events. 

 Carry out an overview analysis to identify contributory factors (here it may be possible to 
utilise the National Patient Safety Agency Contributory Factor Classification Framework). 

 Order contributory factors by importance/impact. 

 Identify policy, procedure and practices that may require improvement and recommend how 
and who needs to act and with what urgency. 

The approach and methodology are intended to identify themes, solutions and achievable 
recommendations which could prevent similar occurrences and facilitate learning both specific to 
the incident and more broadly from the later life and subsequent death of Adult AA.  

Page 59

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 22 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Adult BB involves another death as a result of fire. 

Terms of Reference & Proposed Methodology 

The approach taken in this SAR is based on systems analysis as this allows for both a detailed 
examination based on the chronology and can consider direct service delivery actions, decision 
making, and adherence to good practice, legal requirements and relevant policy. 

In addition, and in light of Adult BB’s involvement with mental health services, consideration of any 
contributory factors (root cause analysis) will be considered. 

This methodology would allow for key learning to be identified and recommendations regarding 
policy and/or practice to be highlighted. 

Terms of Reference and Areas of Enquiry 

Consider in detail key events to identify the actions and decision making of all 
professionals/agencies that were involved in those events, and to consider any outcomes having 
regard to: 

 Were there any delays in decision making and were these a potential factor in the key 
incident. 

 Given the information available, was the decision not to conduct a MH Assessment on one 
specific evening reasonable? Was a full risk assessment carried out? 

 Did the referral of Adult BB to another London Borough (rather than London Borough of 
Lewisham) have any impact on decision making? 

 Were there any undue delays in the referral from Emergency Duty Triage services to 
normal hours’ services? 

 Take into account any findings from the IPCC report when published. 

 Consideration of relevant legislation (Mental Health Act (MHA) and Mental Capacity Act 
(MCA) or Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). 

 Safeguarding guidance (both London wide and for individual agencies). 

 Any other relevant policy or practice guidelines for individual agencies and any national 
advice or guidance. 

 Was Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) considered at any point? 

 Review and outline the previous history of Adult BB and his involvement with mental health 
services or other health, social care or community services to establish whether or not there 
are any links with the key events that have prompted this review. 

 Specifically consider the mental health review that was conducted by the GP. 

 Attempt to contact with Adult BB’s relatives regarding the SAR and, as far as possible, to 
gain their engagement. 

The context of the above is to ensure that the key principle of the SAR is to promote effective 
learning and improvement action to prevent future deaths or serious harm occurring again.  

Page 60

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 23 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

6 
Resources and Funding 2016-2017 

The Board employs an Independent Chair; the Chair is employed on a part-time basis. The Board 
also employs a full time business team consisting of: Business Manager, Development Officer and 
Administrator. The core funding for the partnership is provided by the Board’s statutory partners; 
Lewisham Council, Metropolitan Police Service, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust & South London and Maudsley NHS Trust. Additionally, 
London Fire Brigade makes a voluntary contribution. 

LSAB Budget 2016-2017 

 2016 – 17 Annual 
Budget 

2016 – 17 
Variance 

Employee Costs   

Salaries 152, 460 -152,460 

Staff Development and 
Training 

0 445 

Expenditure   

Advertising, Publicity and 
Marketing 

10,000 -10,000 

Professional Services 82,600 -82,465 

ICT Hardware 0 944 

ICT Software 0 2,824 

Supplies and Service 
Recharge 

0 59 

Private Contractors 0 5,009 

Total Expenditure 245,060 -87,638 

Total Income 94,880 1,500 

Total Net Expenditure 150,180 -86,138 

 Underspend 69,772 

  

Page 61

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 24 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

  

Page 62

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 25 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

7 
What we will do in 2017-2018 

The agreed Board priorities for 2015-2016 will be continued during 2016-17 as set out in the 

LSAB Strategic Plan 2015-2018. 

Priority 1: Promote partnership working; 

Priority 2: Prevention of abuse through training, awareness raising & information 

sharing; 

Priority 3: Promote positive practice: Making Safeguarding Personal; 

Priority 4: Safeguarding Board development. 

Promote partnership working 

 Continue to develop and promote partnership working between the Board and community 
groups. 

Prevention of abuse through training, awareness raising and information sharing 

 Continue to raise awareness of adult safeguarding. 
 Raise awareness of Information Sharing relating to safeguarding. 
 Commission Masterclasses on Making Safeguarding Personal, Self-neglect, Mental 

Capacity Assessments and Information-sharing. 
 Conduct a workforce training needs analysis to inform future commissioning of training. 

Promote positive practice: Making Safeguarding Personal 

 Hold a Safeguarding Adults Conference, to promote the role of the Safeguarding Adults 
Board; provide best practice workshops for professionals and provide local networking 
opportunities. 

 Exploration of a local safeguarding protocol covering the health provision. 
 Recognise the number of Serious Incidents investigated by health services. Identify lessons 

learned which can be applied across a range of settings. 

Safeguarding Board development 

 Review the role and operation of the Board and its sub-groups. 
 Review the policy and procedure needs for the Board, ensuring that Board requirements 

are appropriately separated from other operational needs. 
 Facilitate a Development Day for Board members. 
 Establish task and finish groups on performance management, training and any other 

issues identified.  

Page 63

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 26 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

8 
Performance Report 2016-2017 

London Borough of Lewisham Safeguarding Data 2016-17 

The Council collects information about safeguarding adults work in Lewisham, so they are more 
able to know how well people are being safeguarded. The information helps the LSAB to agree 
future plans. Lewisham council submits the Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC) data to the 
Department of Health for collation and comparison. The following data and commentary are 
extracts from this data. 

Concerns and Enquiries 

In 2015-16 Concerns and Enquiries were grouped together in the first year of the new 
Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC). The combined number of people that Concerns and 
Enquires were raised for in 2015-2016 was 436. 

In 2016-17 reporting requirements changed and Concerns and Enquiries were separated. During 
the year 2016-17 Lewisham received 706 Concerns and Enquires on residents of Lewisham. Of 
the 706, 183 progressed to Section 42 statutory Safeguarding Enquiries and 20 non statutory 
enquires were completed. 

The growing numbers of people who have Concerns raised reflects the increased knowledge and 
awareness of Adult Safeguarding, combined with an increased number being raised in relation to 
Self-Neglect, that did not progress through to a Section 42, but were dealt with via the normal 
Care Management route. 

It is recognised by Safeguarding leads that the conversion rate is lower than would be expected. 
An audit of the activity was completed. The audit identified that a higher level of Section 42 
enquiries should have been recorded. The audit confirmed that the actions carried out ensured 
safety and wellbeing for the person was achieved. 

During 2016-17 the council saw no significant variance from 2015-2016 in relation to Gender, Age 
or Ethnicity profiles. 

In 2017-18 further training will be undertaken by all staff regarding thresholds and defining the 
point at which a Section 42 is initiated. Enquiry. Regular Data Quality and Assurance processes 
will be further implemented together with the introduction of a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH), which will lead to a more consistent approach with regards to what action is to be taken 
following receipt of a concern.  

Page 64

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 27 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Abuse Type 

The chart below shows the most common types of abuse recorded by people experiencing a 
Section 42 enquiry. 

 

 

Neglect, Physical and Financial types of abuse continue to be the top 3 reasons leading to Section 
42 Enquiries. The council has seen a significant decrease in enquires relating to organisational 
abuse. This is due to the success of multi-agency working which has focused on early 
identification and quality assurance of practice and standards of care at an early stage so as to 
prevent these issues becoming a safeguarding concern. 

Abuse Location 

Abuse can happen anywhere; for example in someone’s own home, in a public place, in hospital, 
or in a care home. The chart below shows the number of recorded location types. 

 

Risk at home is still our main common location for Section 42 Enquires, followed by Residential 
and Nursing homes. 

56

12

32
367

5

70

No. of Abuse Types Recorded

Physical Sexual Psychological or Emotional Financial ad Material Abuse

Discriminatory Abuse Organisational Neglect and Acts of Omission

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

Own Home

In the Community (excluding community Services)

In the Community Service

Care Homes - Nursing

Care Home - Residential

Hospital Acute

Hospital Mental Health

Hospital Community

Other

No. of Location Types Recorded

Page 65

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 28 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

People living at home are still more likely to encounter risks from family and friends and known 
individuals as opposed to Service Providers. A more detailed analysis of this will inform the focus 
of work for the safeguarding partnership in 2017-18. 

In Residential and Nursing homes we have seen a 13% decrease in the number of Section 42 
enquiries in comparison with the previous year. We have continued to work closely with care home 
providers to ensure that quality and standards of care are improved in partnership with Lewisham 
CCG and CQC. Regular providers meetings are held and a Safeguarding Nurse Advisor is now in 
place to support both Care Homes and Personal Care Providers in relation to clinical issues and 
the promotion of good practice. 

There has also been a decrease in the number of Section 42’s in relation to Hospital Settings 
compared to the data from the previous year (14%). The decrease is in part due to the 
development of Pressure Ulcer panels that monitor and investigate these types of concerns to 
ensure that a proportionate level of enquiry is provided for those cases that, in the past, would 
have progressed to a Section 42 enquiry unnecessarily. 

The data suggests that during the year there were no Section 42 enquiries identified as taking 
place in the community (i.e. Street, Shops, Parks, etc.). However, there are 17 recorded in the 
category as other. Additionally, the data would also suggest that there were no Section 42 
enquiries in Mental Health Hospital settings. 

Further analysis of the data has identified these as recording errors which will be addressed in 
2017-18 as part of the on-going Safeguarding Training and agreements with South London and 
Maudsley NHS Trust, regarding performance management reporting. 

A priority for 2017-18 is to develop refined reports that will provide a greater level of intelligence 
and understanding of the data. This will allow for easy identification of safeguarding trends and 
improve our oversight of the quality of practice and recording. 

Safeguarding outcomes 

All safeguarding Concerns and Enquiries have resulted in the person at risk of abuse or neglect 
being helped to stay safe from harm. 

The council has implemented the ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ approach to practice. This is to 
ensure the person at risk is the focus of any safeguarding work. The outcomes they wish to 
achieve as a result of the safeguarding work is determined by them or with support from an 
advocate. 

During 2017-18 reports will be developed to enable us to monitor if ‘Making Safeguarding 
Personal’ outcomes are being met.  

Page 66

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 29 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

9 
Statements from our Partners 

London Borough of Lewisham - Adult Social Care 

 

Adult Safeguarding Priorities 2016-17 

 On-going implementation of the London Multi-Agency Adult Safeguarding Policy & 
Procedures, launching and embedding Lewisham Practitioners Protocol. 

 Redesign of safeguarding pathway and workflow processes in line with the Care Act 
2014 and the London Multi-Agency Adult Safeguarding Policy & Procedures. 

 All staff to receive training with focus on identifying and recording individual’s 
identified outcomes or wishes. 

 Embedding the principles of Making Safeguarding Personal across all adult services. 

 Development of a Community Pressure Ulcer Panel in partnership with Lewisham 
Clinical Commissioning Group and Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust to oversee 
and review all pressure ulcer investigations, and identify those cases involving 
potential neglect which would require a Section 42 safeguarding enquiry. 

 In partnership with the Royal Borough of Greenwich, REED and Training Provider, 
review safeguarding training requirements. Commission additional training for 
Safeguarding Enquiry Officers and Safeguarding Adult Managers (SAMs). 

 Review working functions between SCAIT and Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH). 

Adult Safeguarding Achievements 2016-2017 

The summary below highlights some of the work that has been undertaken during 2016-2017. 

 Lewisham Safeguarding Practitioners Protocol was developed to reflect the London Multi-
Agency Safeguarding Policy and Procedures; 

Page 67

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 30 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

 Incorporated Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) into the safeguarding process and 
protocols to ensure the person at risk is at the centre of practice, enabling them to decide 
what outcome they want to achieve from the safeguarding process; 

 Introduced a new Safeguarding Module in Lewisham Adult Case Management System 
(LAS) to ensure compliance with the Care Act 2014 and the London Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Policy and Procedures. In particular, to ensure that the desired outcomes of 
the adult at the centre of the safeguarding enquiry could be captured and reported. A 
questionnaire to evaluate the effectiveness of the safeguarding intervention also forms part 
of the module. All staff received training on the implementation of the module. 

 During 2016-2017 the majority Adult Social Care staff responsible for acting as Enquiry 
Officer or Safeguarding Adult Manager (SAM) received training. Further training is planned 
for 2017-2018; 

 The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) team received additional resources in order 
to manage the continued increase in referrals as a result of changes to legislation in 2014. 
A 51% increase was seen in the number of applications under the safeguards in 2016-2017 
compared to 2015-2016. Despite this, there is no waiting list for assessments and the vast 
majority of authorisations were completed within statutory timescales; 

 Additional resources were also provided to fund a small team to begin the process of taking 
Community DoLS to the Court of Protection to ensure that any deprivation in settings other 
than care homes or hospitals were appropriately authorised; 

 Reviewed working functions between the Social Care Advice and Information Team 
(SCAIT) and the Children’s MASH Hub. Work commenced on the development of an adult 
MASH and proposals will be implemented in 2017-2018; 

 All staff involved in the safeguarding process receive regular supervision to ensure that 
standards are maintained and we continue to learn and improve practice; 

 Developed the Community Pressure Ulcer Panel in partnership with Lewisham & 
Greenwich NHS Trust & Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group; 

 In November 2016 we had positive feedback from a Peer Challenge that focused on the 
following areas of our Safeguarding work: The Safeguarding Adults Board, the 
management of DoLs and the interface with the provider market and other partners to 
ensure that quality assurance issues are managed effectively. 

Adult Safeguarding Plans 2017-2018 

The information below presents the safeguarding plans for Lewisham Adult Social Care in 2017-
2018. 

 Continue to focus on the quality of safeguarding work, this will include independent 

audits of practice, ensuring lessons learnt are embedded; 

 Continue to support the Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board in future 

developments; 

 Further embed Making Safeguarding Personal and review how we use the 

intelligence from the feedback mechanism; 

Page 68

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 31 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

 Further develop a quality assurance framework by improving the analysis of 

qualitative and quantitative data to support and shape the continual development of 

staff competencies and local policies; 

 Continue to implement the recommendations from the Peer Challenge and internal 

audit recommendations; 

 Further refinement of our safeguarding pathways to include referrals from mental 

health as part of the proposals to develop an Adult MASH; 

 Work with partner agencies to increase awareness of Human Trafficking and Modern 

Slavery and contribute to the development of local protocols. Training will be rolled 

out across Lewisham by staff who have received specific train-the-trainers training; 

 Focus on reducing risks of safeguarding for people living in their own home. 

 

  

Page 69

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 32 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

10 
NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

Adult Safeguarding Priorities for 2016-2017 

Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group’s (LCCG) main adult safeguarding priorities for 2016/17 
were: 

 Update & publish the Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG’s) Safeguarding in 
Commissioning Policies. 

 Strengthen adult safeguarding support for Primary Care in Lewisham including 
completing a training needs analysis and continued support to improve the 
identification and referral of women at risk of domestic violence. 

 Review how the CCG receives assurance of provider adult safeguarding 
performance, issues and compliance. 

 Review and write up the lessons learned from the Care + Partnership failure. 

 Continue to drive a reduction in pressure ulcers acquired in care homes. 

 Develop a health safeguarding conference programme for health and social care 
professionals working across Lewisham. 

Main Adult Safeguarding Achievements 2016-2017 

 The CCG carried out a major review of its key Safeguarding in Commissioning Policy for 
children and adult safeguarding.  The rewrite brought the policy up to date with the Care Act 
(2014) and new London Procedures for Adult Safeguarding. 

 During the year the CCG completed a training needs analysis for General Practice adult 
safeguarding. The needs analysis included links to training resources and was agreed by 
the Lewisham Medical Committee and the CCG Membership Forum. 

 The CCG has provided leadership and clinical support to the Identify and Refer for 
Improved Safety (IRIS) project in primary care which aims to support primary care 
colleagues to identify women at risk of domestic violence and to increase referrals from 
primary care to specialist domestic violence advocacy and support. 

 A new process for seeking assurance from healthcare providers was agreed with the 
CCG’s Integrated Governance Committee and a new Health Safeguarding Operational 

Page 70

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 33 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Group (HSOG) was established. The HSOG will seek documentary evidence of compliance 
with children and adult safeguarding procedures using agreed reporting tools. 

 Following the safeguarding and quality failures and eventual closure of the services 
provided by the Care Plus Partnership in Lewisham the CCG led a learning event to identify 
lessons for across the health economy. The learning event attracted representatives from 
some 16 commissioners including CCGs across London and NHS England. The Care 
Quality Commission and representatives from Adult Social Care took part in the review 
which was facilitated and written up by an independent expert. The report identified 25 
lessons divided into three domains: 

 Preventative Activity: Commissioning Services for People with Neuro-behavioural 
needs and Acquired Brain Injury. 

 Proactive Activity: Monitoring the Quality of Care: Identifying and responding to early 
signs of poor care. 

 Responsive Activity: Managing Organisational Failures and Abuse. 

The Learning Review has been widely circulated and published on the CCG’s website. 

 LCCG has led processes to continue to reduce the incidence of pressure ulcers acquired in 
residential care homes by leading the Community Pressure Ulcer Panel and supporting 
care homes with the analysis of causes of new pressure ulcers, the provision of guidance 
and support to prevent pressure ulcers and for best practice in pressure ulcer management. 
A reduction in the incidence of community acquired pressure ulcers has been seen but it is 
too early to say if this reduction can be sustained. 

 LCCG established a programme of health safeguarding conferences to improve knowledge 
and share best practice in adult and children safeguarding issues across the health 
economy. The first of the conferences was held in 2017 and discussed best practice for 
health in domestic violence. Some 60 professionals from health and social care attended 
the event provoking a lively and informed discussion. 

Adult Safeguarding Plans for 2017-2018 

Key plans for Adult Safeguarding in 2017-2018 include: 

 Establish sound safeguarding supervision arrangements for the Adult Safeguarding 
Team; 

 Embed the role of the new Safeguarding Nurse Advisor in the work of the team; 

 Develop a Safeguarding Dashboard and share appropriate data with Lewisham 
Safeguarding Adults Board; 

 Organise three Health Safeguarding Conferences in the year to promote 
safeguarding best practice in health across the Borough; 

 Update the Adult Safeguarding pages on the CCG’s website to provide a resource 
suitable for the public, CCG employees and members; 

 Ensure that health plays a leading role in the Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board; 

 Continue to lead the Community Pressure Ulcer Panel to achieve improved care and 
continued reduction in the number of community acquired pressure ulcers; 

Page 71

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 34 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

 Support the development of the Local Authority’s Multiagency Quality Assurance 
and Information Group (MAQUAIG) so that the CCG plays its part in ensuring that 
safeguarding intelligence is shared with multi-agencies effectively; 

 Develop an action plan for ensuring that the CCG fulfils its role in relation to Female 
Genital Mutilation; 

 Continue to support the Lewisham Violence against Women and Girl’s Strategy 
specifically through leadership of the Identification and Referral to Improve Safety 
(IRIS) Project. 

 

  

Page 72

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 35 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

11 
Metropolitan Police Service – Lewisham 

 

The role of the police in adult safeguarding 

The Care Act 2014 reinforced the fact that the police play a critical role in safeguarding adults. 
Since then a growth in demand on police services from domestic abuse, sexual offences, child 
protection, mental health and hate crime has led to review of how we best protect vulnerable 
people. 

In 2017-2018 the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) are putting in place a safeguarding 
framework and Board, developing better insight on safeguarding. There is now a lead for 
safeguarding at Management Board and a new Commander Safeguarding post which brings all 
these areas together. 

Commander Richard Smith is the Adult Safeguarding Lead for the MPS. He has introduced a 
working group consisting of staff from across the MPS to implement best practice. This group is 
currently working on revising the pan London procedure for dealing with adult safeguarding issues 
and also developing a template for information sharing agreement to ensure information sharing 
between agencies is as swift and straight forward as possible. It is likely that the issue of 
safeguarding vulnerable people is going to be split into 12 specific work streams to allow there to 
be clarity of roles and a dedicated strand lead, practitioners and subject matter experts in each 
area. 

The proposed work streams are: 

 Vulnerable adults, (including elder abuse and abuse of disabled people); 

 Mental health, drug and alcohol dependency & suicide prevention; 

 Missing people; 

 Harmful traditional practices; 

 Domestic abuse; 

 Stalking & harassment; 

 Child sexual exploitation and abuse; 

 Modern slavery & Human Trafficking; 

 Gang exploitation / child criminal exploitation & youth offending; 

Page 73

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 36 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

 Rape and serious sexual offences; 

 Child protection; 

 Staff engagement: (a) wellbeing & morale, (b) making safeguarding everybody’s 
business. 

A change over the next year to a Basic Command Unit (BCU) model of policing will change how 
police approach the protection of vulnerable people and increase the police’s capability with more 
officers dedicated to prevention. This structure aims to improve problem solving, early intervention, 
appropriate referrals and the targeting of the highest harm offenders. 

Police will continue to respond to identified risks around a lack of coordination internally and 
externally with partner agencies. We will provide a single point of referral for victims into police 
services for investigation Domestic Abuse, Child abuse and Sexual Offences. The MPS will 
promote professional and problem solving as core responsibility of every officer meaning they will 
look for potential safeguarding issues when attending seemingly unrelated matters e.g. report of a 
burglary. 

The last 12 months has seen considerable progress made in relation to Adult Safeguarding within 
the Metropolitan Police. The appointment of a new Mayor and new Commissioner has led to a 
move away from a focus on traditional acquisitive crime types and a greater emphasis on 
Safeguarding Vulnerable people. 

The MOPAC police crime plan gives the priorities as: 

 Violence Against Women and Girls, 

 Keeping children and young people safe; and 

 Hate Crime and intolerance. 

Locally, within Lewisham, the Adult Safeguarding lead remains as Detective Superintendent Tara 
McGovern and DCI Martin Stables who are both passionate and experienced in this area. DCI 
Stables attends the central working group. There have been a number of safeguarding 
investigations where Police and Adult Social Care have worked closely together to protect 
vulnerable people in Lewisham. Work is on-going to try to improve communication and 
relationships between safeguarding teams in Lewisham with the possibility of an adult Multi-
Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) being created. 

It is believed that 40% of police work has a mental health element to it. Lewisham Police are 
working closely with South London and Maudsley NHS Trust to improve response to those in 
mental health crisis. A Mental Health Tool Kit is being developed to provide information and 
guidance to front line officers on how best to deal with Mental Health issues.  

Page 74

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 37 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

12 
Healthwatch - Lewisham 

 

Our role, as the independent champion for people who use local health and social care services, is 
to ensure that local people are at the heart of services provided. We actively seek the views from 
all sections of our community to find out what is going well, what needs to be improved, and 
incorporate them into our priorities. 

We also ensure that individuals are given the opportunity to get involved and help shape the 
services of the future through a range of engagement activities. 

Healthwatch is a statutory member of Lewisham Adult Safeguarding Board and this enables us to 
inject issues raised by local people into how safeguarding is developed. 

Adult Safeguarding achievements 2016-2017 

 Ensured that our Board, staff and volunteers are trained to understand and follow up any 
safeguarding concerns identified by us or raised with us in our work. 

 Supported awareness raising of safeguarding issues amongst our communities as part of 
our on-going engagement activities. 

 Reviewed and updated our Safeguarding Adults at Risk Policy. 
 Participated in Lewisham’s Peer Review of Adult Social Care Services – with a focus on 

Safeguarding. 

Adult Safeguarding plans for 2017-2018 

 Continue to be represented on the Board and contribute to Board business. 

 Contribute as a member of the Safeguarding Audit Assessment Review Panel. 

 Survey experience of users of domiciliary care and report findings to the Board. 

 Support awareness raising and provide feedback to community partners and 
communities as part of other engagement activities.  

Page 75

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 38 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

13 
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust 

 

South London and Maudsley (SLaM) services in Lewisham work with individuals and their families 
in ensuring any safeguarding concerns identified are reported and responded to in line with 
Section 42 Care Act requirements and best practice. 

This includes: 

 Identifying client centred outcomes adhering to the Making Safeguarding Personal Agenda.  
 SLaM works with groups in the Lewisham such as Voiceability. 
 SLaM works in partnership with Lewisham Adult Social Care providing integrated 

community mental health services across the borough. 

SLaM Summary: 
The Trust’s key objectives of providing high quality clinical care and treatment, delivered 
sensitively, consistently and based on evidence that works, are all highly supportive of our duty to 
ensure that people who use Trust services are safeguarding from abuse, neglect and improper 
treatment (Regulated Activities 2014: Fundamental Standard 13). 

Since the Care Act created a statutory footing for adult safeguarding and the NHS became subject 
to the legal Prevent and Channel duties in July 2015, SLaM has continued to develop and improve 
processes and practice to meet these requirements throughout 2016-2017. 

Key Priorities 2016-2017 

1. Activity Monitoring 
 Improve Safeguarding collection. 
 Utilise Electronic Patient Journey Templates to create improved reporting on 

safeguarding concerns and outcomes. 
 Audit Safeguarding activity variation across services to identify emerging themes and 

trends. 

This priority has been completed. 

2. Incidents and Allegations 
a. Offer bespoke safeguarding training to ensure safe recruitment and managing 

safeguarding concerns involving employees, contractors and volunteers. 

Page 76

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 39 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

b. Streamline interfaces between NHS Serious Incident Investigations and Section 42 Care 
Act enquiries. 

Part a. This priority has been completed. 
Part b. An interface process between NHS Serious Investigations and Section 42 Care Act 
enquiries has been agreed with London Borough of Lewisham and Lewisham Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 

3. Review Safeguarding infrastructure 
 Review infrastructure within the Trust. 
 Identify lead for clinical Academic Groups with safeguarding expertise. 
 Identify resources to support Borough level safeguarding work. 

This action has been completed. Recommendations will be made at the end of Quarter 1 of 
2017-2018. 

4. Review Safeguarding Training Offer 
 Identify staff who are required to undertake Level 3 Safeguarding training due to 

guidance changes. 
 Submit a proposal to create a safeguarding trainer post. 

Completion of this action has been delayed until the publication of the NHS England 
Safeguarding Adults: Roles and Competencies for Health Care Staff. Initial meetings have 
been held between the Safeguarding lead for the Trust and the Education and Development 
department. 

5. Bethlem Royal Hospital and London Borough of Bromley application of Care Act 
duties agreement 

 Agree application of Care Act duties at Bethlem Royal Hospital. 

This priority is in progress. 

Key Priorities for 2017-2018 

 Increase the dedicated Safeguarding Adults infrastructure across the Trust so that it 

has the capacity and resources required to meet aligned partners and NHS England 

expectations and ensure that people who use Trust services are safeguarded. 

 Embed quarterly PREVENT reporting in line with NHS England requirements. 

 Support the introduction of the Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) 

programme. Identify Trust lead for LeDeR Programme. 

 Analyse the results of the 2017 Trust wide Safeguarding Adults audits to identify 

areas that require focus and quality improvement. 

 Agree a standardised set of safeguarding adults Quality Indicators with the 4 

borough Clinical Commissioning Group’s, in line with contracting requirements.  

Page 77

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 40 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

14 
London Borough of Lewisham - Safer Lewisham Partnership 

 

Lewisham’s Sustainable Communities Strategy 2008-20 set the Local Strategic Partnership a goal 
of making Lewisham the best place in London to live, work and learn. Delivering on this depends 
on our success in creating a climate where ‘people feel safe and live free from crime, anti-social 
behaviour and abuse’. 

Through effective partnership working and effective engagement with communities the Safer 
Lewisham Partnership works to bring about a consistent reduction in the number of victim based 
offences, and to improve the quality of life of its residents. To do this successfully we aim to deliver 
a strategy which is strategically relevant, robustly delivered and responsive to the needs of local 
communities. 

Adult Safeguarding Priorities 2016-2017 
The Safer Lewisham Partnership set the following 4 priorities in March 2016: 

 Peer on peer abuse–under 25 year olds in relation to serious youth and group 
violence with particular focus on knife enabled crime, child sexual exploitation and 
domestic abuse. 

 All strands of violence against women and girls with particular focus on Domestic 
abuse, sexual abuse, and FGM. This includes male victims within the defined strands 
of human trafficking, sexual violence, prostitution, domestic violence, stalking, 
forced marriage, ‘honour’-based violence and female genital mutilation (FGM). 

 Focus on work in relation to identified geographical hotspots, premises and people 
of interest and using regulatory and enforcement provisions across the partnership 
and community as appropriate. This includes business crime and community safety 
related issues that impact on local residents. This links with work under the strands 
of Organised Crime including drugs as a driver for violence, firearms, human 
trafficking, Child Sexual Exploitation, Economic crime and cybercrime. 

 Better understand, respond, monitor and reach out to specified groups in relation to 
a multi-agency approach to hate crime.  

Page 78

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 41 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Priority 1 - Peer on peer abuse 

 Partnership enforcement and environmental operation - Proactive partnership approach to 
tackling an increase in street robberies in a geographical location which contributed towards 
approximately 60% of the net increase in robbery as a whole. 

 Community Trauma Work - Work is being developed between statutory partner agencies 
and community groups to consider a community led approach to tackling serious youth 
violence. This work will start to tackle the issues of community trauma, lack of trust in 
organisations and build a ‘trusted adult’ model within the community. 

Priority 2 - Violence against women and girls 

 Positive Women’s Conference - Women from the Muslim community wanted to raise 
awareness of domestic violence and provide information on how women specifically can 
stay safe and receive help and support if they are suffering from such abuse. The 
conference explored what services were available to women seeking support with domestic 
abuse and or sexual violence and how to access these safely. 

Priority 3 - Identified geographical hotspots, premises and people of interest - Organised 
Crime 

 Banking Protocol - The Lewisham Crime, Enforcement & Regulation Service have been 
heavily involved with the MPS Falcon and Sterling Teams from Serious and Organized 
Crime Specialist Crime Directorate 7and London Trading Standards in preparing a more 
holistic response to organised rogue traders and other scammers and fraudsters by local 
police and local authority law enforcers. The initiative also enhances the response by 
banks, building societies and other financial service providers, to suspicious activity, 
encouraging the rapid call to police (and local authority where such protocols exist), the 
securing of evidence such as CCTV, physical evidence e.g. documents with potential 
forensic opportunities, vehicle registration marks and description.  Also to raise staff’s 
awareness of what may be suspicious activity such as unusual or large amounts being 
withdrawn, or apparently vulnerable customers being accompanied by ‘strangers’. 

Priority 4 - Hate crime 

 Hate Crime Third Party Reporting Site - Lewisham’s network has been revisited, re-
established and the reporting sites are currently being retrained to receive and deal with 
reports from the community Lewisham’s Third Party Reporting scheme aims to deliver a 
coordinated response to hate crime by bringing together key agencies to work in 
partnership to ensure victims and witnesses have access to support and protection, and 
offenders are brought to justice which will help create a safer and more cohesive 
community. 

 Launch of Hate Crime App - Safer Lewisham Partners are working to use new and 
innovative initiatives to enable victims to report hate crime. In 2016 Lewisham championed 
the MOPAC-supported hate crime reporting smart phone application ‘Self-Evident.’ 

2017-2018 Priorities 

The Borough partners and residents have identified the following as being essential for our 
collective approach: 

Page 79

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 42 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

 Reduction in harm and vulnerability being critical as part of an overall prevention, 
intervention and enforcement strategy. 

 Clear focus on reducing violence in all its forms. 

 Focusing on redesigning and delivering services that supports and provides a victim 
centric approach.  Seeking to ensure that all contact and outcomes by all agencies 
puts victims at the forefront. Reducing fear, harm and re-victimisation is critical. 

 Considering contextual analysis and location risks. 

 Improving confidence and satisfaction in police, local authorities and public 
services. 

The Partnership will continue to deliver and focus on Police and Crime Commissioners identified 
areas within the Police and Crime Plan 2017-2021 which include: 

 A better police service 

 A Criminal Justice System for London 

 Keeping children and young people safe 

 Violence Against Women and Girls 

 Hate crime and counter terrorism 

 

  

Page 80

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 43 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

15 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 

 

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust provides services for local people in Lewisham, Greenwich, 
Bexley and other parts of South East London. We are responsible for services at: 

 University Hospital Lewisham 

 Queen Elizabeth Hospital in Greenwich 

 Community Health Centres, Lewisham 

 Some services at Queen Mary’s Hospital, Sidcup 

Organisational structure 

The Trust Board is responsible for overseeing the work of the Trust and there are a number of 
sub-committees which report to the Board. There is an adult safeguarding committee which is 
chaired by a non-executive Director. 

The Trust has the following clinical divisions: 

 Acute and Emergency Medicine 

 Children’s and Young People 

 Long Term Conditions and Cancer 

 Surgery 

 Women’s and Sexual Health 

 Pathology 

Our Board 

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust is run by a Trust Board that consists of full-time executive 
directors and a part time non-executive chair and directors.  

Page 81

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 44 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

The role of the Trust Board is to manage the Trust by: 

 Setting our overall strategic direction within the context of NHS priorities 

 Ensuring we provide high quality, effective and patient focused services through 

clinical governance 

 Regularly monitoring our performance against objectives 

 Providing financial stewardship through value for money, financial control and 

financial planning 

 Ensuring high standards of corporate governance, personal conduct and compliance 

with statutory duties 

 Promoting effective dialogue with the local communities we serve 

Adult Safeguarding 

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust recognise that safeguarding adults at risk is everybody's 
business. 

In order to demonstrate its commitment to ensuring safeguarding adults as a key priority, the Trust 
has put in place a number of safeguarding adults arrangements which includes reviewing its 
safeguarding adults policy and procedures in line with the Care Act 2014 and the London Multi-
Agency Safeguarding Policy and Procedures in April 2016. 

Safeguarding Adults Team 

 Ensures high-quality care is provided to prevent safeguarding issues 

 Provides an effective response where harm or abuse does occur 

 Provides training on safeguarding for clinical and non-clinical staff 

 Works with other agencies such as social services and the police to promote patient 

safety 

 Provides advice and support on matters concerning adults at risk, including patients 

with learning disabilities and victims of domestic violence and abuse  

Page 82

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 45 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

16 
LSAB Business Team contact details 

Got a question for us? Want more information on Safeguarding Adults partnership work in 
Lewisham? Get in contact with us 

Email: LSAB@lewisham.gov.uk 

Tel No: 020 8314 3117 

LSAB Website 

How to report your concerns 

If you suspect that you or an adult you care about may be at risk of abuse or neglect call 
Lewisham Council’s Adult Social Care Access and Information Team (SCAIT) on 020 8314 7777 
alternatively if you have concerns about the immediate safety of an adult at risk then please 
contact the Police on 999. 

There are a number of ways you can contact SCAIT 

The team can be contacted Monday - Friday 9am - 5pm 

Tel: 020 8314 7777 (select option 1) 

Fax: 020 8314 3014 

Email SCAIT  

Page 83

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab
mailto:LSAB@lewisham.gov.uk
http://www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab
mailto:SCAIT@lewisham.gov.uk


 
 

Page 46 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

17 
Appendices 

Partner Annual Reports 

 NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report 2016-2017 

 Healthwatch-Lewisham Annual Report 2016-2017 

 South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust annual Report 2016-2017  

Page 84

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/news-publications/publications/Publications%20documents/Lewisham%20CCG%20Annual%20Report%20and%20Accounts%202016-17.pdf
http://www.healthwatchlewisham.co.uk/what-we-do/annual-reports/
http://www.slam.nhs.uk/media/478878/final_da_designed_slam_annual_report_2016-17.pdf


 
 

Page 47 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

18 
Guide to common safeguarding words and phrases 

Sometimes the language used regarding safeguarding can be confusing and difficult to 
understand. Here are simple explanations to common safeguarding words and phrases. 

Abuse 
Abuse is the breaching of someone’s human and civil rights by another person or people. It may 
be a repeated or single act; it can be unintentional or deliberate and can take place in any 
relationship or setting. It includes: physical harm, sexual abuse, emotional and psychological 
harm, neglect, financial or material abuse, and harm caused by poor care or practice or both in 
institutions such as care homes. It may result in significant harm to, or exploitation of, the person 
being abused. 

Adult at risk 
Anyone aged 18 years or over who may be unable to take care of themselves due to age-related 
frailty, visual or hearing impairment, severe physical disability, learning disability, mental health 
problem, substance misuse or because they are providing care for someone else and therefore 
may be at risk of harm and serious exploitation. 

Concern 

A concern is when the local authority is first told that an adult at risk may have been abused, is 
being abused, or might become a victim of abuse. Anyone can raise an alert: professionals, family 
members, adults at risk and members of the public. Often an alert is raised because of a feeling of 
anxiety or worry for an adult at risk. This feeling can arise because the adult at risk has told you 
what they are experiencing, you have seen abuse or something risky happening, or you have seen 
other signs and symptoms such as bruises. 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
A governing body of local GPs who plan and buy local health and care services that local 
communities need, including: urgent and emergency care; most community health services; and 
mental health and learning disability services. 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 
Rules that ensure special protection is given to people who cannot make a decision (‘lack 
capacity’) to consent to care or treatment (or both) that will be given in a care home or hospital and 
stops them doing what they want to do (‘deprives them of their liberty’). The hospital or care home 
has to get special permission to give the care or treatment and must make decisions that are in 
the person’s ‘best interests’.  

Page 85

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


 
 

Page 48 of 48 
 

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab 
 

Healthwatch 

Healthwatch is the independent consumer champion created to gather and represent the views of 
the public. Healthwatch plays a role at both national and local level and makes sure that the views 
of the public and people who use services are taken into account. 

Mental Capacity Act (MCA 2005) 
A law that supports and protects people who may be unable to make some decisions for 
themselves (people who ‘lack capacity’) because of a physical or mental disability or ill-health. It 
includes a test professionals can perform to tell whether someone can make decisions or not. It 
covers how to act and make decisions on behalf of people who ‘lack capacity’. It is often used for 
decisions about health care, where to live and what to do with money. 
 
Our Partners 
Organisations that are members of Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board. 

Safeguarding adults 
All work that enables adults at risk to retain independence, wellbeing, choice and to stay safe from 
abuse and neglect. 

Safeguarding Adults Review 
A Safeguarding Adults Board must arrange a Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) when an adult in 
its area dies as a result of abuse or neglect, whether known or suspected, and there is concern 
that partner agencies could have worked more effectively to protect the adult. SABs must also 
arrange an SAR if an adult has not died but the SAB knows or suspects that the adult has 
experienced serious abuse or neglect. 

Safeguarding Enquiry 
An enquiry is the action taken or instigated by the local authority in response to a concern that 
abuse or neglect may be taking place. 

Page 86

www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab


Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Care Quality Commission (CQC) report on care homes in Lewisham 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 6 

Class Part 1 (open) 7 February 2018 

 
1. Purpose 
 

Attached is a report from the CQC on the performance of care homes in Lewisham.  
 
2. Recommendations 
 

The Committee is asked to consider and note the report. 
 
For further information, please contact John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, on 
02083149976. 

 
 
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Care Quality Commission Report on Care Homes in Lewisham. 

Background 

CQC’s annual assessment of health and social care in England for 2016/17 the State 
of Care report was published on 10 October 2017. The report shows that the quality 
of care has been maintained despite some very real challenges. Most people are 
receiving good, safe care and many services that were previously rated inadequate 
have recognised CQC’s inspection findings, made the necessary changes and 
improved. 

The fact that quality has been maintained in the toughest climate is testament to the 
hard work and dedication of staff and leaders. However, as the system continues to 
struggle with increasingly complex demand, access and cost, future quality is 
precarious. The number of people with complex, chronic or multiple conditions is 
increasing. We have an ageing population, and the total number of years people can 
expect to live in poorer health continues to rise. In terms of ratings 2% of adult social 
care services are rated outstanding, however, 19% of adult social care services are 
rated requires improvement and therefore there is still a significant level of 
improvement required to ensure people receive high quality, safe and 
compassionate care.  

While there has been much improvement, some services have deteriorated in 
quality. Where we have re-inspected providers originally rated as good overall, the 
majority have remained good. But 23% of adult social care services originally rated 
good have dropped at least one rating. 

There are also substantial variations in the quality of care that people are receiving – 
within and between services in the same sector, between different sectors, and 
geographically. To put people first, there must be more local collaboration and 
joined-up care. To deliver good, safe, well-coordinated care that is sustainable into 
the future, providers will have to think beyond their traditional boundaries and reflect 
the experience of the people they support. We found that services that did well had 
leaders who were enthusiastic and committed to equality, a culture of equality and 
human rights, and applied ‘equality and human rights thinking’ to quality 
improvement. 

CQC has been carrying out Local System Reviews of 20 local authorities across 
England addressing the question “How well do people move through the health and 
social care system, with a particular focus on the interface, and what improvements 
could be made?” The purpose of the review is to find out how services are working 
together to support and care for people aged 65 and older. 
 
An interim report was published in December 2017 which can be found here: 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20171219_local_system_review_interim_rep
ort.pdf  In summer 2018 we will publish a national report which will draw on the 
findings of all 20 reviews, once these have been completed. 

  

Page 89

http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20171219_local_system_review_interim_report.pdf
http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20171219_local_system_review_interim_report.pdf


2 
 

Adult Social Care Data for Lewisham 
This map shows the overall ratings of active adult social care locations in Lewisham 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                             Data accessed from CQC data on 15/12/2017       

Nursing homes - see circles on map 
  

 Inadequate Requires 
Improvement 

Good Outstanding Unrated 

Lewisham 0% (0) 14% (2) 71% (10) 7% (1) 7% (1) 

Comparators 1% 21% 64% 1% 13% 

England 3% 25% 62% 2% 9% 

Residential care homes-see squares on map 
 

 Inadequate Requires 
Improvement 

Good Outstanding Unrated 

Lewisham 0% (0) 4% (2) 77% (37) 0% (0) 19% (9) 

Comparators 1% 12% 81% 1% 6% 

England 1% 15% 75% 2% 6% 

Domiciliary care agencies - not shown on map 
 

 Inadequate Requires 
Improvement 

Good Outstanding Unrated 

Lewisham 2% (1) 4% (2) 54% (26) 2% (1) 38% (18) 

Comparators 2% 13% 48% 0% 37% 

England 1% 11% 59% 2% 28% 

Community care services - not shown on map 
 

 Inadequate Requires 
Improvement 

Good Outstanding Unrated 

Lewisham 0% (0) 0% (0) 54% (7) 8% (1) 38% (5) 

Comparators 1% 6% 62% 2% 30% 

England 0% 9% 65% 2% 24% 

(Numbers in brackets are the numbers of locations this applies to, comparators are 15 LAs Lewisham 

is deemed most similar to in terms of demographics and geography) 

Page 90



3 
 

Context 

There are 113 care service locations currently registered with CQC. Of these 59 are 

registered care homes and the remaining 54 are services providing care to people in 

the community, which includes care provided in people’s own homes, extra care 

settings, supported living and shared lives schemes.  

Out of the 54 services providing care in the community 8 are dormant and not 

currently providing services to people. CQC will seek to de-register these services if 

they have failed to provide a regulated activity to people in a period of over 12 

months.  

Since the data above was extracted from CQC’s database further reports have been 

published and Lewisham no longer has any services rated inadequate. There are 

only 10 services rated requires improvement and 6 were inspected but not rated. 

There are 20 newly registered locations that have yet to receive an inspection, of 

which 7 are dormant at present.  

CQC have seen an improvement in some services in Lewisham, however, equally 

the quality of care provided in some services has declined. Services are more likely 

to require improvement in the domains covering safety and leadership and 

governance, however, this is comparable with findings across the whole of England. 

There is evidence to demonstrate that the leadership of the service is a strong 

contributing factor both in terms of improvement and decline and therefore it is very 

important that care providers ensure a stable management structure to improve and 

maintain good standards. 

Lewisham is currently performing well in terms of ratings and continued and 

improved sharing of intelligence and proactive monitoring will support further 

improvement. CQC does not currently have any serious concerns about any care 

providers located in Lewisham.  

 

Other Data 

Since April 2015 there has been an increase in residential care beds in Lewisham 

but this remains below that of comparators. In the last two years there has been a 

decrease in the number of nursing beds available. There has been an increase in the 

availability of domiciliary care services, however this increase is less than 

comparators. Lewisham has significantly less self-funders than comparators and the 

rest of England for both residential and domiciliary care services. In 2016/17 the rate 

of emergency admissions to hospital of the over 65’s from care homes in Lewisham 

was significantly better than comparators and the rest of England. Delayed transfer 

of care and treatment from hospital to care services was also significantly lower than 

comparators in this time period with people remaining out of hospital for longer 

especially where reablement services have been provided.  

Page 91



4 
 

 

Methodology 

In November 2017 CQC implemented changes to inspection methodology. The 

purpose of this was not to change but strengthen existing methodology. This has 

included some changes to Key Lines of Enquiry to streamline these across health 

and social care directorates in CQC. New Key Lines of Enquiry have also been 

introduced. These focus on how care providers implement systems and processes 

and practices to safeguard people from abuse and how lessons are learned and 

improvements made when things go wrong. Inspectors are also now more closely 

assessing how providers work within current legislation and evidence-based 

guidance to achieve effective outcomes, how governance frameworks ensure that 

responsibilities are clear and that quality performance, risks and regulatory 

requirements are understood and managed and how people, the public and staff are 

engaged and involved. 

In addition CQC is now using intelligence to assess those services that receive a 

requires improvement rating and taking more targeted action to drive improvement.  

 

Conclusion 

In conclusion, from CQC’s perspective Lewisham is currently performing well in 

terms of the provision of regulated adult social care services. It is acknowledged that 

there are pressures on the sector that need to be addressed that may impact on the 

quality of care. However, proactive joint working between the local authority, CCG 

and CQC and provider engagement will help identify and address potential areas of 

concern.  

         

 

Paula Eaton 

Inspection Manager 

30 January 2018 

Page 92



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title CQC inspections of South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 7 

Class Part 1 (open) 7 February 2018 

 
1. Purpose 
 

Attached is a report on the findings of recent CQC inspections of South London and 
Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust.  

 
2. Recommendations 
 

The Committee is asked to consider and note the report. 
 
For further information, please contact John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, on 
02083149976. 

 
 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

REPORT TO THE HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES SELECT COMMITTEE 

24th January 2018 

  

Title 
 

CQC re-inspection report – Adult Community Pathway, MHOA&D Inpatient and 
Acute Pathways  

Authors Elaine Rumble, Deputy Director of Nursing & Quality  Psychosis CAG 
Helen Kelsall, Deputy Director of Nursing & Quality  MHOA&D 
Rose Hombo, Head of Nursing & Quality 
Mary O’Donovan, Head of Quality 

 

Purpose of the paper 

 
1. To report the findings of the re-inspection by the CQC in January, March and July 2017 of the 

Adult Community services, MHOA&D Inpatient services and Acute Services.  
 
 

 

 

 

Executive summary  

 
In September 2015, the Trust was subject to a comprehensive CQC inspection and was rated overall as 
'good'.   The ratings for the Adult Community Pathway, was ‘Good’ whilst a Requires Improvement rating 
for both MHOA&D and Acute Pathways. 
 
All three services were re-inspected in 2017 with ratings now being 'Good’ for MHOA&D and Requires 
Improvement for the Adult Community Pathway and Acute services. Overall the Trust has retained its 
CQC rating of Good. 
 
This report notes the CQC findings the areas that had improved in 2015 and highlights the areas now 
requiring improvement. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



2 
 

 

 

CQC re-inspection 2017 report  

 

1.0  Introduction 

As a part of the Chief Inspector of Hospitals (CIH) inspection regime the Trust was subject to a 
comprehensive Care Quality Inspection (CQC) during the week commencing 21st September 2015.  The 
overall Trust rating was 'good’, this included the rating for Adult Community services which was also rated 
‘Good’, with the individual domain ratings outlined below in table one. Three community teams were 
inspected. 
 
CQC overall trust rating Jan 2016 
 

 
 
 
CQC Community- based mental health services for adults of working age: Rating; Jan 2016 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



3 
 

 
 
 
CQC inpaitient - based mental health services for adults of working age: Rating; Jan 2016 
 
 

 
 
 
CQC inpaitient  - based mental health services for older adults : Rating; Jan 2016 
 

 
 
 
 

1.0 Re- Inspection Rating 

Following the re- inspection of the Acute services in January 2017, MHOA&D Services in March 2017 and 
the Adult Community Pathway in July 2017 the ratings for the Trust overall remained the same as outlined 
in table one above. However there were some slight changes in the three separate pathways outlined 
below. 
 
The overall ratings for each pathway are highlighted in the tables below: 
 
Table Two: CQC Community- based mental health services for adults of working age: Rating; July 

2017 

Page 97



4 
 

 
 

CQC inpatient - based mental health services for adults of working age: Rating; May 2017 

 

 

Table three: CQC MHOA&D Inpatient Rating; June 2017 

 

Table Four: CQC Acute Rating, May 2017 
 
3.0  Improvements since 2015 and Good practice identified 

 
The CQC highlighted the improvements made in each of the five domains; Safety, Effective, Caring, 
Responsive and Well led since 2015. These improvements are highlighted below by each pathway. 

Page 98



5 
 

 
Community Pathway 

Domain CQC Identified Improvements 

Safe  An improvement in the safe systems for transporting medicines, medical 
waste and sharps, with new bags and arrangements in place. 

 Trust had put in place a recruitment and retention strategy, there was a 
marked improvement in numbers of permanent staff recruited to these 
teams, although this continued to be a challenge. 

 Changes in care co-ordinators were now being monitored in the recovery 
teams. 

 Regular checks in place to ensure that most equipment was serviced, 
potable appliance tested, and calibrated as needed. 

 Improvement in compliance with the Lone working Policy and procedures to 
ensure staff safety. 

 The Team managers and senior managers within the clinical academic 
groups (CAGs) were aware of the main issues that we found during the 
inspection, and had plans in place to address some of them. 

 

Effective  Staff made information available to patients on local advocacy groups. 

 Examples of good practice across the teams, including the Lambeth living 
well network hub which provided a single point of access for the public and 
professionals to all mental health referrals. Lewisham, neighbourhood 1 
promoting recovery team provided support for a group of patients with 
diabetes. 

 Staff used case discussion and formulation meetings to improve the quality 
of care and treatment for patients.  

 Staff feedback to their teams about successful interventions with patients. 
Staff received regular supervision and appraisal and had access to 
opportunities for further learning and development. 

 The trust offered patients the opportunity to participate in innovative 
treatments.  

 Patients were able to access a number of groups held within the community 
including a 'Hearing Voices Group’ that was co-facilitated by patients. 

 

Caring  Accessible, caring and respectful staff. 

 Patient and carer forums were available. 

 An involvement register which enabled patient participation in various tasks 
including recruitment. 

 Patient experience data collected and used to improve the service. 
 

 

Responsive  Most patients knew how to make a complaint and staff responded to 
complaints appropriately. Shared learning was identified. 

 Flexible working with patients. 

 Information available in different formats. 

 Lambeth were aware of the over-representation of black people amongst 
their patient group and were seeking to promote better prevention, improved 
access to appropriate services and improved experience for black people. 

 

Well Led  Domain rated good because although the service had three domains that 
were rated as requires improvement, the team managers and senior 
managers within the clinical academic groups (CAGs) were aware of the 
issues that were found during the inspection. There were proactive plans in 
place to address them. 

 The CAG risk registers reflected the concerns identified during this 
inspection. 

 There were clear governance structures in place for each CAG overseeing 

Page 99



6 
 

community mental health services, and a wide range of quality improvement 
projects recently put in place encouraging staff to take a central role in 
improving services. 

 Despite high caseloads, staff morale was generally good, and staff felt well 
supported by their line managers and colleagues. 

 There was a strong emphasis on multi-disciplinary working leading to 
innovative projects between team members bringing different skills. 

 The trust was working closely with other agencies, including the police and 
social services, to address delays in Mental Health Act assessments. 

Table five: CQC Adult Community Pathway: Improvements since, 2015 

MHOA&D 

Domain CQC Identified Improvements 

Safe  An improvement in the standard of cleanliness, with 
no lasting odours. 
 

 An improvement in the level of detail recorded in risk 
assessments. 

 All wheelchairs were intact and well maintained and appropriate 
hoisting equipment was available for staff. 

 Improved medicines management at these units, including 
dedicated trust pharmacy provision. 

 An improved recording to ensure patients’ food and fluid intake 
was monitored accurately. 
 

 

Effective  Dementia training was being provided both by distance learning 
and at ward level. Staff displayed a good understanding of 
meeting the needs of patients with dementia. The trust had also 
taken steps to recruit to vacancies across the wards, and 
improved staff cover of shifts. 
 

 Staff kept records of when detained patients’ rights were read to 
them and these were audited. We also found that staff offered 
patients copies of their leave forms. 
 

 

Caring  An improvement in the recording of patients’ and carers’ involvement in care 
Planning and assessments.  

 

Responsive  Observed that the vast majority of staff supported patients in a 
caring way, including at mealtimes. The meal experience had 
improved, and some patients were involved in setting tables. 

 Care was provided within gender specific areas. Staff closed 
observation windows when not in use, and further protected 
patient privacy by closing curtains fitted around them 

 The trust provided a service user and carer advisory group, which 
involved patients and carers with experience of the trust’s older 
adults’ services. 
 

  

Well Led  Staff were implementing a number of quality improvement initiatives, 
including Four Steps to Safety, a ‘this is me’ booklet that they prepared with 
patients to go with them when they left the ward and the electronic 
observations for health monitoring, EoBs. 
 

Table Six: CQC MHOA&D Inpatient CQC Identified Improvements since 2015 

 

Page 100



7 
 

Acute 

Domain     CQC Identified Improvements 

Safe  All required emergency equipment and medication was in place and in date. 
 

 All the wards had appropriate alarms available and they were in good working 
order. 

 

 Staff completed risk assessments and the assessments were regularly 
reviewed. The trust was rolling out a new risk assessment template, which was 
working well. 

 

 Staff escalated concerns about patients’ physical health promptly. 
 

 Staff recorded more detailed information that allowed the trust to accurately 
monitor how restraint was used. 

 

 Staff on Lambeth Triage understood the meaning of seclusion and if patients 
were prevented from leaving their rooms for a period the seclusion policy was 
followed. 

 

 Acute wards and three of the four PICUs fridge temperatures were being 
regularly monitored and recorded. 

 

 Staff were mitigating environmental risk posed to patients by a staircase in the 
garden on ES1. 

 

Effective  Patients had their status under the Mental Health Act (MHA) recorded correctly. 
 

 Informal patients were now provided with accurate information about their 
rights. 

 

 Majority of staff had completed training in the MCA and understood how 
it applied in practice. 

 

 Staff assessed the physical health needs of patients well. Many physical health 
care plans were very detailed and provided clear guidance to staff on how best 
to support patients with long term conditions, such as diabetes.  

 Staff actively supported patients to stop smoking and provided good access to 
nicotine replacement therapy with a range of products available to patients. 
 

Caring  The majority of patients described staff as kind and caring. Staff interacted with 
patients in a respectful manner. They spent time with patients and offered 
practical and emotional support. Staff understood the individual needs of 
patients.  

 

 Quality of care plans had improved on the acute wards. Most patients had care 
plans in place that were holistic, patient centred and recovery orientated. 

 

Responsive  Staff kept viewing panels and exterior curtains closed, maintaining patients’ 
privacy and dignity. 

 

 Wards provided a range of activities to patients including access to the gym. 
 

 Rooms available for patients to meet privately with advocates. 
 

Well Led  Staff morale was generally good. Staff felt well supported by managers and 
colleagues. The trust and ward staff were committed to quality improvement 

Page 101



8 
 

and innovation. 
 

 Temporary staff completed a brief induction when working on a ward for the first 
time. 

 

 The trust had significantly reduced the number of patients being cared for in 
other hospitals, outside the local area, in the last 15 months. Most patients were 
on wards located in, or close to, their home boroughs. 

 

 Good working relationships between ward staff and home treatment teams 
supported the delivery of effective patient care through the acute care pathway 

 

Table Seven: CQC Acute CQC Identified Improvements since 2015 
 

4.0 Areas for Improvement  

The areas for improvement highlighted by the CQC are outlined in the following pages with subsequent 

progress by pathway

Page 102



9 
 

4.1  Adult Community Pathway 

 

 

Number Must Action Progress 

1 Risk Assessments The trust must ensure that risk assessments and risk 
management plans are always completed and reviewed 
after changes in patients’ circumstances and risk events, 
and stored where other staff can find them easily. 

Psychosis CAG Risk assessment tool tested across three 
teams. SNAP Audit completed in December 2017 results 
feedback into pilot process. Risk Assessment Audit Tool 
guidance for teams developed and disseminated. Audit 
standards 10 cases per team will be undertaken this 
month.  
PMIC CAG – all team leaders completed SNAP audit 
training. Audits completed in November and December 
2017. Improvements noted in  the areas of liaison with 
service users and detailing historical risk events  

2 Care Plan The trust must ensure that each patient has a care plan, 
which is person-centred and includes information about how 
staff will support them. 

Work at trust level on the development of a new care plan 
for community services using QI methodology. Pilot of the 
tool in progress with feedback loop into the CAGs for 
implementation.  

3 MHA Assessments The trust must ensure that patients who require a Mental 
Health Act assessment are assessed without undue delay to 
ensure their safety and that of others. 

MHA Escalation protocol has been developed and 
circulated to relevant staff. Guidance developed for teams 
to record reason for the delay. Offering opportunities to 
review issues and create solutions / lessons learnt. 
Regular monitoring of reasons for delay within CAG /Trust 
forums. Regular Police liaison meeting discussion within 
SLaM. Delays regularly recorded on the incident reporting 
systems.  Routine meetings with AMHP service to clarify 
issues and generate solutions. Daily meetings / contact re 
bed state including at the weekends. These review 
anticipated discharges, delays to discharge and solutions 
to create flow.   

4 Croydon A&L 

assessment target  

The trust must ensure that patients referred to the Croydon 
assessment and liaison team, receive an assessment within 
trust target timescales. 

Two Quality improvement programmes (QI) are currently 

being implemented to ensure Croydon Duty system is 

robust and fit for purpose, streamlining the whole process 

with the aim of reducing waiting times for assessment.  

1. Development of a Croydon A&L duty system screening 

tool 

2. Review and clarification of referral criteria so that we will 

P
age 103



10 
 

only offer appropriate face to face assessments.  

3 Additional band 6 agency staff have been recruited (at 

risk) to increase numbers of assessment available in 

Croydon A&L. We are looking to recruit an additional band 

6 agency (at risk) by the end of January 2018.   

 An increase in consultant cover by 6 sessions within the 

A&L team (at risk). Completed three intensive waiting list 

“blitz” days to review and contact all patients on waiting 

list.  (August, October and November 2017). A review of 

the Trust target timescales for assessment is in progress 

and will be complete this by the end of January 2018. The 

waiting list has reduced from 1020 when the CQC 

inspection took place to the current 619 (January 5th 2018)  

 

Number Should Action  

1 EI caseloads The trust should continue to take action to reduce the caseloads of 
care coordinators in the early intervention teams, so that they can 
consistently provide effective support to patients experiencing a 
first episode of psychosis. 

CAG with support from COO has agreed additional posts to help 

the Croydon, Lambeth and Southwark EI teams with caseload 

pressures.  Team have adopted QI methodology to review 

system and processes to manage the increased demand.  

CAG and Pathway DD/SD/CD & ACD have met with COO to 

discuss medium and long term strategy to support the pathway 

with caseload and pressures associated with implementation of 

the Better Access Standards for EI. Commissioner engagement 

has commenced through core contract meetings about growing 

resource and workload pressures in pathway. Discussion about 

potential opportunities to review resource distribution as part of 

the community redesign 

 

2 Mandatory training The trust should ensure that staff completes all mandatory training 
including annual basic life support, infection control and fire safety 
training. 

Baseline report confirmed improvements with some of the topics 
noted. We have completed training trajectories for all staff in the 
teams. All outstanding required training is being discussed during 
supervision and provisions made for staff to attend. All Training 
availability provision gaps have been highlighted with the 
Learning & Development department    

3 Care plan- patient The trust should ensure that staff clearly record patient involvement 
in their care records, and offer each patient a copy of their care 

 Work  is on-going  at Trust level on the development of a new 

care plan for community services using QI methodology  

P
age 104



11 
 

involvement plan.  Adapt risk assessment audit methodology to also include care 

plan audit using current recovery and support plan.   

Development of audit tool briefing/guidance for team leads 

Clarification re: assurance framework to support this work  

Clarification with consultants in job planning of their leadership 

role in this piece of work and use of QI approach to achieve 

these changes  

 

4 CTO patient rights The trust should ensure that staff explain patients’ rights in respect 
of community treatment orders consistently in accordance with the 
Mental Health Act (MHA) Code of Practice, and keep accurate 
records of consent to treatment in line with the MHA and when 
patients’ rights have been explained. 

Revised CTO policy cascaded to teams, work with MHA Policy 
Advisor in process to develop and deliver comprehensive training 
programme for community staff re: CTO policy implementation. 
Weekly reminder reports from MHA Offices sent to teams 
outlining requirements for Rights and Consent to treatment 
included.  Supervision discussion as required within teams.   My 
Team dashboard Report, Cascade through CSL/ TLs regarding 
reading of rights and consent to treatments completed and 
documented in EPJs. CAG MHA lead role developed. 
Compliance monitored within CAG Quality Improvement Forum 
quarterly. 
 

5 Psychological 

therapy access 

The trust should ensure that patients have access to psychological 
therapies without undue delay in line with best practice guidance. 

PSYCHOSIS CAG- PSYCHOSIS CAG- In the PRT and CC 
pathways teams have established mechanisms to manage 
demand such as using opt-in, group-based interventions and, if 
needed, a quota system for referrals depending on the 
psychology sessions available to each team if the waiting times 
start to approach 9 months. In the EI pathway offers are routinely 
made resulting in significant waiting times, but prioritisation 
criteria have been developed for individuals who require urgent 
access to psychological therapies. The Psychology leads monitor 
waiting times on a monthly basis.  The Head of Psychology is in 
the process of developing a business plan which supports the 
provision of internal psychology cover to provide a peripatetic 
service. Data on the gaps in psychology provision experienced in 
2017 is being reviewed in order to estimate the on-going scale of 
the issues and the development of possible options to address 
these.   
PMIC CAG - Review of all IAPT and IPPT services to report on 
waiting times for assessment and for treatment, currently and 
over the last 6 months, including a narrative about why these are 
as they are, and plans to address these. We have started a 
review of all IPPT services to include inclusion and exclusion 

P
age 105



12 
 

criteria, availability and amount of therapy modalities, caseloads 
and ensure they are NICE guideline recommended. This has 
started with the borough of Southwark.   
 

6 Interface with HTT 

and Acute 

The trust should continue to develop more effective working 
relationships between the community teams, home treatment teams 
and inpatient wards; and improve the quality and frequency of 
contact 
between community staff, ward staff and patients admitted to the 
wards. 

 Weekly bed management meetings and follow up bed calls 
 Borough specific interface meetings (weekly and monthly 
depending on borough).  Development of a number of quality 
improvement projects aligned to the Large Scale Initiative.  
Regular interface meetings - pan CAG senior leadership to 
monitor flow from inpatient to community and generate solutions 
to any barriers  

7 Pathway barriers The trust should continue to address barriers to effective patient 
movement along the care pathway. The trust should ensure that 
staff clearly understand their roles and responsibilities, clarify 
referral criteria 
and thresholds, ensure specialist teams can accept referrals, and 
support community staff to make more effective placement funding 
applications. 

 Draft EI/PRT transfer protocol has been developed - awaiting 
final sign off by ACDs.  Escalation framework to resolve any 
barriers to transfer.  Regular caseload review in place 

8 Quality 

management- risk 

assessments/care 

plans 

The trust should ensure that quality management systems are 
further improved to ensure that significant gaps in the quality of risk 
assessments and care plans, and unreasonable waiting times for 
patients are addressed swiftly. 

 Identified Trust BI resource to support CAG delivery now in place 

 

 

 

4.2  MHOA&D Inpatient Pathway 

 

 

Number Must Action Progress 

1 Training The provider must ensure that all relevant staff complete training in 

mandatory areas including intermediate life support, basic life support, and 

fire safety. 

The MHOA&D&D CAG training completion is being 

regularly monitored and rates are improving. However 

new starters and renewals depending on course 

availability will affect performance figures this is 

normal fluctuation. Scrutiny at operational 

management meetings will ensure consistent accurate 

completion. P
age 106



13 
 

Number Should Action  

1 PH 

Monitoring- 

Rapid Tranq 

The provider should ensure that accurate records are maintained of post dose 

vital sign monitoring after patients receive rapid tranquilisation. 

A Recent review in December 2017 of post rapid 

tranquilisation procedures has demonstrated an 

increase in the completion of correct post procedure 

monitoring. This work is ongoing led by the Modern 

Matron to support staff to further develop competence. 

2 Sight line- 

Blind Spot 

The provider should ensure that records are maintained of blind spots on each 

ward, to ensure that new staff are aware of these risk areas. 

All blind spots that can be eliminated via estates based 

options such as; mirrors etc have been addressed. 

Those that cannot be eliminated have been clearly 

identified communicated to staff. All blind spots are on 

all ligature anchor point audits and are subject to 

regular review. 

3 Supervision The provider should ensure that all staff receive regular supervision sessions 

in line with the trust policy and that this is monitored effectively. 

Staff supervision rates are monitored regularly. Group 

supervision and individual supervision is being 

provided enabling staff to have a wider access to 

supervision. 

4 Privacy and 

Dignity 

The provider should ensure that staff provide patients with the option of having 

clinical observations carried out in a private area such as the 

ward clinic room or their bedroom. 

 Patients are offered a range of locations to have 

physical observation taken. Where patients decline or 

feel unable privacy screens are in use. Staff are 

starting to Datix issues pertaining to breaches privacy 

and dignity. Demonstrating the development of an 

open and transparent culture where issues need 

resolution and highlighting increased awareness of the 

importance of these issues. 

5 Informal 

Patients 

The provider should review the policy regarding ensuring that informal patients 

are given clear information about their right to leave each ward. 

This has been reviewed by the Trust. No changes 

made to the policy. 

6 Privacy and 

Dignity 

The provider should ensure that staff and patients are aware of how to ensure 

their privacy in the identified bathroom on Aubrey Lewis 1 ward, by 

closing the frosted windows. 

Window covers are being installed to enable patients 

to have the windows open for ventilation of odours. 

Whilst maintaining their privacy and dignity. 

7 Accessibility- 

Bathroom 

The provider should consider the addition of an accessible bathroom within the 

female patients’ area on Aubrey Lewis 1 ward. 

A reviewed had been conducted. It has found an 

assisted bath would not be appropriate, due to size P
age 107



14 
 

and space avalible in the bathroom. However solutions 

of additional hand rails has been identified and are on 

order. 

8 Living Skills The provider should ensure that patients have access to the laundry rooms on 

the wards, following a risk assessment, to ensure and they are supported 

to maintain their independent living skills. 

All wards completed risk assessment pertaining to 

access to laundry rooms by patients .Staff will offer the 

facility as per individual care plan.  

9 Food The provider should ensure that accessible menus are available to patients 

with dementia, and improve consistency in ensuring that patients have a 

choice of meals. 

The Trust is engaged in ongoing work with food 

provider and hotel services to develop a picture menu. 

However staff are consistently working to ensure 

patients’ are involved in their meal choices. 

10 Risk 

Register 

The provider should ensure that ward managers are made aware of the issues 

recorded on the clinical academic group risk register and further develop links 

between senior management and ward level. 

The MHOA&D&D CAG convened a meeting with the 

ward managers and other senior clinical staff working 

in inpatient services. A discussion was held regarding 

the purpose and process of risk registers. The CAG 

are implementing a system for cascading information 

from the MHOA&D&D CAG risk register. 

11 Informal 

Patients 

The provider should ensure that informal patients on Hayworth ward are given 

clear information about their right to leave the ward in the posters on display. 

The correct information is in place. 

 

 

 

4.3 Acute Pathway 

 

Number Must Action Progress 

1 Staffing The Trust must continue to address the high number of 

nursing vacancies on some wards. 

The CAG Band 5 nursing Vacancy rates has reduced 

significantly in the last twelve months through the 

recruitment strategy and initiatives across the Trust and 

within the CAG. At the CAG’s lowest position it had 112wte 

Band 5 nursing vacancies across the inpatient and PICU 

services.  The CAG is now currently on track to reduced 

the number of vacancies to 18wte by November 2017 P
age 108



15 
 

which has been achieved. 

2 Safeguarding The Trust must ensure that all staff recognise potential abuse 

and report safeguarding concerns appropriately. 

The Safeguarding adult Thresholds Guidance for inpatient 

wards has been reviewed and formally agreed at the July 

trust SA committee and circulated to CAG SA leads on the 

27th of July 2017. This is aimed at helping inpatient staff 

have a better awareness and understanding of when a 

clinical incident may also need to be considered as a 

possible safeguarding concern 

Monthly reporting and monitoring continues at the CAG 

governance exec. 

3 Ligatures The Trust must ensure that all ligature anchor point risks on 

the psychiatric intensive care wards are recorded on the ward 

ligature risk assessment and that staff are aware of the risks 

and how they are mitigated. 

The CAG has twenty wards including four PICU. All ligature 

audits for the 20 wards, including the 4 PICUs have been 

undertaken with the exception of 1 ward (ES2) who is 

currently undergoing a full refurbishment which includes 

ligature reduction work.  Each ward has copy of their risk 

assessment and plans for their mitigation which is review 

monthly at their governance meetings and quarterly at the 

CAG Governance.  

4 Restraint The Trust must develop clear plans to reduce the number of 

patients being restrained in the prone position and monitor 

the impact of actions taken. 

We continue to roll out and embed the 4 steps of safety 

programme on all our wards.  We have developed and 

finalised our reduction of violence and aggression strategy 

for the CAG and are rolling out in all the wards. We are 

now in a position to implement this strategy using some QI 

methodologies.  We have clear reporting structures in place 

with clear data for each ward and are now in a position to 

use data creatively to inform and change practise where 

there are gaps and escalate to the CAG governance exec 

monthly.  We continue to monitor PSTS training and 

compliance through our business and performance exec on 

a monthly basis. 

5 Fire drills The Trust must ensure that information about fire safety 

procedures and evacuation is up to date on all wards. Fire 
Number of 

Wards 

Required 

number of 

Drills 

completed 

Percentage 

within P
age 109



16 
 

drills must take place regularly. drills per 

ward over a 

12 month 

period ( 1 a 

quarter) 

timeframe 

target 

20 4 41 89% 
 

6 Supervision The Trust must ensure that all staff have regular managerial 

and clinical supervision. 

The Head of Nursing has created and continued to run 

various staff forums within the CAG which serves as a 

series of listening, providing guidance and support events 

to staff 

The Supervision rates are being monitored and group 

supervision and individual supervision is also being 

provided. This enables staff to have a wider access to 

supervision. 

7 Governance The Trust must ensure that governance processes are 

sufficiently robust so that they identify where improvements 

need to be made. 

The CAG Governance structure and process has now been 

reviewed. The CAG Governance Exec meetings continue 

once a month with various sub committees being 

developed to feed back into the CAG Governance Exec, 

which then feedback to the Trust Quality matters and 

Quality Sub Committee.   

 

Number SHOULD Action Progress 

1 PEST control The Trust should take all necessary steps to ensure effective 

pest control on the wards at Maudsley Hospital. 

There is a pest control plan in place on the Maudsley site 

with quarterly reviews of ward incidents relating to pest 

control and actions escalated to Estates and Facilities. 

Since the inspection in January 2017 there have been no 

reported incidents of pest control 

2 MCA mandatory 

training 

The Trust should ensure that staff continue to increase their 

completion of mandatory training, including Mental Capacity 

Act 2005 training. 

Mandatory training compliance is reviewed monthly at the 

Business and Performance Exec and escalations and plans 

agreed to close any gaps. Supervision is being used to 

address poor compliance with mandatory training.  Mental P
age 110



17 
 

Capacity Act training remains an on-going mandatory 

training requirement for the CAG 

3 AWOL POWELL The Trust should consider why the number of detained 

patients leaving without authorisation on Powell ward is much 

higher than other acute wards, with a view to reducing this 

number. In addition the trust should review the safety and 

security of the garden fence on Johnson ward to prevent 

patients going absent without authorisation. 

In assessing the security of the Johnson garden with the 

WM and E&F the anti - climb metal fence above the brick 

wall was identified as not being of sufficient height and 

robustness to prevent someone who was determined to 

abscond from the garden. In consultation with contractors it 

was suggested to increase the height of the whole length 

by 2 feet with anti-climb ledge at the top of the fence. This 

would not weaken the fence and structure would be 

reinforced. The work was commissioned and completed in 

July 2017 and it is noted that there have been no awols 

over the Johnson garden fence since this action. 

4 Seclusion 

Johnson/EDEN 

The Trust should ensure that the seclusion rooms on 

Johnson and Eden PICUs are repaired promptly. 

The above action has been completed and the ward will 

continue to monitor and escalate any further damage to 

Estates and Facilities. 

5 Croydon PICU 

Leave 

The Trust should review the practice of limiting all patients on 

Croydon PICU to a maximum of 30 minutes of leave at any 

one time and ensure that the granting of leave is based on an 

individual assessment of risk. 

Action has been completed. 

6 PICU care plans The Trust should ensure that patient care plans on the PICUs 

are individualised and goal orientated. 

The CAG has now fully implemented the new care plans 

and subsequently continue to roll out training and teaching 

sessions for all staff.  Weekly training sessions on the 

wards and the PICU has been established since May 2017. 

Care planning and risk assessments groups and weekly 

audits are now in place across all our wards and monitoring 

and reporting is done via various ward forums and monthly 

at the CAG Quality subcommittee. 

7 LD training The Trust should ensure that planned training in learning 

disabilities and autism is made available to all staff on acute 

wards and PICUs. 

There are now Learning Disability leads for each ward who 

have gone through specific commissioned LD training with 

London Southbank University (LSBU).  

LD training has been commission and it now mandatory to 

P
age 111



18 
 

all inpatient staff and the trust training department is now in 

the position to start delivery this training to ward staff.  

8 Clare ward 

weekend leave 

The Trust should ensure that any patients transferred to Clare 

ward at the weekend are not unnecessarily restricted to the 

ward. 

Action has been completed and policy adapted to reflect. 

9 Confidential 

patient 

information 

The Trust should ensure that confidential patient information 

is not visible to other patients and visitors to the wards. 

Actions completed, all wards now have confidential boards 

or a system in place to make their existing patients board 

confidential  

10 Hot and cold 

drinks 

The Trust should ensure that patients know that they can 

have a hot or cold drink when they want one, including at 

night. 

Posters are available on all wards as a reminder to patients 

and staff. It is being discussed weekly with patients in ward 

community meetings and has action has been included in 

patients’ welcome parks on the wards. 

11 Storage locks The Trust should review the possibility of providing more 

accessible lockable storage for patients. 

Lockable storage cupboards for patients is currently been 

sought by the trust E&F team. 

13 Ladywell ward 

temperatures 

The Trust should ensure that ward temperatures at the 

Ladywell Unit are comfortable for patients and staff. 

There is an agreed plan in place to change all the windows 

on the ladywell site to address this issue. Portable cooling 

and heating provision has been install on the wards to 

manage the situation currently while the window work  is 

being carried out. 

 

 

P
age 112



 

1 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Report: Future of the NHS Walk-in Centre and improving provision and access to 
primary care 

Ward: Evelyn, New Cross and Telegraph Hill Item No. N/A 

From: Dr Marc Rowland, Chair, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group 

Class: N/A Date: 7th February 2018 

 
1. Purpose 

1.1 In line with the Lewisham Council Health and Social Care Scrutiny Protocol, the 
outcomes of the consultation and decision on the future of the NHS Walk-in Centre and 
improving provision and access to primary care; the Healthier Communities Select 
Committee is ask to note the following; 

(i) NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) review of the formal 
consultation responses and proposed alternative models; 

(ii) The CCG Governing Body’s decision of 11th January 2018, the new services and 
plans for monitoring.  

2. Formal Consultation  

2.1 The law requires NHS bodies to engage with members of the public before making 
decisions on changes to health services. Currently, separate sections of the NHS Act 
apply to CCGs and to other organisations. CCGs are governed by section 14Z2 of the 
National Health Services Act 2006. 

2.2 In summary, statutory requirements apply to any significant commissioning decision or 
reconfiguration. However, the statue does not insist on ‘consultation’, but seeks to make 
sure that service users are ‘involved’. In practice, for any significant proposed change to 
services, some form of consultation exercise will be required to comply with this duty 

2.3 The CCG undertook a comprehensive 12 week formal public and stakeholder 
consultation, which commenced on 8th August 2017 and concluded on 30th October 
2017.  

2.4 The consultation consisted of an online survey and a public and stakeholder 
engagement programme. The CCG conducted in excess of 40 face to face outreach 
activities with various groups and stakeholders as reported to the committee on 1st 
November 2017. This included drop-in sessions at the Waldron Health Centre and 
meetings with homeless charities, community development groups, community hubs, 
children’s centres, parents’ forums, patient participation groups, faith groups, local ward 
assemblies and students. 

2.5 On 9th November 2017, the CCG Governing Body agreed the recommendation to defer 
its response to the feedback from the consultation and thereby a decision on the future 
of the NHS Walk-in Centre and improving provision and access to primary care until 11th 
January 2018. This additional time was requested in order for the CCG to appropriately 
conduct a review and evaluation of the consultation responses and all proposed 
alternatives. 

2.6 A petition was presented on 9th November 2017 to the CCG Chair post the formal 
consultation closing date of 30th October 2017, containing 915 signatures; 246 of the 
people who signed the petition were from outside of London and 38 were from outside of 
the UK. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 8



 

2 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

2.7 The CCG commissioned BMG Research Ltd to provide an independent review of the 
online survey results. The pertinent message as previously reported to the committee on 
1st November 2017, is that there was clear opposition to the proposal to close the NHS 
Walk-in Centre; 82% of respondents being unsupportive and among the remainder, 
11% of respondents supported the proposal and 7% answered didn’t know. 

2.8 The CCG has reviewed the extensive list of 20 proposed alternative models (See 
Appendix 1) from the consultation. The review demonstrated that a number of the 
alternatives are either already in place, in development or are being addressed. The 
CCG has reviewed its preferred model and as a consequence adapted the proposal for a 
homeless service for rough sleepers in Deptford and New Cross. 

2.9 The Walk-in Centre essentially serves residents in the north of the borough and non-
residents from outside of Lewisham. In 2016/17 of the 29,528 appointments only 61% of 
these were used by people resident (with a Lewisham postcode) in Lewisham and 
39% by people who live outside of the borough. For 2017/18 the trend continues with 
only 59% of appointments used by Lewisham residents and 41% by people who live 
outside of the borough.  

2.10 Use of the service is likely to be more about convenience and this is reflected in the 
high usage by patients registered with one of the four practices located in the Waldron 
Health Centre. This is also supported by the review of the GP Extended Access Service 
where usage is lower amongst practices located in the Waldron Health Centre. 

2.11 The CCG interviewed users of the Walk-in Centre and 82% of people reported that 
they would consider using another service, which offered bookable appointments 
at another location, if their own GP practice did not have appointments available. 

2.12 Monitoring: On-going review and monitoring of the Walk-in Centre closure will be led 
by the CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee (a meeting held in public), which 
will commence on 20th February 2018. 

3. Healthier Communities Select and Overview & Scrutiny Committees 

3.1 Under section 7 of the Health & Social Care Act 2001, a duty was placed on local NHS 
organisations to consult overview and scrutiny committees on any proposal for a 
substantial development or variation in the provision of services.  

3.2 In delivering against this duty, pre-consultation on the proposal and the plans for formal 
public and stakeholder consultation were reviewed by the Healthier Communities Select 
Committee on 20th July 2017.  

3.3 The CCG provided an update on the consultation to both the Overview & Scrutiny and 
Healthier Communities Select Committees on 31st October 2017 and 1st November 2017 
respectively. 

4. CCG Governing Body Decision 

4.1 On 11th January 2018, the CCG Governing Body agreed the recommendation to allow 
the contract for the NHS Walk-in Centre at New Cross to expire on 31st March 2018 and 
improve provision and access to urgent and non-urgent primary care services in 
Lewisham; 

(a) By continuing to increase use and capacity of the GP Extended Access Service; 
(b) To commission an additional outreach and walk-in service for rough sleepers in 

Deptford and New Cross. 

4.2 The CCG Governing Body was assured that the ‘clinical’ needs of patients currently 
attending the Walk-in Centre can be met by existing mainstream primary care and 
planned alternative services. 

Page 114



 

3 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

4.3 The recommendations were submitted to the CCG Governing Body as a supplementary 
agenda item on Tuesday 9th January 2018. The recommendations were also published 
on the CCG website the following day. Similarly, as with the CCG Governing Body 
meeting on 9th November 2017, links to the recommendations were shared with key 
stakeholders including local ward councillors. 

4.4 A number of procedural concerns were raised by Cllr Joe Dromey who attended the 
CCG Governing Body on 11th January 2018 and a response (See Appendix 2) was 
provided by the CCG on 12th January 2018.  

5. Impact on A&E Department/s 

5.1 On 9th November 2017, Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust confirmed that the clinical 
review of the attendances to the Walk-in Centre undertaken by CCG clinicians provided 
the necessary assurance that; the impact on the Trust if the Walk-in Centre were to 
close post-winter would be minimal.  

5.2 In applying the Pinchbeck1 methodology to the Walk-in Centre activity for Lewisham only 
residents (61% of appointments in 2016/17), the estimated shift in activity to A&E 
Departments is between 5% and 10%. This would equate to an estimated 2 to 4 
attendances per day to an a A&E Department, which could either be to the University 
Hospital Lewisham site or  any other A&E Department located within reasonable and 
accessible proximity to the Waldron Health Centre – once the Walk-in Centre closes. 

5.3 However, given the clinical review of the conditions for those attending the Walk-in 
Centre, this activity will not necessarily transfer to an A&E Department. This is because 
the majority of attendances to the Walk-in Centre are for minor illnesses such as colds, 
sore throats, limb pain and flu like symptoms and there are more appropriate and 
existing services available to meet these clinical needs.  

5.4 Monitoring: The CCG Governing Body decision was reported to the Bexley, Greenwich & 
Lewisham A&E Delivery Board on 22nd January 2018. The Board is currently led by an 
independent Chair. It represents commissioners, all acute and community providers 
including Lewisham & Greenwich Trust, the London Ambulance Service and 
representatives from all 3 local authorities. The Board will be responsible for the on-
going monitoring of A&E activity, including the review of the mitigating services located in 
the Urgent Care Centre at the University Lewisham Hospital site. 

6. New services: Supporting vulnerable groups to access Primary Care 

6.1 After identifying barriers of the GP Extended Access in its Equalities Impact Assessment 
that was undertaken as part of the review, the CCG set out its commitment to provide 
enhanced services for the homeless; specifically for those termed as rough sleepers/sofa 
surfers in Deptford and New Cross. Post the joint CCG and Lewisham Council Homeless 
Summit on 18th October 2017 and continuing to engage with the local community, the 
CCG organised a second workshop on the 6th December 2017. 

6.2 The workshop was attended by representatives from the three local homeless charities; 
Deptford Reach, Bench Outreach, the 999 Club, the Salvation Army, GPs from the 
Amersham Vale Training Practice and a representative from the Hurley Group.  

6.3 The purpose of the workshop was to develop an agreed pilot service model, which would 
provide improved clinical outcomes for the homeless in Deptford and New Cross, ease of 
access, better integration with other services and support registration. The proposed 
model will provide walk-in access for this group of patients at the Waldron Health Centre 
in addition to outreach services by GPs located within the local homeless charities.  

                                                           
1
 

http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/64503/1/__lse.ac.uk_storage_LIBRARY_Secondary_libfile_shared_repository_Content_SERC%20discu
ssion%20papers_2014_sercdp0167.pdf 

Page 115

http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/64503/1/__lse.ac.uk_storage_LIBRARY_Secondary_libfile_shared_repository_Content_SERC%20discussion%20papers_2014_sercdp0167.pdf
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/64503/1/__lse.ac.uk_storage_LIBRARY_Secondary_libfile_shared_repository_Content_SERC%20discussion%20papers_2014_sercdp0167.pdf


 

4 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

6.4 The proposed model will be tested with users at the local charities and commissioned 
from an alliance/partnership of Waldron Health Centre GPs Practices from March/April 
2018. This will be a pilot service for a period of 18 months.  

6.5 There is currently no data available on the number of homeless people who currently use 
the Walk-in Centre. A key performance indicator of this pilot will be to provide activity 
data to support assessment and evaluate the demand for the service. 

6.6 Monitoring and evaluation: This service will be reviewed and a formal evaluation will be 
completed after 12 months and will be reported to the CCG Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee. 

7. Unmet need: Undocumented Migrants 

7.1 Our Equalities Impact Assessment identified a potential impact for those who were using 
the Walk-in Centre as their default access to primary care, which included 
undocumented migrants.   

7.2 There is no regulatory requirement to prove identity, address, immigration status 
or an NHS number in order to register as a patient and no contractual requirement 
for GPs to request this. All asylum seekers and refugees and those who are 
homeless, overseas visitors, whether lawfully in the UK or not, are eligible to 
register with a GP practice even if they are not eligible for secondary care (hospital 
care) services. 

7.3 The CCG has continued to engage with local organisations to increase understanding of 
the numbers of people who may be facing barriers to access to primary care in 
Lewisham. The CCG met with the Lewisham Migrant & Refugee Network (LMRN) in 
November 2017. LMRN advised that people attending their groups were registered with 
a GP. If people were not registered they would refer them to the charity Doctors of the 
World, which provides a number of outreach clinics for unregistered patients and 
advocacy to support people to register. 

7.4 LMRN were aware of existing resources to support people to register, such as the NHS 
England leaflet, ‘Asylum seekers and Refugees How to Register with a GP’ and the 
Healthy London Partnership ‘My right to access healthcare’ cards. The CCG has 
provided cards and leaflets to LMRN for their drop in sessions in Deptford. 

7.5 The CCG attended an engagement session with a LMRN Women’s Group on 12th 
December 2017. The session was attended by 12 people; 7 were Southwark residents 
and 5 were Lewisham. All were registered with GP practices in their respective 
boroughs. 5 people had previously used the Walk-in Centre, of whom 3 had used it in the 
last twelve months. Those who had used it in the preceding 12 months were resident in 
Southwark and had done so because their GPs had directed them there when they were 
unable to get an appointment at their own practice or they had gone directly to the Walk-
in Centre.  LMRN has requested that the CCG deliver another session in and include 
speakers on preventative and health screening services linked to women’s health. 

7.6 The CCG met with Doctors of the World. The charities data indicates that they supported 
40 people with a Lewisham postcode to register with a GP. However, 15 people were not 
successful at the first attempt due to a number of ID related issues or an immigration 
status query.  

7.7 Monitoring: Learning from our continuing engagement with local groups supporting 
undocumented migrants will be incorporated into support and training for GP practices in 
Lewisham on registering patients. 

8. Unmet need: Unregistered patients 

8.1 The CCG committed to providing Patient Advice and Liaison Support (PALS) to increase 
GP registration recognising that there might be a potential level of unregistered users of 

Page 116



 

5 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

the Walk-in Centre and the barriers posed by the GP Extended Access Service. From 
the 30th October 2017 the CCG commissioned PALS support located at the NHS Walk-in 
Centre, New Cross and 19 sessions have been provided during peak times. This has 
included weekends and support over the festive period.  

8.2 Support and advice has been provided to more than 100 people. However, the numbers 
of unregistered patients presenting has been very low and of those, the majority were 
from residents in neighbouring Southwark, followed by Tower Hamlets, Greenwich and 
Bexley boroughs.  

8.3 The emerging key themes are; (i) patients being turned away due to a lack of ID; and (ii) 
a lack of awareness of GP Extended Access Services in neighbouring boroughs. The 
CCG will be providing support and training to local GP practices on 7th February 2018 
and learning from the PALS sessions will be incorporated.  

8.4 The CCG has committed to provide this support until the end of March 2018; however a 
full evaluation will be submitted to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee on 20th 
February 2018, which will determine whether the support should be extended beyond the 
31st March 2018. 

8.5 Monitoring: A decision will be taken on 20th February 2018 by the CCG Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee on whether to extend the PALS support beyond the 
committed date of 31st March 2018. 

9. Alternative services: GP Extended Access Service 

9.1 The GP Extended Access Service (GPEA) commenced in April 2017 to increase access 
to core general practice as a part of the GP Forward View (GPFV). The service is 
delivered by One Health Lewisham Ltd a federation of local GP practices in Lewisham. 
The service provides bookable appointments, 7 days per week, 8-8pm, 365 days per 
year and has access to patients full medical records. The service provides face to face 
access to GPs and Nurses and video consultations. In 2017 the CCG commissioned 
25,426 bookable appointments, which increases this year to 29,914. 

9.2 The consultation demonstrated that not only was there a lack of awareness of the new 
service, but that patients were not routinely offered this choice on contacting their local 
practice. The service remains underutilised for both GP and nurse appointments – on 
average 67% of the commissioned appointments are used. 

9.3 Throughout the consultation there were a number of key concerns with the service; (i) 
the ability of the service to see children; and (ii) providing care for wound dressings. The 
service commenced providing appointments for children when it relocated in November 
2017 to the purpose built suite at the University Hospital Lewisham.  

9.4 The service provides access and care for wound dressings and our clinical audit 
demonstrated that 66% of the nurse appointments were used for wound dressings. 

9.5 Since the relocation the CCG has embarked on an extensive campaign to raise 
awareness and increase utilisation of the service. This has included articles in the 
Lewisham Life (winter issue) and regular e-bulletins to their subscribers in November 
2017. The CCG printed 73,320 redesigned leaflets, which were distributed to all 
Lewisham GP practices, pharmacies, dentists, community spaces and leisure centres. 
Healthwatch have also included articles about the service in regular e-newsletters 
throughout November 2017. There has been promotion though social media and on the 
NHS Lewisham & Greenwich Trust sites. 

9.6 In addition, every primary school child in Lewisham received a copy of the leaflet in their 
school bag to take home, in November 2017. A bespoke video promoting the service 
was launched on 9th January 2018 via social media.  

Page 117



 

6 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

9.7 There has also been a pan-London campaign to raise awareness of the GP Extended 
Access Services in London, which was launched on 20th November 2017. The campaign 
consisted of both internal and external digital approaches (online and radio), working 
with GP practices, local NHS Trusts and staff. 

9.8 In summary, there is recognition that where the local registered GP population increases 
the CCG will need to review the capacity of the GP Extended Access Service to meet the 
clinical needs of our local population. However, the initial priority for the CCG will be to 
increase utilisation of current commissioned capacity. 

9.9 As part of the on-going engagement with local stakeholders the CCG met with 
Goldsmiths College on 28th November 2017. It is recognised in the Equalities Impact 
Assessment that a rolling communications programme to support registration for 
students is necessary – this would be in addition to the commercial service 
commissioned by the college from the Amersham Vale Training Practice. The CCG has 
committed to working with Goldsmiths College and a second meeting with the college is 
scheduled to take place on 30th January 2018. 

9.10 Monitoring: The GP Extended Access Service is a nationally mandated requirement 
and therefore reporting on this service is directly to NHS England – in addition to local 
contract management and utilisation rates will be shared with all 4 neighbourhoods. 

10. Alternative services: North Lewisham 

10.1 The CCG has developed and invested in a bespoke Communication & Engagement 
Campaign for the north of borough; Brockley, Evelyn, New Cross and Telegraph Hill 
Wards. This is in recognition that the majority of attendances for the Walk-in Centre for 
those registered with GP practices in the north of the borough – were for conditions that 
did not necessarily require either a GP or a Nurse appointment.  

10.2 The campaign focuses on the clinical needs of the community living in the north by 
publicising and promoting appropriate and alternative services to encourage residents to 
use the correct service.  

10.3 Launched on 18th December 2017 the bespoke ‘Use the Right Service’, campaign, 
encourages patients to use the best service for them in Lewisham. Whether it is either 
self-care, the Pharmacy First Service, their own GP, Integrated Urgent Care (formerly 
NHS 111) or A&E. The campaign includes printed materials, social media, web 
presence, engagement and events.  

10.4 The key messages were jointly developed with Lewisham Health & Care Partners; 
Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust, South London & the Maudsley NHS Trust, 
Lewisham Council, One Health Lewisham Ltd and the CCG. 

10.5 30,000 leaflets and posters have been distributed to schools, GP practices, libraries, 
leisure centres, community groups and transport hubs.  

10.6 Work is underway to further publicise the CCG commissioned Pharmacy First 
Service and a short film is being developed with Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust. 

10.7 Monitoring: The campaign is on-going and will continue to monitor, evaluate and 
record the impact, which will be submitted to the CCG Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee. 

11. Supporting local GP practices at the Waldron Health Centre 

11.1 The CCG commissioned the Primary Care Foundation to work with the four GP 
practices located in the Waldron Health Centre (Amersham Vale Training Practice, 
Clifton Rise Family Practice, Dr Batra and the New Cross Health Centre) to understand 
capacity and capability and how practices could improve access. 

Page 118



 

7 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

11.2 This work is about to conclude and practices have been provided with an action plan 
and the CCG has committed to working with practices through the national General 
Practice Resilience Programme.  

11.3 However, there is recognition from the initial findings that there are a number of 
interventions that all practices can implement to improve access. 

11.4 The review also demonstrated that a significant proportion of patients using the Walk-
in Centre who are registered with the four practices are redirected back to their own 
practices. Therefore, activity shifts as a result of the closure may be less significant than 
concerns originally suggested during the consultation. 

11.5 Monitoring: The CCG is committed to supporting local GP practices and registered 
lists for the 4 Waldron Health Centre GP practices will be monitored and reported to the 
CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee. 

12. Equalities Implications 

The CCG conducted an Equalities Impact Assessment, which was published on 10th 
October 2017 and submitted to the committee on 1st November 2017. The refreshed 
Equalities Impact Assessment was submitted to the CCG Governing Body on 12th 
January 2018. 

13. References 

NHS Lewisham CCG Governing Body recommendations of 11th January 2018: 
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/Who-we-
are/Governing%20Body%20papers/Supplementary%20Agenda%20paper%20improving
%20primary%20care%20in%20Lewisham.pdf 

NHS Lewisham Governing Body recommendations of 9th November 2017 on the 
deferment of the decision: http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/Who-we-
are/Governing%20Body%20papers/LCCG%20Governing%20Body%20papers%20WiC
%20recommendations%206112017.pdf  

Healthier Communities Select Committee update on the consultation – 1st November 
2017: http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s53211/07%20NHS%20Walk-
in%20Centre%20-%20public%20consultation%20update%20-%20011117.pdf  

Overview & Scrutiny Committee update on local NHS GP services – 31st October 2017: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s53202/Item3A_NHSLocalGPService
s311017.pdf  

Healthier Communities Select Committee pre-consultation – 20th July 2017: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s51424/06%20Urgent%20Care%20R
eview%20New%20Cross%20Walk-in%20Centre%20-%20200717.pdf  

14. Further information 

Contact: Diana Braithwaite, Director of Commissioning & Primary Care; Email: 

Diana.braithwaite@nhs.net  

 

  

Page 119

http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/Who-we-are/Governing%20Body%20papers/Supplementary%20Agenda%20paper%20improving%20primary%20care%20in%20Lewisham.pdf
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/Who-we-are/Governing%20Body%20papers/Supplementary%20Agenda%20paper%20improving%20primary%20care%20in%20Lewisham.pdf
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/Who-we-are/Governing%20Body%20papers/Supplementary%20Agenda%20paper%20improving%20primary%20care%20in%20Lewisham.pdf
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/Who-we-are/Governing%20Body%20papers/LCCG%20Governing%20Body%20papers%20WiC%20recommendations%206112017.pdf
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/Who-we-are/Governing%20Body%20papers/LCCG%20Governing%20Body%20papers%20WiC%20recommendations%206112017.pdf
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/Who-we-are/Governing%20Body%20papers/LCCG%20Governing%20Body%20papers%20WiC%20recommendations%206112017.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s53211/07%20NHS%20Walk-in%20Centre%20-%20public%20consultation%20update%20-%20011117.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s53211/07%20NHS%20Walk-in%20Centre%20-%20public%20consultation%20update%20-%20011117.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s53202/Item3A_NHSLocalGPServices311017.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s53202/Item3A_NHSLocalGPServices311017.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s51424/06%20Urgent%20Care%20Review%20New%20Cross%20Walk-in%20Centre%20-%20200717.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s51424/06%20Urgent%20Care%20Review%20New%20Cross%20Walk-in%20Centre%20-%20200717.pdf
mailto:Diana.braithwaite@nhs.net


 

8 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

Appendix 1: Proposed Alternative Models from the Consultation  

The CCG has reviewed each of the alternative models proposed as a part of the 
suggestions to the online survey and provided responses.  

1. Providing a 
satellite GP 
Extended 
Access service 
in the Waldron 
Health Centre; 

 The CCG will be reviewing the capacity of GP Extended Access 
Service in partnership with the provider of the service One Health 
Lewisham Ltd to support delivery of the national specification on 
appointment provision, type and length based on the GP 
registered population. 

 Providing a specific GP Extended Service for the north of borough 
at scale would not be equitable for patients registered with 
practices in the south of the borough as use of the Walk-in Centre 
(predominantly used by GP practices in the north) has 
demonstrated.  

 A centralised GP Extended Access Service at the University of 
Hospital Lewisham provides a more equitable co-located solution 
with the Urgent Care Centre for the entire borough and value for 
money underpinned by a single infrastructure. 

2. A walk-in 
service for the 
homeless; 

 

 The CCG currently commissions two GP practices who provide 
Enhanced GP services to the four hostels in Lewisham. However, 
these services support those who are known to agencies and 
access the hostels. On completing the Equalities Impact 
Assessment and the joint Homeless Summit with Lewisham 
Council; the CCG has committed to commissioning a pilot 
homeless service for rough sleepers for Deptford and New Cross 
located at the Waldron Health Centre. The intention is for the pilot 
for provide both walk-in and outreach GP services.  

3. Getting GP 
practices to 
extend their 
hours; 

 

 The majority of Lewisham practices are already extending their 
opening hours to provide appointments at times outside of their 
core contracted hours. This is funded through the national 
‘Extended Hours Direct Enhanced Service’. Your local practice 
will publish their current extended hours on their website or at the 
surgery. 

 Lewisham has also commissioned the GP Extended Access 
Service, which provided 25,424 GP and Nurse appointments in 
2017 and will increase to 29,914 appointments this year – 
providing coverage 7 days a week, 8am-8pm and 365 days per 
year. 

4. Re-introducing 
same day 
appointments at 
the GP 
practices; 

 

 The local qualification for Personal Medical Services (PMS) 
contract, which was implemented on 1st January 2018 stipulates 
the following for GP practices in Lewisham; 

‘If clinically urgent, a patient is able to book an appointment on the 
same day’ and ‘Where it has been deemed that the patient has a 
clinical need to be seen on the same day, they will be able to do 
so. Consultations could be face-to-face or on the phone (or video 
phone) or at the locally commissioned Extended Access service, 
but will be provided by a GP or an appropriately skilled 
appropriately skilled health professional, as appropriate.’ 

5. Same day 
triaging at GP 
practices; 

 Same day triage is currently carried out at many GP practices 
across Lewisham and the CCG will be working towards this being 
available at all practices to implement the local qualification 
outlined in response 4. 

Page 120



 

9 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

  This will apply for both children and adults. If it is not urgent then 
the person may be given a routine appointment or advice on how 
to self-care a condition such as a cold or hay fever or signposted 
to the nearest pharmacy for over-the counter medicines. 

6. Charge patients  
£20 for a same 
day GP 
appointment; 

 There are no plans either locally or nationally to charge NHS 
patients for a same day GP appointment. 

7. Providing walk-
in appointments 
at GP practices;  

8. Clearer 
appointment 
systems; 

 Some GP practices in Lewisham provide walk-in appointments. 
Your local practice will publish details of the appointments on their 
website or at the surgery. 

 Each year NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group invests 
an ‘additional premium payment’ of £3.2m to GP practices 
providing core services to patients. As a part of the local PMS 
Premium GP practices (effective from 1st January 2018) are 
required to undertake a self-assessment of their current access 
arrangements/approaches and to develop an action plan to 
address any areas of challenge.  

 Areas of focus to be included as part of the self-assessment and 
action plan are: 
 Use of Online services 
 Patient information on Practice website and NHS Choices 
 Use of telephone triage 
 Sign posting to alternative services 
 Receptionist training 
 Appointment mix 
 Review of Extended Hours Enhanced Service provision 
 Engagement with practice Patient Participation Groups to 

discuss challenges and potential solutions 
 Review referrals to the GP Extended Access Service 

9. Increase the use 
Clinical 
Pharmacist or 
Nurse 
Practitioners;  

 There are already a number of Clinical Pharmacists and Nurse 
Practitioners working with practices in Lewisham. 

 Lewisham has also been successful in securing national GP 
Forward View funding to support Clinical Pharmacists working in 
practices.  

10. Provide STD 
test at GP 
practices;  

 Sexual health services are commissioned by Lewisham Council 
and full details of the local services are available at 
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/health/sexual
-health/Pages/default.aspx  

 Online requests for Chlamydia Home Testing Kits for patients 
aged between 16-24 years old can be made at 
https://www.checkurself.org.uk/  

11. Fast track 
service for the 
elderly and 
children; 

 Most GP practices in Lewisham will prioritise children and the 
elderly. See response 4. 

12. Register student 
as part of 
enrolling; 

 The CCG has committed to working Goldsmiths College on a 
rolling communications programme to support students to register 
with locally with a GP. 

13. Provide a 
named GP for 

 From 31st March 2016 the national GP contract required all 
patients (including children) to have a 'named accountable GP’. 

Page 121

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/health/sexual-health/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/health/sexual-health/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.checkurself.org.uk/


 

10 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

each patient;   The contract requires the ‘named accountable GP’ to take 
responsibility for the co-ordination of all appropriate services 
required under the contract and ensure they are delivered to each 
of their patients where required (based on the clinical judgement 
of the named accountable GP). 

14. Provide online 
booking;  

 All Lewisham practices offer patients the ability to book 
appointments online, to request repeat prescriptions and to view 
their own medical record. These online services’ are free and 
everyone who is registered with a GP practice can access the 
services. 

 In 2016/17, Lewisham CCG ran a successful campaign to 
encourage more people to sign up for the patient online services  
As a result of the campaign, in Lewisham has the highest 
percentage of practices in London with more than 20% of patients 
registered to use online services.  

15. Provide a 
diagnostic 
centre at the 
Waldron (e.g. 
ultrasound and 
x-ray);  

 There has been no evidence as part of the consultation and a 
review of the presenting conditions, which are for minor ailments 
that diagnostic services such as ultrasound and x-ray are 
required. 

16. Develop more 
alternative care;  

 The CCG is currently supporting alternatives to traditional GP 
access including the CCG commissioned Pharmacy First scheme 
which provides advice, treatment and medicines for common 
ailments from your local pharmacy. 

 The CCG will be launching its self-care programme in January 
2018, which provides advice and support for residents; 
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/your-health/Pages/Selfcare.aspx  

 We are also working with local partners to support patients with 
more socially related problems through the preventative social 
prescribing project, Community Connections (delivered by Age 
UK Lewisham and Southwark in partnership with a number of 
voluntary sector organisations in Lewisham) and Safe and 
Independent Living (SAIL) programmes. 

17. Expand 
SELDOC;  

 South East London Doctors Co-operative (SELDOC) is the GP 
out of hours provider for Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham.  

 SELODOC are also the current providers of the Primary Care 
Assessment Service Pilot based at the Urgent Care Centre, 
University Hospital Lewisham, which seeing and treating patients 
with urgent primary care needs. 

18. Offer wellness 
and preventative 
groups;  

 Lewisham CCG is currently supporting patients to better self-care 
and self-manage through programmes such as LEEP (Lung 
Exercise and Education Programme) for COPD patients and 
DAFNE (Dose Adjustment for Normal Eating Programme) and 
DESMOND (Diabetes Education for Self-Management for On-
going and Newly Diagnosed) for diabetic patients.  

 We are also implementing preventative programmes such as the 
Diabetes prevention programme for those at risk of developing 
diabetes. Since April 2017, over 300 Lewisham patients have 
been referred to the programme. 

19. Turn the  Lewisham CCG is supporting practices to consider working more 

Page 122

http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/your-health/Pages/Selfcare.aspx


 

11 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

Waldron Health 
Centre into one 
good GP facility;  

collaboratively to provide resilience and sustainability and in 
2017/18 have provided direct funding to GP practices.  

 The Pilot Homeless Service for Rough Sleepers in Deptford and 
New Cross will be commissioned from an alliance/partnership of 
GP practices located in the Waldron Health Centre. 

 We are also reviewing with local health and care partners all 
services located at the Waldron Health Centre with the aim of:  
 ensuring that the optimum mix of services is provided 
 maximising utilisation of the estate 
 supporting the integration of services 

20. Develop video 
or Skype 
consultations; 

 Lewisham has successfully secured funding to pilot video 
consultations and also online ‘symptom checker’ technology at 
GP practices from the national GP Forward View. ‘Symptom 
checkers’ allow patients to enter queries and symptoms online 
and for this to be transmitted securely to their registered GP 
practice, as well as signposting patients to information and/or 
alternative services as appropriate based on the information 
provided.  

 We are also currently piloting the use of video consultations in 
Lewisham as part of the GP Extended Access Service. 

 

  

Page 123



 

12 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

Appendix 2: 4.4 CCG Response to procedural concerns raised by Cllr Joe 
Dromey, New Cross Ward 

 

Page 124



 

13 | P a g e  HCSC_FEB2018_WiC 

Appendix 2: Continued – 4.4 CCG Response to procedural concerns raised by 
Cllr Joe Dromey, New Cross Ward 

 

 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

  

 
HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES SELECT COMMITTEE 

 

Report Title 
 

Outcome of the consultation on the proposed changes 
to Linkline Community Alarm Service 

Key Decision 
 

 Item No: 9 

Wards Borough wide 
 

Contributors 
 

Executive Director for Community Services 

Class   Date: 7th February 2018 
 

 

1. Purpose 

1.1 This report informs members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee of the 
outcome of the consultation on the proposed changes to the Linkline Community 
Alarm Service.  Healthier Communities Select Committee were advised about the 
consultation on the 1st November 2017. 

 
2. Recommendations 

2.1 The Healthier Communities Select Committee are invited to: 

 Note the outcome of the consultation exercise and the following proposals: 

 

 To provide one level of service, Full Visiting Service for all new customers. 

 Increase Linkline charges in line with costs and inflation where it is provided to 

customers who are private rented tenants, home owners, living with family and for 

social housing tenants who arrange Linkline independently.  The proposed charge is 

£5.81 for Full Visiting Support and £3.88 for the Telephone On service.  

 In schemes provided by Social Housing Landlords to implement a phased increase 

in charges to achieve parity with other housing tenures. 

 In future, charges to be increased in line with inflation across all sectors annually. 

 That Lewisham CCG, jointly with council officers’ will review the way the financial 

contribution from Lewisham CCG is utilised to support people with dementia and the 

intention to conduct further consultation and assessment for Linkline customers who 

have a diagnosis of dementia.  

 Agree any relevant comments it wishes to make to Mayor and Cabinet about the 

proposed changes to the Linkline Community Alarm Service. 

 

3. Policy Context 

3.1 Preventative interventions are critical in managing the increasing demand for health 
and social care services, reducing the overall burden of disease in the population and 
have the potential to underpin the financial sustainability of health and care services.  

 
3.2 Preventative technology enabled care services like Linkline have a key place in future 

service delivery,  by providing care, early detection and helping older people and those 

Page 127

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

with chronic health problems to maintain their independence and continue to live in 
their own homes. 

 
3.3 Key national policy drivers in health and social care have placed prevention and early 

intervention centre stage, this sets the ambition for a strategic shift in how services are 
delivered. The Care Act 2014 placed greater emphasis on promoting prevention, 
wellbeing and independence.  In particular the Act places a duty on local authorities to 
promote individuals wellbeing by preventing or reducing the need for care and support.  
Evidence shows that alarm services can play a role in supporting a more personalised 
approach to care and support. 

 
3.4 The NHS England Five Year Forward View, asserts that the sustainability of the NHS, 

and the economic prosperity of Britain all now depend on a radical upgrade in 
prevention and public health.  How we adapt and innovate to take advantage of 
technology will be a key element of this upgrade.  

 
3.5 Assistive technology services, like Linkline support Lewisham’s Sustainable 

Community Strategy priority of:  Healthy, active and enjoyable, where people can 
actively participate in maintaining and improving their health and wellbeing and Safer; 
where people feel safe and live free from crime, antisocial behaviour and abuse. 

 
3.6 The services in this report also support the Council’s corporate priorities of Caring for 

adults and older people, working with health services to support older people and 
adults in need of care; and Inspiring efficiency, effectiveness and equity: ensuring 
efficiency and equity in the delivery of excellent services to meet the needs of the 
community. 

 
3.7 Lewisham Health and Care Partners are committed to supporting people to maintain 

and improve their physical and mental wellbeing, to live independently and to have 
access to high quality care when needed. Transforming the care that people receive in 
the community, so that more people can be cared for out of hospital, is critical to 
achieving this. Technology enabled care like Linkline plays a key role. The aim is for 
community based care to be:   

 

 Proactive and Preventative – By creating an environment which promotes health and 
wellbeing, making it easy for people to find the information and advice they need on 
the support, activities, opportunities available to maintain their own health and 
wellbeing and to manage their health and care more effectively. 

 Accessible – By improving delivery and timely access when needed to planned and 

urgent health and care services in the right setting in the community, which meet the 

needs of our diverse population and address inequalities. This includes raising 

awareness of the range of health and care services available and increasing children’s 

access to community health services and early intervention support. 

 Co-ordinated – So that people receive personalised health and care services which 
are coordinated around them, delivered closer to home, and which integrate physical 
and mental health and care services, helping them to live independently for as long as 
possible.  

 
3.8 The White Paper Putting People First:  Commissioning for Connected Care, Homes and 

Communities published in October 2016 represents a significant step forward in raising the 
profile of technology enabled care services (TECS) and its benefits.   

 

Page 128



3 
 

“Care technology, whether you define it as telecare, telehealth telemonitoring, telecoaching, 
ehealth, mhealth, digital health or indeed all of the above, when intelligently deployed, has 
a growing track record of delivering high quality care whilst reducing the cost of provision”1 

  
3.9 In Sept 2016 Adult Social Care savings were proposed to Mayor and Cabinet, this 

included a recommendation for “increasing the charge for Linkline”. At the time the 
changes relating to the Linkline proposal were not fully outlined and were agreed 
subject to consultation.  This report provides further detail on the proposed 
consultation. 

 
3.10 On the 1st November 2017 members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee 

were presented a report on the intention to consult on proposed changes to the 
Linkline Community Alarm Service and were asked to comment.  The Consultation ran 
from the 6th November until the 1st January 2018.  

 
4. Background 

 
4.1  A review of telecare and telemedicine was conducted during 2016/17. The aim of the 

review was to identify the range of enabling technology e.g. telehealth, telecare and 
other patient monitoring devices that were being used across Lewisham, establishing 
the evidence base and exploring new opportunities for the role of technology in the 
delivery of health and care services.  

 
4.2  A key aspect of the review was how the Linkline service provided by Lewisham Adult 

Social Care could be sustained in the current economic climate, providing for an 
increasing level of demand with reducing resources.   

 
4.3 The review highlighted the potential for Linkline in the context of the development of a 

whole system model of care to take a more strategic approach to the future.  Moving to 
a population health approach and patient access to patient health records will 
influence new models of care and there are opportunities for telehealth and telecare in 
the new environment.  For example, linking technology and data sets, risk assessment 
and predictive analysis.  

 
4.4 The Linkline service has introduced new and efficient ways of working over the years 

to contribute towards the Adult Social Care budget savings as well as creating a more 
efficient service for the Linkline customer. New technologies have assisted with 
reducing the number of times an ambulance service is called out and the incidence of 
A&E admissions. With a contribution from Lewisham CCG, people with dementia have 
been supported to remain at home for as long as possible with the help of a GPS 
tracker. 

 
4.5 In 2005 a report to Mayor and Cabinet on “Charging policy and future developments of 

the Linkline service” sought a 5% increase for Registered Social Landlords and non-
housing users and to support developing Linkline into an open access and self-
financing preventative service. 

 
4.6 Later in 2005 Mayor and Cabinet agreed to implement the new unit cost charging 

framework, and phasing in over three years under Fair Access to Care Services, the 
financial assessment framework. Since 2005 there have been periodic increases in the 
Linkline charge, although not on an annual basis.  Most recently, In February 2017 the 
Budget Report set out an inflationary increase of 2.5%.  

 

                                                           
1 Commissioning for Connected Care, Homes and Communities, TSA October 2016 

Page 129



4 
 

5. The Linkline Service 
 
5.1 Lewisham Adult Social Care operate an in-house telecare  and assistive technology 

service, 18 staff are employed to provide an emergency response service 24 hours a 
day, 365 days a year to people who may be vulnerable or at risk.  Many older people 
living alone and younger people with disabilities rely on the service to live 
independently in the community. In September 2017 there were 4,843 Linkline 
connections. There are more connections than people because a single dwelling may 
have several connections.  

 
5.2 The Linkline service includes a home telephone unit and an emergency button, this 

can be fixed or worn as a pendant.  When the button is pressed by the customer or 
activated by a telecare sensor an alert is raised at the control centre. Appropriate 
action is then taken by staff at the control centre, this may be to contact relatives, 
friends, to call the emergency services or for the Linkline staff to respond by visiting 
the customer at home.  

 
5.3 A connection may be linked to a door entry system, for example in a sheltered housing 

scheme, hard wired in the home or be a pendant alarm that can be worn by the 
customer.   2,181 connections are in homes in the community, this might be in private 
rented accommodation or in the homes of owner occupiers. There are fourteen Social 
Housing Providers who have a contract with Linkline to deliver telecare in their 
accommodation, this accounts for 2,662 connections. 

 
5.4 Linkline provide two levels of service. The Full Visiting service, where the Linkline 

Service hold keys for the customer, if the alarm is activated Linkline staff will visit the 
person’s home to assist. The Telephone on response is where the Linkline Service 
hold the telephone numbers of family and friends.  If an alarm is activated staff will 
contact a relative/friend who will assist.  There are 2,634 people who have a full 
visiting service and 748 who have a Telephone On service. 

 
5.5 Most Linkline Customers have been assessed by Adult Social Care and then are 

referred to Linkline.  However, some people access Linkline directly, for themselves or 
on behalf of a relative. On the 1st December 2017 there were 657 private Linkline 
customers, the majority of private customers receive a Full Visiting Service.   

 
5.6 Linkline customers range in age from under 60 to 100 and there are 17 people over 

the age of 100 living independently in the community.  The age profile of people 
receiving support in the dispersed units is older which reflects the growing number of 
people presenting for social care services later in life as well as the number of people 
who are living longer often with complex health conditions.  

 
6. Additional services provided by Linkline  

 
6.1 For people with dementia a variety of additional equipment, in the form of sensors can 

also be added to the basic alarm package. These sensors protect against 
environmental hazards, for example fire, flooding and the threat of intruders.  If 
someone has a diagnosis of dementia the Linkline service is provided free of charge.    
 

6.2 For someone with a cognitive impairment the equipment can assist in managing risks 
which may threaten their ability to live independently.  This might include dangers 
associated with unlit gas appliances, carbon monoxide or where someone may be 
prone to walking away from home.  The sensors are available to people who have had 
a social work or occupational therapy assessment.   

 

Page 130



5 
 

7. The proposed service changes for consultation 

The Council consulted on the following proposals: 

7.1 Proposal to have one service offer – Full Visiting Service for new customers 

7.1.1 There are two levels of service provided by Linkline. Full Visiting service, this is 
where the Linkline Service holds keys for the service user, if the alarm is activated 
Linkline staff will visit the person’s home to assist.  

7.1.2 Telephone on response, this is where the Linkline Service retains the telephone 

numbers of the customer’s family and friends.  If an alarm is activated staff will contact 

the designated person who will then respond.   

7.1.3 The proposal is to stop offering the ‘Telephone On’ service for all new service users 

and instead to provide a ‘Full Visiting Service’.  Current service users will not be 

affected.   

7.1.4 The different levels of service were established to provide choice, for those who have 

relatives and friends living locally the Telephone On service is a good option.  

However, the number of people who have that support has reduced over recent years, 

this is evidenced in cases where the nominated individual is not available to respond. 

When this happens the only option is for Linkline to call the appropriate emergency 

service or visit the service themselves. 

7.1.5 For more frail customers there is an advantage in having a responsive service that can 

provide help in an emergency, for example help lifting after a fall. This fits with the aim 

of having a more preventative and holistic service. 

7.1.6 The majority of customers, 75% receive a Full Visiting Service, with less than 25% 

receiving the Telephone On service, the number reducing  by 16% in the last year. 31 

people receive a combination of the two services and this is based on a longstanding 

arrangement with a housing provider, this service is not available for new customers.  

7.1.7 The proposal to change the service offer has an implication for the capacity of the 

service to deliver and for future staffing arrangements, although the impact is likely to 

be gradual in line with new referrals.  Based on the current activity figures there will be 

an increase in activity in alerts that come through to Linkline. However, the main 

change will be the need for Linkline to provide a visiting response to additional 

customers.   

7.1.8 Telephone On customers make up 20% of all Linkline customers.  A 20% increase in 

activity for the service (modelled on 100% Full Vising Customers) results in 37 extra 

calls per month.  This would result in 2-3 extra response calls per day. Initially the 

increase in activity can be contained with the current staffing structure and the new 

staff rota will support this.  However, with this service change and the plan to promote 

and market the service more widely this would require review after twelve months. 

7.2.  Revise Linkline service charges and uplifts in line with costs and inflation.  

7.2.1 The weekly charges for Linkline are £5.64 for the Full Visiting Service and £3.55 for 
the Telephone On service.  In the last twelve years the charge for the Full Visiting 
Service has increased by £1.75 and £1.87 for the Telephone On service.  This is 
approximately 14 pence and 15 pence on average per year respectively over the last 
12 years.   

Page 131



6 
 

7.2.2 A benchmarking exercise has been carried out to see how Lewisham charges 

compare to those of other boroughs, direct comparisons can be problematic because 

services vary and the number of connections have an impact on charges. However, 

taking this into account the information shows that Lewisham Linkline charges are 

lower than many other boroughs, the gap being greater for the Telephone On service 

 

7.2.3 A key aim of the proposals was to achieve greater parity in charges in different 

housing tenures.  Housing providers are currently charged different rates, this is partly 

because there are different service offers, in many cases this is because charges do 

not reflect current costs which are based on legacy arrangements. Finally, people with 

a diagnosis of dementia currently receive a free service. 

 

7.2.4 For customers in private rented housing and home owners, consultation was sought 

on increasing the weekly charge for the Full Visiting Response Service, Telephone On 

and in where it is provided as a combined service. 

 

7.3 Linkline charges in schemes provided by social housing landlords – to consult and 

review charges with landlords 

7.3.1 Linkline provides assistive technology to fourteen social housing landlords with 

schemes in Lewisham and in other boroughs, including charitable organisations and 

Registered Social Landlords.  The service has been provided by Linkline for many 

years and contractual arrangements vary depending upon the type of scheme, location 

and service offer - visiting or response.   In total there are 2,662 connections, there are 

more connections than people because a scheme will have several connections in 

communal areas that will require monitoring e.g. front door, laundry etc. 

Linkline provide a service to the following housing providers: 
 
 

 Table 1.  Housing Provider Customers 

Abbeyfield 6 

Hexagon Housing Association 28 

Christopher Boones Almshouses 41 

Scotscare/ Royal Scottish Corp 45 

Lewisham Parochial Charities 49 

Affinity Sutton 61 

Phoenix Community Housing 78 

Hyde Housing 83 

Corporation of London 90 

Chislehurst & Sidcup 96 

St Clement Danes Charity 110 

London & Quadrant 132 

Optivo (Amicus Horizon Housing Group Limited) 229 

Lewisham Homes  1190 

Total  2,238 * 

 The number of connections varies from the number of people because there may be 
several connections in a single dwelling 

7.3.2 Linkline charges have increased in this sector since 2005.  However, there remain 
differential charging arrangements with housing providers which can result in different 
charges to tenants, this is also a reflection of the organisational remit of that Landlord, 

Page 132



7 
 

for example, charitable status, Almshouse or Registered Housing Provider.  Some 
Landlords add a maintenance charge on top of the Linkline charge. 

7.3.3 The contract with housing providers gives a reliable and consistent income stream, this 
is because the Linkline charge is collected by the landlord along with the rent, with the 
exception of one scheme where 19 tenants pay Linkline directly.  The proposal is that 
in future annual uplifts will be in line with inflation where Linkline is installed in social 
housing schemes. 

7.4 Review the service offer for people with Dementia 

7.4.1 Lewisham CCG provide a financial contribution of £95,000 per annum to provide 
assistive technology for people with a diagnosis of dementia. The funding is used for 
the installation of standard and specialist equipment and provides a free monitoring 
service for people with dementia. The number of customers with dementia has steadily 
increased since this arrangement began six years ago.  On the 1st October 2017 there 
were 456 people who received the service, this is a 135% increase since 2012. 

7.4.2 The increase in numbers of customers with dementia who receive a free service has a 
significant financial impact on the service.  At the end of 2016-17 the total cost of the 
monitoring charges were £125,792.  Other significant costs for the dementia service 
are the purchase and installation of standard and specialist equipment.  In 2016-17 an 
additional £54,164 was spent on the purchase, installation and maintenance of 
installed equipment.   In 2016-17 this resulted in an overspend on the grant of £84,956 
which has been covered by the Linkline budget.  

7.4.3 With the current rate of increase it is predicted that by the end of 2017-18 there will be 
over 540 Linkline customers living with dementia. It was therefore necessary to 
consider how the service is delivered for people with dementia and to ensure that there 
is equity between people with different long term conditions 

7.4.4 As part of the wider Linkline Review, Lewisham CCG agreed to analyse how this 
funding can be optimised giving consideration to new advances in technology that can 
help people with dementia to remain living in their own home in the community. 

7.5 Proposal for annual charges to be increased in line with inflation across all tenures. 

 

7.5.1 Since 2005 there have been periodic increases in Linkline charges, although not on an 

annual basis.  Most recently, in 2017 the budget report set out an increase in the 

charge of 2.5%. The proposal is that in future uplifts will be annual and in line with 

inflation.  The intention to increase Linkline charges will be set out as part of the 

annual budget setting process. 

8. The Consultation process 

8.1 The consultation took place over a six week period from the 6th November 2017 until 
the 1st January 2018.  

 
8.2 The consultation was in three parts: 

 Directly with Linkline customers who may live in private rented housing, social 
housing tenants, home owners and people who live with their family. 

 With Social Housing Landlords who have a contract with Linkline to provide a 
service in their accommodation.  

 Review of how the CCG funding to support people with dementia is utilised. 
 

Page 133



8 
 

8.2.1 The consultation survey (appendix 1) was sent directly to 1,998 Linkline customers 
with a covering letter, freepost envelopes were provided to enable the return of 
completed surveys. A further reminder letter was sent out on the 27th November.  The 
consultation survey (appendix 1) was also available on the council website so that it 
could be completed online.  

 
8.2.2 Five open access sessions for customers, relatives, carers and other stakeholders 

were offered at the Linkline Office in Ladywell. In addition there were 73 telephone 
enquiries.  

 
8.2.3 Local voluntary and community organisations who were identified as having a specific 

interest in this consultation, including Age UK, Carers Lewisham, Positive Ageing 
Council, Mindcare and Voluntary Action Lewisham were invited to complete the online 
questionnaire.  

 
8.2.4 During the consultation period Linkline managers met with eleven of the Social 

Housing landlords to review the current service offer. For the remaining three 
communication was by letter, email and telephone. 

 
9. Consultation outcomes  

9.1 Of the 1,998 surveys sent directly to service users, 756 (38%) were returned.  52 were 

completed online and 704 were returned by post.  This is considered to be a good 

response for a survey of this type. Only one customer attended the five open sessions 

that were held at the Linkline Office, although there were 73 telephone conversations 

with customers about the proposals. Three submissions were received from 

community and voluntary sector organisations. 

9.2 Overall the outcome of the consultation indicated that Linkline customers tended to 

agree rather than disagree with the proposal to change the service model and more 

people agreed rather than disagreed to revising the charges to bring them in line with 

inflation and other service costs. Although respondents remarked on the level of the 

revised charge, this will be addressed later in the report. 

10. Results of the survey - Background 

10.1 The majority of surveys (82%) were completed by Linkline customers, whilst 14% were 

completed by a family member or friend.  Less than 2% were completed by an 

advocate. 

10.2 87% of people who completed the questionnaire receive a Full Visiting service, the 

remainder have a Telephone On service. 66% of respondents pay for the Linkline 

service. 60% of people who responded do not receive a package of care organised by 

the council.   

10.3 The majority of respondents 54% are home owners, whilst 27% are tenants in social 

housing who purchase the Linkline service privately, 10% of respondents live in private 

rented accommodation and 4 % ticked the ‘other’ category, this included living in a 

housing co-op or living with family members. 

10.4 69% of people who answered said they felt confident that they had “local support 

available from family, friends or neighbours to respond to any call for help”. 18% 

answered no and 12% that they didn’t know.  

Page 134



9 
 

10.5 In response to the question about how frequently customers use the service 46%  said 

that they had not used the service in the last 12 months, 40% use it less than once a 

month, 5% weekly and only 10 people said that they used it on a daily basis. 

10.6 In response to the question ‘have Linkline staff visited you in response to an alarm, 

192 people said that Linkline staff had visited them in the last 12 months, whilst 533 

people said that they had not had a visit. 

11. Responses to the proposed changes  

11.1 Service Change 
 

We asked “To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposal to offer only one type of 
Linkline service (i.e. Full Visiting Service) to new customers “ 

26% of people agreed with 
the proposal (15% strongly) 

41% neither agreed nor 
disagreed 

11% of people disagreed 
(5% strongly) 

 

11.2 Changes to the charges 

11.2.1 The survey stated that for 2018/19 the proposed increase to the weekly charge for 

Linkline will be between the following ranges: 

 

Full Visiting Support  An increase of between 75p and £2 

Telephone On An increase of between 50p and £1.50 

 

11.2.2 Respondents were invited to comment using the free text boxes and this is captured 

in the table 2 below. 72 were positive remarks, compliments and people saying that 

they were happy to pay more for the service. 112 were comments about affordability 

and 13 people made comments about the appropriateness of the price increase. 

 

 We asked “To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposal to revise Linkline charges 
on a yearly basis to bring them in line with inflation and other service costs” 

38% agreed to revising the 
charges (6% strongly)  

36% neither agreeing nor 
disagreed 

11% disagreed  
(6% strongly)  

 

11.2.3 We asked if the proposed changes described in this consultation would stop the 

customer from using the Linkline service in the future. 73% of people who completed 

this survey answered the question with the majority 395 people responding no, nine 

people replied yes. 

11.2.4 The Survey asked “If you will be affected by these proposed changes, is there 

anything that the Council could do to reduce any concerns that you might have “? 

There were a range of comments, including finding cuts elsewhere, keeping the costs 

down and providing the service free of charge. 

 

12. Comments captured in the free text boxes 

Table 2.  Number 

Comments on the proposed changes to charges  

Positive remarks, compliments and happy to pay more 72 

Affordability 112 

Ensure increases are appropriate 13 

Keep Telephone-On Service 4 

Change to a charge per call-out 2 

Page 135



10 
 

Should be free / government funded / NHS funded 6 

Should be means tested 1 

Table 2 (continued) Number 

Comments on the changes – would it stop you using Linkline in the 
future  

No 395 

Yes 9 

Positive remarks, compliments & happy to pay more 42 

Affordability 80 

No, I need the service, I rely on the service 67 

Comments on the way the Council could reduce concerns  

Pay for it for me, it should be free 15 

Reduce the charges 2 

Find cuts elsewhere 2 

Keep the cost and increases down 16 

Get the government to find funding to help people 5 

Make sure there is a thorough assessment of costs and charges 7 

Affordability - Increases are not welcome 25 

Stop targeting the people who need the service most 1 

Keep us informed about the service - any changes, information about 
staff, etc... 2 

Do not take away the service, we want reassurance this will not happen 13 

Telephone-On service users would like to know how to transfer onto the 
Full Visiting Service 2 

 
General comments  
General comments were captured using the free text boxes, here are some examples. 
 
“I think that Linkline is a brilliant service and I have always felt safe with my service that you 
have provided me, and thank you so very much. If I have to pay that bit extra for my brilliant 
service I am all for it”. 
 
“I feel Linkline services need to help me continue to be safe in my home. I know if I need 
help at any time all I need to do is press a button and can't thank you enough for that”. 
 
“This service allows my mother to live independently, knowing that she can alert Linkline if 
any problems. A care package from the council would cost the social services considerably 
more”. 
 
“Great service for the people that need it. Worth every penny for peace of mind”. 
“The Linkline service is essential - it's worth the increased cost”. 
 
“This is a vital service for my elderly mother - without this round her neck she has falls. 1. If it 
had not been for Linkline she would have laid on cold floor with no help all night till the carer 
came in morning. 2. Plus recently got stuck on stair lift halfway upstairs needed rescue. Both 
me, her daughter, and son live outside of London”. 
 
“This service is a life saver and must not be taken away. I feel that I am not alone and 
someone is at the end of the line if I was to have a fall”. 
 
“The council saves a great deal of money by providing the service e.g. the emergency 
services, without Linkline they will be called out more often. Hospital admission is reduced”. 
 

Page 136



11 
 

“If the increases in cost mean that more old and vulnerable people come off the service, then 
the increased cost of care packages may mean that no savings are made”. 
 
13. Consultation  with Social Housing Providers 

13.1 During the consultation period the Service Manager met with eleven social housing 

landlords to discuss the service provided by Linkline, the current pricing model and 

plans for the future, for a further three this was discussed over the phone, by letter and 

by email. 

13.2 Overall the feedback from Landlords was positive, all were happy with the local service 

and the value of the local, personal and responsive service that can prevent 

admissions to hospital and help tenants remain independent.  The majority confirmed 

that they wanted to continue with the current service but with some changes to the 

number of connections.  

13.3 Some Landlords in response to the developing market and advancements in the sector 

generally were planning changes. One provider is reviewing how they use assistive 

technology across their organisation, another was planning on changing the service 

provision so was unlikely to recommission in the same way from 2018/19.  One 

landlord had requested a quote to take over additional services for out of hours 

telephone monitoring.  Finally, one of the Social Housing Landlords was interested in 

purchasing holiday visiting cover. 

13.4 Following a review of the unit costs it is proposed that the new charges for 2018-19 are 

as follows: 

Table 3.  
Service Offer Charge  

Telephone On Service (TOS) £3.88 per week per 
connection 

Out of Hours Full Visiting Service (OOHFVS) £4.64 per week per 
connection 

Full Visiting Support (FVS ) 
 

£5.81 per week per 
connection 

 

13.5 The Social Housing Providers currently pay different rates for the Linkline service. This 

is based on historical funding, subsidy and contractual arrangements.  The new 

charges will therefore have a differential impact on each of those providers and some, 

but not all of those providers may pass that cost onto the tenant.  The current weekly 

charge ranges from 64 pence to £5.64.  In percentage terms the range is a 3% to over 

600% increase. 

14. Review of the service offer for people with dementia 

14.1 For reasons outlined in para. 7.4 above the way that the CCG’s financial contribution is 
utilised to support people living with dementia required revaluation.  

14.2 Lewisham CCG have considered the legacy funding arrangements and have identified 
that a process of further detailed assessment, evaluation and consideration of the new 
advances in technology is required to ensure that  funding is optimised to support 
people with dementia. It is proposed that this work will be taken forward jointly by the 
CCG and Council in consultation with Linkline customers and other stakeholders.  

 

Page 137



12 
 

 

15. Response to the Consultation 

15.1 This section considers areas of specific concern by each proposal and sets out 

officers’ responses and assurances about what actions will be put in place so as to 

meet or minimise those concerns. 

15.1.1Proposal to have one service offer – Full Visiting Service for new customers 

15.1.2 Overall more people agreed rather than disagreed with the proposal to only offer the 

Full Visiting Service to customers. 26% of people agreed with the proposal, 15% 

strongly agreed with the proposal and 41% neither agreed nor disagreed. However, 

people did comment that they were very happy with their Telephone On service, 

particularly as it was a cheaper option.   

15.1.3 In response to this question, 11% of people disagreed and 5% strongly disagreed 

with one significant concern being raised more than once. This was that the 

Telephone On service would no longer be available to people who did speak English. 

15.1.4 “Please keep the Telephone On service as it is very useful for families who have an 

elderly relative who does not speak English”  

15.1.5 Existing customers can be reassured that the Telephone On service will continue to 

be provided in the same way, although this is a valid point for future customers who 

do not speak English or may have other communication difficulties.  This is of 

particular relevance as the service is aiming to increase the diversity in ethnic 

background of their customers. 

15.1.6 It is possible to minimise the impact of this happening by ensuring that a relative or 

friend of the customer is identified and able to support communication between the 

customer and the Linkline staff, this does already happen in certain circumstances.  

15.1.7 During the consultation some customers have chosen to move from the Telephone 

On service to Full Visiting Support as this will provide more help. 

15.1.8 Some comments were made on the impact of the service change for future service 

users and this was linked to the higher cost of the Full Visiting Service. This will be 

addressed below.  

15.2.1 Increase Linkline service charges and implement annual uplifts in line with costs and 

inflation for people who live in their own home, private rented accommodation or 

social housing tenants who pay for their service independently.   

 

15.2.1 A key aim of the proposal was to achieve greater parity in charges for people living in 

different housing tenures.  In the last twelve years the charge for the Full Visiting 

Service has increased by £1.75 and £1.87 for the telephone on service.  This is 

approximately 14 pence and 15 pence on average per year respectively over the last 

12 years. 

15.2.3 For customers in private rented housing, home owners and people who purchase 

Linkline independently feedback was sought on increasing the weekly charges and a 

range of between 75 pence and £2 for Full Visiting Support and 50 pence and £1.50 

for Telephone Only. 

Page 138



13 
 

15.2.4 The majority of respondents, 38% agreed to revising the charges with 36% neither 

agreeing nor disagreeing. 11% of respondents disagreed with the proposal and 6% 

strongly disagreed.    

15.2.5 Although more people agreed rather than disagreed to increasing the charge it is 

clear from the comments that people were very concerned about affordability and the 

level of the increase. Comments included. 

15.2.6 “People who live in Social Housing don’t necessarily have less money than other 

tenures” Several people pointed out that home owners and people living in private 

rented accommodation had a very limited income. 

15.2.7 Respondents suggested ways to save money, Stop making ‘happy birthday calls’.  

These are calls that are made annually to test the line, usually made on the customer’s 

birthday.  

15.2.8 “If people don’t press the alarm then can this been taken into account in the 

charging” 

15.2.9 A local Voluntary Organisation made the point that for “40% of people the current 

cost is not affordable”, the higher level that is proposed is “unaffordable” and wanted 

to highlight concerns about poverty for older people in Lewisham. 

15.2.10 More generally some people remarked that if the increase was too high, they would        

not be able to pay, they would have to cut back on an already limited budget or that 

their family might have to help out.  However, for some respondents their family were 

already paying the bill. For people who already pay for their own care, any additional 

price increases will have a significant impact.   

15.2.11 Once person observed that “People are paying for social care as part of council tax, 

and they have to pay for this on top of this”.  

15.2.12 Comments about how the impact can be minimised included “it should be free”, “find 

cuts elsewhere”, ensuring that there is a thorough assessment of costs and charges 

and seeking reassurance that the service will not be taken away. 

15.2.13 However, despite these comments, 395 people said that the changes would not stop 

them from using the service and 9 people responded that it would.  

15.2.14 The results of consultation provide a picture of customers who are more likely to be 

women, over 80, do not have care organised by the council, receive Full Visiting 

Support, own their own home and pay for their service.  This group are also less 

likely to make calls to Linkline.  If the increase in charge was implemented at the 

higher end of the range it would disproportionately affect this group. 

15.2.15 As a result of the review and after considering the feedback from the consultation it 

is proposed that there will be a price increase but that this will be limited to 17 pence 

for Full Visiting Support and 33 pence for Telephone On, please see table 4 below 

15.2.16 Although the proposed increase is minimal it may still cause some worry for Linkline 

customers. To minimise this happening support can be provided with further advice 

and signposting. For example, to Lewisham SAIL Connections who can refer people 

for advice around money, debt, home maintenance and the ‘warm’ homes advice 

including support accessing grants for home owners. 

Page 139



14 
 

15.2.17 In addition, some people may receive a free service if they have been assessed 

under the Charging and Financial Assessment Framework to pay a nil charge. For 

people who are being discharged form hospital Linkline is already provided free for a 

period of up to six weeks to help people retain their independence.    

15.2.17 The results of the consultation highlighted that customers wanted to be reassured 

that any future increases would be proportionate and based on a regular review of 

the costs and to be updated on how the money is spent, with the aim to keep costs 

down wherever possible.    

Table 4 
Proposed Increase in charges for 2018/19 

Service Type Charge 17/18 Proposed 18/19 Increase in 
pence 

Full Visiting Support £5.64 £5.81 17 pence 

Telephone On £3.55 £3.88 33 pence 

Full Visiting Support (Out 
of Hours) 

n/a  £4.64  

 

15 To increase Linkline charges in schemes provided by social housing landlords  

 

15.3.1 Based on the review of the services, analysis of calls and out of hours arrangements 

it is proposed that the new charges for 2018/19 are as follows: 

 

 £3.88 for Telephone On Service. 

 £4.64 for the Out of Hours Full Visiting Support.  

 £5.81 for the Full Visiting Support. 

15.3.2 Each Landlord has been notified individually about the proposed charges for 

2018/19. Some have confirmed that they would like to vary their service agreement 

with Linkline and one provider is currently conducting a wider review of this type of 

provision across their organisation. Therefore, individual arrangements will vary and 

potentially change in the future, particularly if Landlords choose to purchase 

technology enabled care from the private market. 

15.3.3 It is recognised that the potential impact of the price increase is likely to be significant 

for many of the Landlords.  Some, but not all will pass this increase onto their 

tenants. 

15.3.4 One Registered Provider made representation that the charges will be incurred by 

tenants because Housing Benefit does not cover support. They are concerned that 

the increase will have a significant impact on their tenants and their financial 

wellbeing. As a result they have requested a staggered increase over a period of 

years.   

15.3.5 Continuing with the present level of charging is not sustainable in the long term, this 

approach is also inequitable as people are paying different rates depending upon 

where they live. To mitigate the impact of the price increase it is proposed that there 

should be a phased period of implementations that will take into account the varying 

organisational and contractual factors.  The phased increase in charges will be 

implemented by Linkline officers.  

 

Page 140



15 
 

15.4 Review the Service Offer for people with Dementia 

15.4.1 With the current rate of increase it is predicted that by the end of 2017-18 there will 
be over 540 Linkline customers living with dementia. There was, therefore a pressing 
need to review the way the service offer for people with dementia is delivered and to 
ensure that there is equity between people with different long term conditions.    

15.4.2 Lewisham CCG have considered the legacy funding arrangements and have 
identified that a process of further detailed assessment, evaluation and consideration 
of the new advances in technology is required to ensure that  funding is optimised to 
support people with dementia.  

15.4.3 It is proposed that this work will be taken forward jointly by the CCG and Council in 
consultation with Linkline customers and other stakeholders to be completed by 
December 2018.  

16. Financial Implications 

16.1 This report describes the outcome of a consultation exercise with users of the Linkline 
service and recommends a series of changes to the service and to the charge to 
users. 

16.2 Likely financial outcomes would be as shown below. The figures assume that the 
number of service users who are assessed to pay nothing or a percentage of the 
charge would remain constant. 

16.3 The proposed increase in the weekly charge to individuals from £5.64 to £5.81 would 
yield an extra £8,700 p.a. 

16.4 The proposed increase in the weekly charge for Telephone On service would yield an 
extra £2,900 p.a.  

16.5 Phasing out the Telephone On service would, over time, yield an extra £5k p.a. 
assuming all Telephone On users were replaced by Full Visiting Service users 

16.6 Increasing charges to all the housing providers listed in the report to the rates quoted 
in para would generate an extra £400k p.a. though it is likely that this would be phased 
in over a number of years. 

16.7 These increases would achieve savings agreed by the Council as part of the 2017/18 
budget process. 

17. Legal Implications 

17.1 Previously, the provision of Linkline services to members of the community requiring or 
requesting the service, was made available through diverse statutory routes, not all of 
which required Social Care assessment.  As the service has developed, and with the 
introduction of the Care Act 2014, and the preventative support requirements it brings 
to the provision of services, the framework for the provision of the service outwith a 
housing support service and also as part of the service of supported housing, has 
made it necessary to streamline and clarify the charging structure. 

 
17.2 Local Authorities have duties and powers to charge for both Social Care and Housing 

services and should apply charging policies in a transparent and equitable manner.  
Any changes to such policies should be subject to adequate consultation, with 
information being provided so as to facilitate informed and timely response.  In making 
any decision, the Mayor and Cabinet should take into account the results of such 
consultation, having regard to all relevant matters, before coming to any final decision. 

Page 141



16 
 

 

18. Environmental Implications 

 

18.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report 

 

19. Equalities Implication 

 

19.1 An Equalities Analysis Assessment (EAA) has been completed (Appendix2).  This 

identifies that the groups directly affected by these proposals are predominately older 

women with a disability or health condition. This reflects the purpose for this service, 

which is to support people who may be frail or have a health condition and of the gender 

mix of this population.  The Linkline service will be required to monitor the impact of 

these changes on their customers on a regular basis (if these proposals are 

implemented) and to develop a plan of action to mitigate any negative impact.  

19.2 The Linkline service supports people who may be vulnerable due to age or disability to 
live independently in the community, we would therefore expect the profile of customers 
to be older than in the general population.  The majority of customers are over the age 
of 60, 35% of Linkline customers are between the ages of 60 and 80, 38% are aged 80 
– 100 and 17 people are aged over 100.  55% of Linkline customers are women. 

 
19.3 Fewer than 30% of customers report as having black and ethnic minority heritage 

compared with 46 % of Lewisham residents in the 2015 census.  This might be 
expected given the demographics of the borough and the pattern of the ageing 
population. However, this profile is likely to change in future years and the service will 
need to develop with this in mind.  

 
19.4 A key aspect of the consultation is to improve equity between customers who live in 

the private sector and customers living in housing provided by Social Housing 
Landlords. 

 
20. Equalities - results of the Survey  
 
20.1 The survey in the consultation has helped us capture further equalities information, to 

help assess if the proposed changes will have a disproportionate impact on specific 
groups. 

 
20.2 The majority 47%of those people who responded to the survey are 85 plus, 19% are 

between 80 and 84.  108 people who answered the survey were under 70 years of 
age. 68% of respondents were women.  

 
20.3 The majority of respondents who answered the survey identified as being 

English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British whilst the second largest group being 

Caribbean 12%, the third largest group being any other Black/African/Caribbean 

background 3%, Irish 3%, followed by any other white” 2% and African 1%. 

20.4 73% of people who completed the survey considered themselves to have a disability, 

36% having a physical impairment such as “difficulty using your arms or mobility 

issues which means using a wheelchair or crutches”. 

20.5 24% of people have a long standing illness or health condition such as cancer, HIV, 

diabetes, chronic heart disease or epilepsy, 20% have a sensory impairment, such as 

Page 142



17 
 

being blind, having a serious visual impairment or being deaf having a serious hearing 

impairment. 8% have a mental health condition and 1% had a learning disability.  

20.6 The information that has been gathered as part of this consultation exercise will be 
used in the development of the service, with particular focus on how people can be 
better supported with their disability or health condition. To increase the diversity within 
the service it is proposed that the service will put in place a plan of action to market 
and promote the service more widely.  Linkline will be required to monitor this data on 
an ongoing basis.   

  
21.  Crime Reduction Implications 

21.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report 

22. Conclusions 

22.1 This report informs members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee of the 
outcome of the consultation on the proposed changes to the Lewisham Linkline 
Service and the recommendations that will be presented at Mayor and Cabinet on the 
7th February 2018.  

 
Appendix 1. 

Survey Questionnaire 

Appendix 2. 

Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Report Author 

Fiona Kirkman, Prevention and Early Action Lead, Whole System Model of Care 0208 314 

9626 

Background papers 

Report: Consultation on the proposed changes to the Linkline Community Alarm Service, 

HCSC 1st November 2017 

 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1  
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
Linkline Telecare Service 
Consultation 
 
 
 
 

Information and 
questionnaire 
 

  

Page 145



 

2  
 

What is this consultation about? 
 
The amount of money that Lewisham Council is being given by the 

Government is going down. At the same time, the number of people 

needing our support is increasing. This puts a big pressure on services 

such as Adult Social Care at a time where there is less money to spend. 

 

Mayor and Cabinet is therefore considering a range of savings proposals 

about Adult Social Care, including the Linkline Telecare Service. 

 

The Linkline service is also looking to become more efficient, with better 

support, through investment in new technology and equipment. 

 

This consultation gives you the chance to share your views about the 

proposal to offer just one type of Linkline service to new users and also 

the proposal to revise Linkline charges on a yearly basis for all service 

users. It is very important that we hear from you and we welcome any 

comments you would like to make.   

 

Please note that this particular questionnaire is for Linkline customers 

who are either home owners or live in private rented housing, or for any 

social housing tenants that receive a bill directly from the Council for their 

Linkline service.  

 

Service users that live in residential housing schemes or who are social 
housing tenants (billed for their Linkline service by someone other than 
the Council e.g. as a service charge on their rent statement) will be 
consulted separately through their landlord regarding any proposed 
changes to their charges. 
 

The closing date for this consultation is Monday 1st January 2018. 

 

  

 

  

Page 146



 

3  
 

How can I take part in the consultation? 
 

Please complete this paper copy of the questionnaire and return it to us 

in the envelope provided. Postage has already been paid, so you do not 

need to attach a stamp. 

 

If you would prefer to complete this questionnaire online then you can do 

so at the following link: 

 

https://lewisham-consult.objective.co.uk/public/community_services/aac/linkline 

 

If you need this consultation in a different format (e.g. large print or Easy 

Read) or require support in a language other than English, then you can 

also contact us. 

 

Contact details are as follows: 

Email - linkline@lewisham.gov.uk 

Telephone - 020 8314 3141 

 

If you need help in completing this consultation, family and friends are 

likely to be the best and easiest source of support. independent advocacy 

is also available through Healthwatch Lewisham and Bromley. 

Healthwatch's Involvement Officer, Peter Todd, can be contacted on 

petert@healthwatch.co.uk or by calling 020 8315 1916. This service is 

available from Monday to Friday between 9am and 5pm. 

 

We will also be holding a series of drop-in sessions which you are invited 

to attend. These provide you with the opportunity to speak directly with 

Linkline staff about these proposed changes. Details of these drop-in 

sessions are as follows: 

 

 Monday 20/11/2017 (6pm – 7pm) 

 Tuesday 21/11/2017 (2pm – 3pm) 

Page 147

https://lewisham-consult.objective.co.uk/public/community_services/aac/linkline
mailto:linkline@lewisham.gov.uk


 

4  
 

 Thursday 23/11/2017 (2pm – 3pm) 

 Monday 27/11/2017 (2pm – 3pm) 

 Thursday 30/11/2017 (6pm – 7pm) 

 

Venue: Roseview 122 Marsala Road, Ladywell SE13 7AF.  

 

Please note that access to this building is restricted so please ensure you 

confirm your attendance in advance by emailing 

linkline@lewisham.gov.uk or calling on 020 8314 3141. 

  

Page 148

mailto:linkline@lewisham.gov.uk


 

5  
 

What is Linkline? 
 
The Linkline Telecare Service provides an emergency response service 24 
hours a day, 365 days a year to anyone who feels vulnerable or at risk. 
 
The Linkline service includes a home telephone unit and an emergency 
button, which can be fixed or worn as a pendant. When the button is 
pressed or activated by a telecare sensor an alert is raised at the control 
centre. Appropriate action is then taken by staff at the control centre. This 
may be to contact relatives or friends, to call the emergency services or 
for the Linkline staff to respond by visiting the customer at home. 
 
Many older people living alone and younger people with disabilities rely 
on this service to live independently within the community. Additional 
sensors can be added to the basic alarm package to protect against 
environmental hazards, for example fire, flooding and the threat of 
intruders. These sensors are available to people who have had a social 
work or occupational therapy assessment. 
 
Linkline responders are also increasingly being called out to help people 
up from the floor after a fall, which is known as assisted lifting. This service 
avoids the need for a hospital visit in most instances. 
 
  

Page 149



 

6  
 

What are the proposed changes? 
 

Please note that this particular questionnaire is for Linkline customers 

who are either home owners or live in private rented housing, or for any 

social housing tenants that receive a bill directly from the Council for 

their Linkline service.  

 
The following two proposed changes to the Linkline service are currently 
being consulted upon: 
 
PROPOSED CHANGE ONE: To offer one type of Linkline service to all new 
customers   
 
What do we do now? 
 
Currently there are two types of service offered by Linkline: 
 
The Full Visiting Service is where the Linkline Service holds a spare set of 
keys to your home. In the event that your alarm is activated, Linkline staff 
will visit your home to provide you with assistance. 
 
The Telephone On Service is where the Linkline Service has a list of 
telephone numbers for your family and friends. In the event that your 
alarm is activated, Linkline staff will contact your designated relative or 
friend who will then respond. 
 
More than three-quarters (78%) of existing service users receive a Full 
Visiting Service, with less than a quarter receiving the Telephone On 
Service. 
 
What are we proposing to do in the future? 
 
The Telephone On Service was established to provide choice for those 
who have family and friends living locally that could be depended upon in 
an emergency. However, the number of people who have reliable local 
support has reduced and demand for the Telephone On Service has fallen 
by 16 per cent over the last year. 
 

Page 150



 

7  
 

For some people with increasing frailty there is an advantage in having a 
responsive Full Visiting Service that can provide help in an emergency, 
such as a fall. This may also allow the individual to remain at home rather 
than visit the hospital unnecessarily, supporting our aim of providing a 
more preventative and wrap-around service. 
 
Therefore, the proposal is to stop offering the Telephone On Service for 
all new service users going forward and only provide a Full Visiting Service. 
 
If you are already using the Telephone On Service then you WILL NOT be 
affected by this proposed change. Your service will continue as normal, 
though you are welcome to change to the Full Visiting Service if this better 
meets your needs. 
 
 
PROPOSED CHANGE TWO: To revise the Linkline charges on a yearly 
basis in line with inflation and other service costs 
 
What do we do now? 
 
For those customers who are either home owners, live in private rented 
housing, or are social housing tenants billed directly by the Council for 
their Linkline service, the charges are £5.64 per week for the Full Visiting 
Service and £3.55 per week for the Telephone On Service. These current 
charges fall short of the actual costs of providing the service. 
 
Since 2005 there have been increases to the charge for the Linkline 
services but these changes have not occurred on an annual basis. In the 
last 12 years, the charge for the Full Visiting Service has increased by £1.75 
and the charge for the Telephone On Service has increased by £1.87.  
 
Please note that for those service users with a diagnosis of dementia, 
Linkline should be provided free of charge. However, we are currently 
working with Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group to review the 
service offer for people with dementia. 
 
 
 
 
What are we proposing to do in the future? 

Page 151



 

8  
 

 
Going forward the proposal is that charges for Linkline services will be 
revised on a yearly basis in line with inflation and other service costs. This 
is to ensure that the service is not operating at a deficit and that 
investment in new technology and equipment offers a better level of 
support in the future. 
 
Any increases to Linkline charges will be identified as part of the Council’s 
annual budget setting process. 
 
For 2018-19, the proposed increases to the weekly charge for Linkline 
services will fall between the following ranges: 
 

 Full Visiting Service – increase of between £0.75p and £2.00p per 
week. 

 Telephone On Service – increase of between £0.50p and £1.50p per 
week. 

 
These proposed changes will impact ALL existing and new service users 
that either own their own homes, live in private rented housing or are 
social housing tenants that receive a bill directly from the Council for their 
Linkline service. 
 
Service users that live in residential housing schemes or who are social 
housing tenants (billed for their Linkline service by someone other than 
the Council e.g. as a service charge on their rent statement) will be 
consulted separately through their landlord regarding any proposed 
changes to their charges. 
 
 
  

Page 152



 

9  
 

The questionnaire 
 
What follows is a series of questions about the proposed changes that 
have been described on the previous page of this consultation. You do 
not have to answer all of these questions, only those that you feel are 
relevant or of interest to you. 
 
 
Are you:  
(please select all that apply) 

□   A Linkline service user 

□  A friend or family member of a Linkline service user 

□  An advocate for a Linkline service user 

□  Other 

       (please specify)…………………………………………………………………….... 
 
 
Do you currently receive a package of care organised by the Council? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Yes 

□  No 

 
 
Which of the following best describes you? 
(please select one answer) 

□   I am a home owner 

□  I am a tenant in private rented housing 

□  I am a tenant in social housing 

□  I live in a residential housing scheme (e.g. extra care or sheltered 

housing) 

□  Other (please specify)……………………………………………………………… 

Do you use either of the following Linkline services? 

Page 153



 

10  
 

(please select all that apply) 
Yes   No 

Full Visiting Service (Linkline staff  □     □ 
visit me in response to my alarm)  

Telephone On Service (Family or   □     □ 
friends visit me in response to my alarm)  
 
 
Note: Only answer the next question if you currently use Linkline’s  
Telephone On Service: 
 
Do you feel confident that you have local support available from 
family, friends or neighbours to respond to any call for help?  
(please select one answer) 

□   Yes 

□  No 

□  Don’t know 

 
Do you currently pay for your Linkline service? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Yes 

□  No 

 
Over the last 12 months, how frequently have you used the Linkline 
service? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Daily 

□  Weekly 

□  Monthly 

□  Less frequently than monthly 

□  I have not used the service in the last 12 months 

Page 154



 

11  
 

In the last 12 months have Linkline staff visited you in your home in 
response to an alarm? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Yes 

□  No 

 
 
To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposal to offer 
only one type of Linkline service (i.e. Full Visiting Service) to new 
customers? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Strongly agree 

□  Agree 

□  Neither agree nor disagree 

□  Disagree 

□  Strongly disagree 

        
 
To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposal to revise 
Linkline charges on a yearly basis to bring them in line with inflation 
and other service costs? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Strongly agree 

□  Agree 

□  Neither agree nor disagree 

□  Disagree 

□  Strongly disagree 

  

Page 155



 

12  
 

For 2018-19, the proposed increases to the weekly charge for Linkline 
services will fall between the following ranges: 
 

 Full Visiting Service – increase of between £0.75p and £2.00p per 
week. 

 Telephone On Service – increase of between £0.50p and £1.50p per 
week. 

 
Do you have any comments about the proposed changes to Linkline 
charges for 2018-19? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 156



 

13  
 

Would the proposed changes described in this consultation stop you 
from using the Linkline Service in the future? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 157



 

14  
 

If you will be affected by these proposed changes, is there anything 
that the Council could do to reduce any concerns that you might have? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 158



 

15  
 

About you 
 
The following monitoring questions help us to be fair and inclusive in the 
work that we do. All questions on the form are voluntary and you do not 
have to answer them. 
 
The information that you do provide helps us to understand who is 
sharing their views and influencing our decision-making. It also helps us 
to ensure that nobody is discriminated against unlawfully.  
 
Any information that you do choose to provide on this form will be 
treated confidentially in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 
 

Age 
Please select your age group 

 Under 18  55-59 

 18-24  60-64 

 25-29  65-69 

 30-34  70-74 

 35-39  75-79 

 40-44  80-84 

 45-49  85+ 

 50-54  Prefer not to say 

 

Disability 
Under the Equality Act 2010 a person is considered to have a disability if they have a physical or 
mental impairment which has a sustained and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry 
out normal day to day activities.   
Do you consider yourself to be a disabled 
person? 
 

 Yes 
 No 
 Prefer not to say 

Please state the type of impairment that applies to you.   
People may experience more than one type of impairment, in which case you may indicate more 
than one.   
 Physical impairment, such as difficulty using your arms or mobility issues which means using 

a wheelchair or crutches 
 Sensory impairment, such as being blind/ having a serious visual impairment or being deaf/ 

having a serious hearing impairment 
 Mental health condition, such as depression or schizophrenia 
 Learning disability/difficulty, such as Down’s Syndrome or dyslexia or cognitive impairment, 

such as autistic spectrum disorder 
 Long-standing illness or health condition such as cancer, HIV, diabetes, chronic heart disease 

or epilepsy 
 Other (please specify) 

 
 

Page 159



 

16  
 

Ethnicity 
What is your ethnic 
group? 

White  English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / 
British 

 Irish 

 Gypsy or Irish Traveller 

 Any other White background (write in) 
……………………………………………………………………. 

Mixed / 
multiple ethnic 
groups 

 White and Black Caribbean 

 White and Black African 

 White and Asian 

 Any other mixed / multiple ethnic background 
(write in) 

……………………………………………………………………. 

Asian /  
Asian British 

 Indian 

 Pakistani 

 Bangladeshi 

 Chinese 

 Any other Asian background (write in) 
……………………………………………………………………… 

Black / African / 
Caribbean / 
Black British 

 African 

 Caribbean 

 Any other Black / African / Caribbean 
background (write in) 

……………………………………………………………………….. 

Other ethnic 
group 

 Arab 

 Any other ethnic group (write in) 
………………………………………………………………………… 

  Prefer not to say 

 
  

Gender 
Are you: 

 Male 

 Female 

 Prefer not to say 

 Gay / lesbian 

 Bisexual 

 Other (write in) 

 Prefer not to say 

  
  

Page 160



 

17  
 

Thank you 

 
Thank you for taking the time to share your views with us, it is greatly 
appreciated. The results of this consultation will be reported back to 
Healthier Communities Select Committee in January 2018 and Mayor 
and Cabinet in February 2018.  A summary report will be made available 
on our website. You may also request a copy by emailing 
michele.oliver@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 161

mailto:michele.oliver@lewisham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2. 

Equalities Analysis Assessment 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Lewisham Council has worked to increase choice, rights and inclusion for people with 

social care needs in line with government policy and legislation.  This has been 

achieved through a range of approaches including the introduction of personal 

budgets and the redesign of services such as Linkline. 

1.2 Lewisham currently provides a Community Alarm service twenty four hours a day, 

365 days a year to people who may be vulnerable or at risk. The proposal that were 

subject to consultation were: 

 To provide one level of service, Full Visiting Service for all new customers. 

 To increase Linkline charges in line with costs and inflation where Linkline is 

provided to people who are private rented tenants, home owners, live with family 

and for social housing tenants who arrange to have Linkline independently.  The 

Proposed charge is £5.81 for Full Visiting Support and £3.88 for the Telephone On 

service. This is an increase of 17 pence for Full Visiting Support and 33 pence per 

week for Telephone On service users. 

 In future, charges to be increased in line with inflation across all sectors annually. 

1.3 The Linkline service have separate arrangements with fourteen social housing 

landlords to provide call monitoring and response services in their schemes.  As part 

of this consultation Linkline have been conducting a review of these arrangements.  

1.4 The people who will be affected by these proposals are:  

1.5 All new customers who will receive the Full Visiting Support Service and live in 
private rented accommodation, home owners, with family members and people who 
live in social housing and purchase Linkline independently of their Landlord.  

1.6 Existing and future service users will be affected by the proposal to increase the 
charges. 

1.7 This Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken to identify the impact 
of the proposed changes on the protected characteristics.  The Linkline service does 
not currently routinely collect data on all the protected characteristics. It is 
recommended that this data is collected by the service as part of the assessment 
process in future. This EAA will focus on age, gender, ethnicity and disability. 

1.8 The EIA determines the likely implications of the changes and assesses whether or 
not the changes will disadvantage some groups or individuals more than others.  The 
EIA addressed the following questions: 

 Could the proposed changes affect some groups differently? 

 Would the proposed changes disproportionately affect some groups more than 
others? 

 Would the proposed changes promote equal opportunities? 

1.9 The consultation took place over a six week period from the 6th November 2017 until 
the 1st January 2018.  

 
1.10 The consultation survey (appendix 1) was sent directly to 1,998 Linkline customers 

with a covering letter, freepost envelopes were provided to enable the return of 

Page 163



completed surveys. A further reminder letter was sent out on the 27th November.  
The consultation questionnaire (appendix 1) was also available on the council 
website so that it could be completed online.  

 
1.11 Five open access sessions for customers, relatives, carers and other stakeholders 

were offered at the Linkline Office in Ladywell. In addition there were 73 telephone 
enquiries.  

 
1.12 Local voluntary and community organisations who were identified as having a 

specific interest in this consultation, including Age UK, Carers Lewisham, Positive 
Ageing Council, Mindcare and Voluntary Action Lewisham were invited to complete 
the online questionnaire.  

 
1.13 During the consultation period Linkline managers met with eleven of the Social 

Housing landlords to review the current service offer. For the remaining three 
communication was by letter, email and telephone. 

 
2. Assessment of Impact 

2.1 Consideration has been given to the likely impact of the proposals to stop providing the 

Telephone On service for all new customers and the proposal to increase the weekly 

charge by each protected characteristic highlighting where there may be specific 

implications and how any potential adverse impact may be mitigated against. 

3. Age 

3.1 The aim of the service is to support older people and younger people with a disability to 

live independently in the community, therefore the nature of the service means that older 

people are likely to be over represented as customers and so be disproportionately 

affected by the proposals.  The majority of Linkline customers are over the age of 60 and 

38% of customers are over 80.  

3.2 The age profile of people who responded to the survey was older than that of all 

customers.  47% were over 85 and 19% of respondents were between the ages of 80 

and 84.  

3.3 Current recipients of Telephone On customers will not be affected by this proposal as 

this service will continue for all existing Telephone On customers.  However, it will affect 

new older customers because the weekly charge for the visiting service is higher.  

3.4 To mitigate against this change and the increase in the weekly charge support will be 

provided with additional advice and signposting. For example, to Lewisham SAIL 

Connections who can refer people to advice on money, debt, home maintenance and the 

warm homes advice including support accessing grants for home owners.  The 

consultation highlighted that although customers tend to agree with the proposals 

affordability is a concern for older people.  

3.5 In addition, some people may receive a free service if they have been assessed under 

the Charging and Financial Assessment Framework to pay a nil charge. For people who 

are being discharged from hospital Linkline is already provided free for a period of up to 

six weeks to help people retain their independence.  

3.6 If these proposals are implemented the Linkline service will be required to monitor their 

impact on the number of referrals and take up of the service and of existing customers 

who cease to have the service.  

Page 164



Table 1 

Age Profile: customer profile 

Under 60  27% 

60 – 80  35% 

80 plus  38% 

 

4. Gender 

4.1 Women make up the majority of Linkline customers and this reflects the demographics of 

an older population, due to life expectancy disparity from the age of 80 plus.  The impact 

of service changes will therefore affect more women than men.   

Table 2 

Gender: customer profile 

Women 55% 

Men 35% 

Not disclosed 10% 

 

5. Disability 

5.2 The proposals will disproportionately impact on people with a disability or health 

condition because the nature of the service is to support people who are more likely to 

be vulnerable due to health conditions associated with ageing.  

 

5.3  3% of people who completed the survey considered themselves to have a disability, 

36% having a physical impairment such as difficulty using their arms or mobility issues 

using a wheelchair or crutches.  24% of people have a long standing illness or health 

condition such as cancer, HIV, diabetes, chronic heart disease or epilepsy, 20% have a 

sensory impairment and 8% have a learning disability. 

5.4 The information that has been gathered as part of this consultation exercise will be used 

in the development of the service, with particular focus on how people can be better 

supported with their disability or health condition using new technology. 

Table 3 

Do you consider yourself to be a 
disabled person? 

Yes  73% 

No  21% 

Did not say 4%  

 

6 Ethnicity 

6.1 Linkline service data shows that fewer than 30% of customers reported as having black 
and ethnic minority heritage compared with 46 % of Lewisham residents in the 2015 
census.  This might be expected given the demographics of the borough and cultural 
familial arrangements.  However, this profile is likely to change in future years and the 
service will need to develop with this in mind, for example promote the service with 
groups that are currently under represented.   

 
6.2 The majority of respondents who answered the survey identified as being 

English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British whilst the second largest group being 

Caribbean – 12% followed by any other Black/African/Caribbean background 3%, Irish, 

Page 165



3% followed by any other White 2% and African 1%.  The full breakdown is provided 

below.  

6.3 The change from the Telephone On service to the Full Visiting Service might impact 

disproportionately on people who do not speak English. This is because currently when 

an alarm call is made Linkline will contact a designated person who will be able to 

communicate with the customer (in Telephone on Services).  To mitigate against this risk 

during the assessment the service will identify a named contact for new customers who 

do not have English as their first language.   

Table 5.   Ethnicity: taken from the survey 

English/welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 71% 

Irish 3.8 % 

Gypsy or Irish Traveller 0  

Any other white background 2.5 % 

White and Asian 0.5 % 

White and Black African 0.2 % 

White and Black Caribbean 0.5 % 

Any other mixed/multiple ethnic background 0.4 % 

Chinese 0  

Bangladeshi 0 

Pakistani 0.4 % 

Indian 0.2 % 

Any other Asian Background 0.7 % 

African 1.5 % 

Caribbean 12.7% 

Any other Black/African/Caribbean background 3% 

Arab 0.14 % 

Other ethnic Group 0.85 % 

I’d rather not say 1.9 % 

 

7 Conclusion 

7.1 This analysis identifies that the groups directly affected by these proposals are 

predominately older women with a disability or health conditions. This reflects the 

purpose of this service, which is to support people who may be frail or have a health 

condition and of the gender mix of this population.  

7.2 The Linkline service will be required to monitor the impact of these changes on their 

customers on a regular basis (if these proposals are implemented) and to develop a plan 

of action to mitigate any negative impact.  

 

 

Page 166



1 

 

 
 
1. Summary and purpose of report.    

 
1.1 This report outlines the Adult Social Care Charging and Financial 

Assessment Framework, informed by consultation, in advance of 
presentation for agreement at Mayor and Cabinet.  

    
 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 Healthier Communities Select Committee is invited to: 
 

 Note the consultation undertaken  

 Note the changes to the Adult Social Care Charging and Financial 
Assessment Framework from the draft considered by the 
Committee in November 

 Agree any relevant comments it wishes to make to Mayor and 
Cabinet to inform decision making. 

 
 
3. Policy Context 
 
3.1 In allocating resources to adult social care services, the Council seeks 

to ensure that those with the most needs receive the community care 
services they need to maximise their independence and to enable them 
to live in their own homes in their local communities wherever possible.    

 
3.2 This supports the Sustainable Community Strategy priority of Healthy, 

active and enjoyable - where people can actively participate in 
maintaining and improving their health and well-being. 

 
3.3 It also supports the Council’s corporate priorities of: caring for adults 

and older people, working with health services to support older people 
and adults in need of care and; Inspiring efficiency, effectiveness and 
equity : ensuring efficiency and equity in the delivery of excellent 
services to meet the needs of the community. 

 
4. Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 
 
4.1 The Care Act 2014 provides a single legal framework for charging for 

care and support. Section 14 and section 17 of the Act enable local 
authorities to decide how they will charge for care and support services 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
(Mayor and Cabinet) 

 

Report Title 
 

Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 

Contributors 
 

Executive Director for Community Services  
Executive Director for Customer Services 

Item No. 10 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date: 7 February 2018 

Page 167

Agenda Item 10



2 

 

that are arranged and funded by them. The Council is required under 
the Care Act, to set out its approach to charging and financial 
assessment.   

 
4.2 In relation to charging and financial assessment, the Council adheres 

to the following national principles: 
 

a. ensure that people are not charged more than it is reasonably 

practicable for them to pay for care and support;  

b. be comprehensive - to reduce variation in the way people are 

assessed and charged;  

c. be clear and transparent - so people know what they will be 

charged;  

d. promote wellbeing, social inclusion, and support the vision of 

personalisation, independence, choice and control;  

e. support carers to look after their own health and wellbeing and to 

care effectively and safely;  

f. be client-focused - reflecting the variety of care and caring journeys 

and the variety of options available to meet their needs;  

g. apply the charging rules consistently - so those with similar needs 

or services are treated the same and minimise anomalies between 

different care settings;  

h. encourage and enable those who wish to stay in or take up 

employment, education or training, or plan for the future costs of 

meeting their needs to do so; and  

i. be sustainable for the Council in the long-term.  

 

4.3 The Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 

(at Appendix A) proposes no changes to the existing policy and 

practice, as agreed most recently by Mayor and Cabinet in 2015. It is a 

consolidation of current policy and practice in relation to adult social 

care charging and financial assessment into one comprehensive 

framework document.  

 

4.4 The creation of the framework document stems from a desire to bring 

together all relevant adult social care charging and financial 

assessment policy information into one purpose-written, public-facing 

policy document. Currently the totality of this information is solely 

available by referencing a range of sources including previous reports 

to Mayor and Cabinet. 

 

4.5 The framework is not intended to replace the various channels and 

formats of information currently available on the Lewisham website but 

is intended to be the overarching framework document that contains all 

of the relevant policy information. 

 

4.6 The framework will be routinely reviewed and updated when necessary 

eg: when Department of Health Guidance is issued in relation to capital 

Page 168



3 

 

limits, or if and when the Council makes a change to a relevant 

charging policy.  

 

4.7 The framework is in line with the Care Act and all relevant charging 

policy (and practice) decisions of the Council to date.  

 
5. Consultation  
 
5.1 Although no changes were proposed to adult social care charging and 

financial assessment within the framework, it was felt that a focused, 
proportionate consultation seeking feedback on the draft document 
could be beneficial to the structure, format and design of the document. 
 

5.2 The Consultation was open and accessible via the Council’s website 
from the 3rd of November 2017 to the 1st of January 2018. All relevant 
local organisations, as outlined to and informed by the feedback of the 
committee in November, were approached directly and invited to 
respond to the consultation. 

 
5.3 Formal responses from individuals via the Council’s website were very 

small in number. In addition to the public questionnaire on the Council’s 
website the Head of Adult Social Care liaised directly with appropriate 
colleagues and local support organisations to gather professional 
feedback, and the views of the individuals that the voluntary sector 
organisations support and advocate on behalf of.  

 
5.4 A number of voluntary sector organisations, who collectively provide 

support to a large number of adult social care service users within 
Lewisham, gave detailed feedback on the framework and offered to 
continue to work with officers to further develop the range of 
information sources and support available. 

 
5.5 The feedback accepted the necessity of a comprehensive framework 

outlining charging and assessment, for both the council and the public, 
and welcomed the intention to provide comprehensive information, but 
recognised the difficulties in pulling all of the information into one 
document in a way that is easy to understand.  

 
5.6 There was universal agreement that alternative summary versions of 

the information, as per the range of summary leaflets on the website, 
must continue to be used and shared widely with service users. We will 
also work with organisations locally to further develop the existing 
guides so they are as accessible as possible. 

 
5.7 Some specific changes were suggested in relation to some of the 

details within the framework and these are detailed below. 
 
6. Changes  
 

Page 169



4 

 

6.1 As a result of feedback received and some system improvement work 
that has been completed, the following minor amendments have been 
made to the framework since it’s consideration by HCSC in November, 
or will be taken forward in partnership with the support organisations in 
due course: 

 
6.2 Debt recovery  

Since the drafting of the framework, work has progressed with the 
development of a corporate debt policy. Therefore section 13 of the 
framework has been amended accordingly, and a link to the debt policy 
will be inserted when the debt policy is finalised and signed off. 
 

6.3 Financial assessment 
 Since the draft framework was written, ongoing work to upgrade the 

interaction between the Council’s charging and adult social care 
systems has progressed sufficiently to mean that the Council is now 
able to routinely implement cohort wide changes (such as DWP rate 
changes) automatically, rather than on a case by case basis. In light of 
this, the text in section 5 has been amended to clarify that actual known 
changes to both income and care packages will be used in an annual 
reassessment, alongside assumed income where still appropriate. 

 
6.4 Clarity and expectations 
 The level of detail in the document and presenting it in an accessible 

way is recognised as a challenge. To be comprehensive it is necessary 
to include the level of detail it does, however, officers will continue to 
work with Lewisham MIND, Carers Lewisham and others to inform the 
development of this and subsequent documents/summary versions in 
due course which will incorporate the specific feedback. 

 Additional text has been included to clarify that if there is a need for 
respite to support a person in remaining at home, this would be 
assessed as part of a care and support assessment and that this would 
then be calculated within the cost of the care and support package 
across the course of a year.  

 
6.5 Partnership Working 

In line with the suggestions from support organisations; we will 
continue to develop the capabilities of our upgraded computer systems 
to explore potential further developments around notifications and 
reminders. We will further explore options to work in partnership with 
appropriate support organisations to support people to provide up to 
date financial information in a timely manner. 

 
7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1 There are no proposed changes within the charging and financial 

assessment process, therefore there are no direct financial implications 
from this report. 

 
 

8. Legal implications 

Page 170



5 

 

 
8.1 The Care Act enables the Local Authority to charge for services 

provided, in accordance with Regulations and Guidance. In setting any 
charging framework, Local Authorities are required to consult both 
current and future potential service users, together with stakeholders, 
providing sufficient and accessible information to enable the proposals 
to be understood and a timely and reasonable response to be made to 
be considered as part of the decision- making process. 

 
 9. Equalities implications 
 
9.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty 

(the equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following protected 
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation. 

 
9.2 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 

regard to the need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 
9.3 It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment, victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote 
equality of opportunity or foster good relations between persons who 
share a protected characteristic and those who do not. It is a duty to 
have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed in the 
paragraph above.  

 
9.4 The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature 

of the decision and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a 
matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and 
proportionality. The Mayor must understand the impact or likely impact 
of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are 
potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will 
necessarily vary from case to case and due regard is such regard as is 
appropriate in all the circumstances. 

  
9.5 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical 

Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance 
entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations 
Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have regard to the 
statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn to 
Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The 
Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to 
meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as 

Page 171



6 

 

recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but 
nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without 
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and 
the technical guidance can be found at:  

 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-

codes-practice 
 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-

technical-guidance  
 
 
9.6 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously 

issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the 
equality duty:  
 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 
 Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities 
 Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities 
 Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public 

Authorities 
 
9.7 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty 

requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties 
and who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to 
meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as 
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more 
detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further 
information and resources are available at:  

 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-

equality-duty-guidance#h1 
 
 
For further information on this report please contact Robert Mellors, Group 
Finance Manager Community Services on 02083146628 
 
Background documents: 
M&C ASC decision 2015 
HCSC report November 2017 
 
Appendix A – Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 172

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/691
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/562
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/820
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/1461
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/838
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/838
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1


1 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

Lewisham Council  

 

 

 

Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment 

Framework 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

February 2018 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 173



2 | P a g e  
 

Contents 

Contents .................................................................................................................................................. 2 

1 Introduction and principles ............................................................................................................. 3 

2 Guiding principles ........................................................................................................................... 3 

3 Legal Basis for Charging .................................................................................................................. 4 

4 Charging .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

5 Financial Assessment ...................................................................................................................... 6 

6 Management of Charges ................................................................................................................. 9 

7 How the Contribution is calculated .............................................................................................. 10 

8 Charging and Financial Assessment of Non-Residential Services ................................................. 13 

9 Charging and Financial Assessment of Residential Services ......................................................... 15 

10 Deprivation of Assets ................................................................................................................ 28 

11 Charging for Support to Carers ................................................................................................. 30 

12 Pension Reforms ....................................................................................................................... 30 

13 Methods of Payment and Debt Recovery ................................................................................. 30 

14 Review of Financial Assessment ............................................................................................... 31 

15 Complaints ................................................................................................................................ 32 

16 Use of Financial Information and Privacy ................................................................................. 33 

17 Equality Impact ......................................................................................................................... 33 

18 Reviewing the Contributions Guidance .................................................................................... 33 

19 Phasing of changes .................................................................................................................... 33 

Appendix [A]: Choice of Accommodation and Additional Payments ................................................... 34 

Appendix [B]: Treatment of Capital ...................................................................................................... 42 

Appendix [C]: Treatment of Income ..................................................................................................... 57 

Appendix [D]: Household Related Expenditure (HRE) .......................................................................... 61 

Appendix [E]: Disability Related Expenditure (DRE) ............................................................................. 62 

Appendix [F]: Deferred payments ......................................................................................................... 64 

Appendix [G]: Ways to Pay ................................................................................................................... 66 

 

 
 
 
  

Page 174



3 | P a g e  
 

1 Introduction and principles 

 

1.1 Social care and support services are not generally free of charge - people have 

always had to pay a contribution towards the cost of their care if they can afford to do 

so.  The Care Act 2014 provides a single legal framework for charging for care and 

support. Section 14 and section 17 of the Act enables local authorities to decide how 

they will charge for care and support services that are arranged and funded by them. 

Income received from care charges helps the council to meet its statutory funding 

commitments and set a balanced budget.  It also helps to protect, develop and 

extend care and support services to ensure that high quality services are available to 

meet the needs of adults in the local authority’s area. 

 

1.2 Lewisham Council’s ‘Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment 

Framework’ has been designed to comply with The Care Act 2014 and relevant 

regulations and statutory guidance.  This framework will be reviewed regularly, and 

any changes agreed by the Council will be reflected in an updated document. The 

main aim is to produce a consistent and fair framework for charging and financial 

assessment for all service users who receive care and support services, following an 

assessment of their individual needs, and their individual financial circumstances.  
 

1.3 For the purposes of this policy, an adult is a client aged 18 and above. Section 14 of 

the Care Act 2014 gives the Council the power to charge adults for care and support. 

This applies where adults are being provided with care and support to meet needs 

identified under section 18, section 19 or section 20 of the Care Act 2014. 

 

1.4 Lewisham Council will refer to Care and Support Regulations (Statutory Instruments) 

and Care and Support Statutory Guidance and Appendices issued under the Care 

Act 2014, in all regards for specific guidance relating to charging and financial 

assessment, and as such, these statutory regulations form the basis of this policy.  
 
1.5 Further, more detailed information on financial assessment calculations, including the 

current capital limits are available on the Council’s internet site 
(www.lewisham.gov.uk), and on request and are also included within the appendices 
of this document. 

 
 

2 Guiding principles  

 
2.1 The Council believes it is important that people pay the contribution to their care costs 

that they are responsible for.  The Council adheres to the following National principles: 
 

a. ensure that people are not charged more than it is reasonably practicable for 
them to pay for care and support;  

b. be comprehensive - to reduce variation in the way people are assessed and 
charged;  

c. be clear and transparent - so people know what they will be charged;  
d. promote wellbeing, social inclusion, and support the vision of personalisation, 

independence, choice and control;  
e. support carers to look after their own health and wellbeing and to care effectively 

and safely;  

Page 175



4 | P a g e  
 

f. be client-focused - reflecting the variety of care and caring journeys and the 
variety of options available to meet their needs;  

g. apply the charging rules consistently - so those with similar needs or services are 
treated the same and minimise anomalies between different care settings;  

h. encourage and enable those who wish to stay in or take up employment, 
education or training, or plan for the future costs of meeting their needs to do so; 
and  

i. be sustainable for the Council in the long-term.  
 

2.2 The Council will seek to maximise income from those able to contribute to the cost 
services to maximise the budget available to fund the care of those who are less well 
off financially. 
 

2.3 Where the Council arranges care and support to meet your needs, it will charge you, 
except where the Council is required to arrange care and support free of charge.  

 
2.4 Alongside this, the Council will endeavour to ensure there is sufficient information 

and advice available in a suitable format for your needs, in line with the Equality Act 
2010 (in particular for those with a sensory impairment, with learning disabilities or for 
whom English is not their first language), to ensure that you or your representative 
are able to understand any contributions you are asked to make.  

 
2.5 Section 4 (1) of the Care Act 2014 requires the Council to establish and maintain a 

service for providing people in the area with information and advice in relation to care 
and/or support for adults and carers. In Lewisham this service is provided via the 
Council Website (www.lewisham.gov.uk) Carers Lewisham, Lewisham advice Finder 
and the Social Care Advice and Information Team (SCAIT). The Council will also 
make you or your representative aware of the availability of independent financial 
information and advice, when required.  

 
 

3 Legal Basis for Charging  

 
3.1 The Care Act 2014 provides a legal framework for charging for care and support. The 

detail of how to charge varies depending on whether someone is receiving care in a 
care home or in their own home or in another setting.  
 

3.2 The Act, together with the supporting regulations and statutory guidance, sets out a 

framework model for charging people whose eligible needs are met within a care 

home setting and in settings other than care homes.  These form the basis of the 

Council’s charging policy, except where the Council exercises its discretionary 

powers.  The Council will also refer in its financial assessment determinations to best 

practice guidance produced by the National Association of Financial Assessment 

Officers. 

3.3 Section 14 of the Care Act 2014 gives the Council the power to charge adults where 
they are being provided with care and support to meet their needs. These needs are 
sometimes referred to as ‘identified needs’ or ‘eligible needs’.  
 

3.4 The Council must follow the regulations and guidance issued under the Care Act 
2014. For example, in developing policies on charging and financial assessment, 
Councils must take note of the following documents:  
 

 ‘The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 

Page 176

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/


5 | P a g e  
 

2014’, which set out:  
o the power to charge for certain types of care and support;  
o the duty under section 17 of the Care Act to carry out a financial 

assessment if a council’s policy is to charge for care and support;  
o rules on the treatment and calculation of income and capital within a 

financial assessment (including notional income and notional capital 
where a person has deliberately deprived themselves of an asset);  

o rules on minimum allowances to be given within a financial 
assessment; 

o the power to charge costs of putting arrangements into place in 
specific situations  

 

 The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources)( Amendment)  
Regulations 2017’ which amend paragraph 17 of the 2014  Care and Support 
(Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations. 

 ‘The Care and Support and Aftercare (Choice of Accommodation) Regulations 
2014’ which set out the rules on the provision of an individual’s preferred 
accommodation.  

 ‘The Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014’ which set out 
the rules on when a council must, or is permitted to, enter into a Deferred 
Payment Agreement with an individual, for deferring part of their ongoing care 
and support costs. The Regulations also set out a council’s power to charge 
interest and administration costs of running the Deferred Payment Scheme.  

 The Care and Support (Preventing Needs of Care and Support) Regulations 
2014 which relates to the Council’s general duty to provide services which will 
prevent, delay or reduce the care and/or support needs of adults within their 
area. The charging and assessment regulations do not apply to these services.  

 ‘Care and Support statutory guidance issued by the Department of Health 
provides advice to councils on all aspects of the Care Act 2014, including 
‘Charging and Financial Assessment’ (Chapter 8 and Chapter 9) and 
associated Annexes.  

 
3.5 The Care Act 2014 also introduced a cap on care costs which limits how much 

people will pay toward their care and support needs over their lifetime. The cap is 
due to be introduced in 2020 and this framework will be updated and amended 
accordingly.  

 
 

4 Charging 

 
4.1 This framework and guidance applies to the following:  
 

a. Residential / Nursing / short term respite care  
b. Supported accommodation 
c. Shared Lives  
d. Home and domiciliary care services (including extra care)  
e. Day care, day care activities and day opportunities excluding transport, if 

provided 
f. Any care packages through Personal Budgets or Direct Payments 
g. Telecare/assistive technology provided following a care assessment 
h. One-off services: e.g., intensive house cleaning  
i. Telephone line rental and TV licences. However, this would be charged at 

cost unless exceptional hardship could be demonstrated  
 

Page 177



6 | P a g e  
 

4.2 The following services are charged at a standard flat rate and are not subject to a 
financial assessment:  

 
a. Funerals provided under the duty set out under the Section 46 Public Health 

(Control of Disease) Act 1984 as this will be charged in accordance with the 
relevant protocol.  

b. Day services or additional Adult Social Care services provided to those also 
accommodated by the Council in residential placements. 

c. Reasonable costs incurred by the Council for providing protection of property.  
d. The costs incurred by the Council or any of its officers in connection with an 

application to the Court of Protection for deputyship or any expenses incurred 
in the exercise of its functions, save as where these are recoverable from an 
alternative source. 

e. Telecare/ assistive technology purchased by individuals who have not been 
assessed as requiring the service but who wish to purchase it via the Council at 
full cost.  

 

4.3 As set out in Section 14 of The Care Act 2014, there are a number of circumstances 

in which people will not be asked to contribute towards their care or support cost. 

These include:  

 

a. Assessments of need and care planning 

b. Any service or part of service which the National Health Service (NHS) is 

under a duty to provide, including Continuing Healthcare and the NHS 

contribution to Registered Nursing Care.  

c. Intermediate Care - including enablement - which offers a short period of 

intensive therapies and support from health and social care professionals to 

help people promote or regain their independence. Up to six weeks of non-

chargeable support is available here, with charges beginning from the 

seventh week if support is still required.  

d. Community equipment and minor adaptations - small items of equipment or 

gadgets or small modifications designed to help you stay active and carry out 

everyday tasks without help from others.  

e. Care and support provided to people with Creutzfeldt-Jacob Disease.  

f. After-care services and support provided under section 117 of the Mental 

Health Act 1983.   

g. Carer services provided directly to carers to meet carers identified needs. 

h. ‘Preventative’ services provided directly by the Council to prevent or delay 

care needs becoming more serious (for example training to self-manage a 

health condition, or stress-management training for carers).   

 

4.4 Examples (not an exhaustive list) of exempt support are stated below: 

 

a. Provision of information, advice, and guidance about the availability of service  

b. Provision of assessment, including assessment of care needs  

 
 

5 Financial Assessment  

 
5.1 The Council has a duty under Section 17 of the Care Act to carry out a financial 

Page 178



7 | P a g e  
 

assessment (if an assessment of need has been carried out) and exercises its 
discretion to charge for services. The Council will positively seek to complete a 
financial assessment for you as soon as possible unless: 

 

 You are exempt as described under Section 4 of this document  

 You choose not to be financially assessed. (NB if you choose not to be 
financially assessed you will be required to pay the full costs of support 
provided). 
 

5.2 There are different routes where you may come into contact with Adult Social 
Services, and a financial assessment will be undertaken at the earliest possible 
opportunity. At the point of your enquiry regarding either the eligibility of access to 
services or during the initial discussion with social workers of the same, high level 
information regarding finances and representation will be requested so that you can 
be assessed and advised of the potential contribution you may need to make. 
 

5.3 If you come to us via the enablement service initially: a financial assessment will be 
requested by the social worker/care manager as soon as an ongoing package of care 
is deemed appropriate  

 
5.4 If you come into contact with us in any other way: as soon as the social worker/care 

manager identifies a need for a package of care they will request a financial 
assessment 

 
5.5 Annual Review: at either the start of the new financial year or the annual review date, 

a new financial assessment will be sent to you. We will calculate this using actual 
changes to benefit rates and changes to your care package and with assumed 
increases to your other income and costs.   The onus is upon you to either validate 
the information provided, or to provide correct financial information. The Council may 
interpret a failure to return a fully completed and signed financial assessment as a 
refusal to provide information which will result in you being required to pay the full 
costs of services provided. Should you experience any difficulties in making these 
payments you or your representative should contact social work staff to discuss what 
these may be and to request a financial re assessment if necessary. 
 

5.6 The financial assessment team will gather financial data wherever possible from data 
held by the Department for Work and Pensions, Housing Benefits and/or Council tax 
departments. They will also take notice of any financial information you shared during 
the initial care need discussion with social work staff. 

 
5.7 Where further evidence and/or information is required to complete an assessment, a 

financial assessment officer will liaise directly with you or your named representative 
as appropriate. 

 
5.8 The financial assessment team will undertake a full benefits check and signpost you 

or your representative, in writing, to apply for benefits you might be entitled to claim. 
 
5.9 During the care needs assessment process, the practitioner or support worker may 

also advise that you may have to pay a contribution towards the costs of your care 
and support, subject to a financial assessment. 

 
5.10 If you opt for a direct payment instead of a commissioned service, any payments 

towards care and support costs may be made net of your contributions.  
 
5.11 Any assessed contribution you have to make will not exceed the full cost of care and 

Page 179



8 | P a g e  
 

support, or reduce your income to below the minimum income guarantee (MIG) 
which currently is equivalent to Income Support plus a buffer of 25%. 

 
5.12 If you choose to have social care support commissioned by Lewisham Council, this 

will result in an invoice being issued. You will receive one itemised invoice for all 
support received. For example if you receive homecare and daycare you will receive 
one invoice for both services. 
 

5.13 Following the financial assessment, you will be informed if you are considered as 

able to self-fund your care costs, or of the weekly amount you must contribute based 

on your financial circumstances. You will not be charged more than the amount 

determined by the financial assessment, or the actual cost of your services if you can 

self-fund your care and support costs. Contributions are normally payable from the 

date care commences.  
 

5.14 If you only receive income support (i.e. you do not also get Attendance Allowance or 

Disability Living Allowance or Personal Independence Payment) you will be 

financially assessed but will usually pay nothing, but you must inform the Council 

immediately if your financial circumstances change so a reassessment can be 

undertaken. If your financial circumstances change, and leads to you being able to 

pay towards your care costs, you will be liable for the relevant weekly charge from 

the date of the change, regardless of when the Council was informed of the change.  
 
 

‘Light-touch’ Financial Assessments  
 
5.15 The Care Act 2014 introduces the concept of “light touch” financial assessments in 

the situations set out in statutory guidance. The guidance states that in some 
circumstances a local authority may choose to treat a person as if a financial 
assessment had been carried out. In order to do so, the local authority must be 
satisfied on the basis of evidence provided by you that you can afford, and will 
continue to be able to afford, any charges due. This allows Councils where possible, 
to undertake financial assessments by accessing Department for Work and Pensions 
information or through telephone discussion rather than visiting to verify financial 
information or by implementing low flat rate charges   

 
5.16 The main circumstances in which the Council will consider carrying out a light-touch 

financial assessment are:  
 

 If you have significant financial resources, and do not wish to undergo a full 
financial assessment for personal reasons, but wish nonetheless to access the 
Councils support in meeting your needs. In these situations the Council may 
accept other evidence in lieu of carrying out the financial assessment and 
consider you to have significant financial resources that would result in you 
paying full cost for your care and support.  
 

 Where the Council charges a small or nominal amount for a particular service 
which you would clearly both be able to meet and would have the relevant 
minimum income left, and carrying out a financial assessment would be 
disproportionate.  

 

Page 180



9 | P a g e  
 

 If you are in receipt of benefits which demonstrate that you would not be able to 
contribute towards your care and support costs. This might include income from 
Jobseeker’s Allowance.  

 
5.17 Ways the Council may be satisfied that you are able to afford any charges due might 

include evidence that you have:  
 

 property clearly worth more than the upper capital limit when in a care home, 
where you are the sole owner or it is clear what your share is;  
 

 savings clearly worth more than the upper capital limit when in a care home; or, 
 

 sufficient income and tariff income from savings available to pay the charge due.  
 

5.18 DWP information further supported by Housing Benefit and Council tax systems 
collection will form the initial basis of undertaking light-touch financial assessments  

 
5.19 Where it has not been possible to undertake a light touch assessment through the 

DWP, Housing Benefits or Council Tax system, or information exists which suggests 
a full assessment is necessary, the financial assessment team will contact you/your 
representative to verify contribution. The Council can decide to carry at its discretion 
to carry out a full financial assessment.  

 
5.20 Where the Council is going to meet your care and support needs, and it proposes to 

undertake a light-touch financial assessment, the Council will take steps to assure 
itself that you are willing, and will continue to be willing, to pay all charges due. The 
Council has the responsibility for ensuring that you are not charged more than it is 
reasonable for you to pay. If you do not agree to the charges that you have been 
assessed as being able to afford, a full financial assessment may be needed.  

 
5.21 When deciding whether or not to undertake a light-touch financial assessment, the 

Council will consider both the level of the charge it proposes to make, as well as the 
evidence or other certification you are able to provide. The Council will also inform 
you when a light-touch assessment has taken place and make clear that you have 
the right to request a full financial assessment should you so wish, as well the option 
of seeking independent financial information and advice.  

 

5.22 If you have capital in excess of the higher capital limit, you can request a ‘light-touch’ 

financial assessment. In carrying out financial assessments the Council will ensure 

that you retain at least the ‘Minimum Income Guarantee.’ This retained income level 

is designed to promote independence and social inclusion and is intended to cover 

basic needs such as purchasing food, and housing costs. Direct housing costs will 

only be considered where you are liable for such costs, i.e. you hold the tenancy 

agreement or are party to the mortgage. The ‘Minimum Income Guarantee’ ensures 

that you retain income to the equivalent of Income Support or the Guaranteed Credit 

element of Pension Credit, plus a minimum buffer of 25%.  
 
 

6 Management of Charges  

 
6.1 Under the Care Act the Council has the power to charge from the moment it starts to 

meet your care and support needs. The Council will notify you of the outcome of their 

Page 181



10 | P a g e  
 

financial assessment, in writing, within 5 working days of receipt of a fully completed 
pre-service referral being received from adult social care staff. Once the financial 
assessment team receive appropriate confirmation from adult social care staff that 
the care package has been agreed and implemented: the financial assessment will 
be backdated to the day the care and support started.  

 

6.2 It is the responsibility of you or your representative to advise the Council of any 
change in your financial circumstances as this may prompt a review of your 
contribution. 

 

6.3 Any increase in contributions due to an award, benefit increase, increase in other 
income or amount of capital held will take effect from the date of change in 
circumstances.  

 

6.4 In the event of a reduction of income or benefit received, any amendment to the 
assessed contribution will take effect from the date of the change in circumstances, 
provided the council is advised in writing with appropriate supporting evidence of the 
change within two weeks of the change occurring. 

 

6.5 Billing for your assessed contribution will be at 4 weekly intervals  

 

6.6 If you have a suspension in your non-residential services (for example because of a 

hospital stay) you may be entitled to receive a reduction to your assessed charge 

depending on the suspension duration. This may not be the case if you are in receipt 

of a Direct Payment and are purchasing services whilst in hospital. 

6.7 Any deviation from the timings above, whatever the reason, shall not invalidate the 
contribution due but will be taken into account if there is a dispute and/or arrears on 
the account.  

 
6.8 If you do not disclose financial information at the point of request; it will result in you 

being charged the full cost of your care and support. If at a later date the financial 
information is provided, any revision to the assessed charge may only be effective 
from the date of disclosure and may not be backdated, at the discretion of the 
council. 

 
6.9 Failure to inform the Council of additional income received eg additional benefits or 

inheritance that would result in an increase in the charges made, will lead to a 
backdated charge to the point of when the additional income was received.  

 
6.10 You have the right to choose not to provide your financial details to the Council. In 

such cases the Council is unable to undertake a financial assessment and you will be 
charged for the full cost of support you receive.  

 
 

7 How the Contribution is calculated  

 
7.1 When the Council assesses your ability to pay a contribution towards the cost of your 

support, it ensures that you maintain a portion of their income that is at least the level 
of basic living allowance (the Minimum Income Guarantee as outlined at 5.22) if you 
are receiving a non-residential service or Personal Expenses Allowance (PEA) if you 
are in a care home. 

Page 182



11 | P a g e  
 

 
7.2 The maximum contribution you can be asked to make per week to your care and 

support costs is calculated using financial information received from you and other 
information available to the Council. The calculation will take account of all relevant 
income and capital. Your assessed weekly charge will usually be the lower of your 
maximum contribution and the cost of the service.  

 
7.3 The income that will be taken into account includes: 

 all the benefits you receive  (except those listed in paragraph 7.12 below),  

 state pension, 

 occupational pensions, 

 any other income 
 

7.4 Full details of the treatment of income for financial assessment purposes is outlined 

at Appendix C. 
 

7.5 The lower Capital savings limit is currently £14,250. Capital below this limit will be 

disregarded in the financial assessment if you live in your own home or in a care 

home. The upper capital limit is £23,250. The council will apply this upper limit to 

your assessment if you are living in a care home. The capital limits will be revised in 

line with Department of Health advice. Full details of the treatment of capital for 

financial assessment purposes is set out in Appendix B. 
 
7.6 Savings between the lower threshold (£14,250) and the upper threshold (£23,250) 

will attract a surcharge of £1 per week for each £250 (or part of £250) to calculate 
your notional income from the savings. For example, if you have savings of £17,250 
the notional income from that would be £12 per week, this is calculated as follows: 

 £17,250 minus £14,250 (= £3,000) divided by £250 (= £12)  
 This is known as tariff income. 
 
7.7 Capital includes but is not restricted to any savings in bank or building society 

accounts; National Savings bank accounts; PEP, ISA or TESSA accounts; SAYE 
(Save as You Earn) schemes; cash; Premium Bonds or National Savings 
Certificates; stocks, shares, trust funds and investments in property, building and 
land (rental income will be included); or where someone else is holding any of these 
on your behalf. 

 
7.8 If there are joint savings with a spouse or partner, 50% of the total amount will be 

taken into account unless you or your representative can prove that the holding 
percentages are different. 

 
7.9 When calculating your maximum contribution for non-residential care, the value of 

your main residence occupied by you will be ignored. However, if the property is 
subsequently sold, the proceeds of sale will be subject to financial assessment. If you 
own a second property, 100% of the beneficial value will be taken into account. The 
maximum contribution you will have to make will be the full cost of care.  

 
7.10 When calculating the maximum contribution for residential care, your beneficial 

interest in all property will be taken into consideration for the purposes of a financial 
assessment. However, the main dwelling will be disregarded only if one or more of 
the following are resident in that property and has been continuously occupied by 
them since before you went into residential care:  

 

Page 183



12 | P a g e  
 

 your current or , former partner or civil partner except where you are 
estranged  

 a lone parent who is your estranged or divorced partner and who is caring for 
a child/children under 18 

 your children under 18 years of age 

 an immediate relative aged 60 or over  

 a relative who is incapacitated  
 
7.11 You will be assessed in your own right, and the income of your carer, parent, partner, 

or spouse will not be taken into account  
 
7.12 There are some forms of income which are partly or wholly disregarded and do not 

form part of the financial assessment. These include but are not limited to:  
 

 The mobility component of Disability Living Allowance;  

 War pension or £10 of war widow’s pension;  

 Survivors Guaranteed Income Payments (GIPs) made under the Armed 
Forces Compensation Scheme (AFCS)  

 Child benefit and child tax credit  

 The part of Attendance Allowance (AA), Disability Living Allowance (care 
component) (DLA), Constant Attendance Allowance (CAA) and Exceptional 
Severe Disability Allowance (ESDA) that covers care at night where the 
council purchases no element of night care. 

 Working tax credit  

 Savings credit disregard  

 ex gratia payments made to former Far Eastern prisoners of war 

 Payments made under the Vaccine Damage Payment  

 Compensation from personal injuries awards are disregarded for assessment 
purposes for a period of 52 weeks, with the exception of any part of the award 
provided to meet care costs. There are specific circumstances under which 
these compensation payments are fully disregarded for assessment purposes 
and it will not always be possible to ask recipients of these awards to make a 
contribution. Where you are in receipt of compensation for personal injuries, 
your contribution will be considered on a ‘case by case’ basis. But if you are 
unwilling to disclose the terms of any compensation payment then they will be 
assessed at full cost  

 
7.13 If you receive care in your own home, all costs incurred directly for your housing 

costs, mortgage, rent or Council Tax (net of related benefits) will be deducted from 
the relevant income, before calculating the maximum contribution you need to make 
to your care. If you are in residential care with a property which has been taken into 
account for assessment purposes, you will be expected to pay for the mortgage, 
insurance, maintenance and upkeep of the property from your personal allowance. 
Anyone living in the property will be expected to contribute their share. Further 
consideration will be given to assessments where you are in residential care but you 
were previously the sole or main breadwinner.  

 
7.14 Disability Related Expenses (DRE) – this will be considered when there are extra 

costs to meet your specific need due to a condition or disability where you have little 
or no choice other than to incur the expenditure, in order to maintain independence 
or quality of life. Examples of types of expenditure which can be considered are 
included in Appendix B: Disability-Related Expenditure, however it is to be noted that 
this list is not exhaustive. The Council will disregard these costs from any income 
where it is satisfied that the cost has been incurred by you as a direct result of your 

Page 184



13 | P a g e  
 

disability, and it is not reasonable for a lower cost alternative item or service to be 
used. Receipts and other evidence of expenditure may be requested. We will only 
consider expenditure where the service/item has been incurred by a 
recognised/qualified provider. DRE will be assessed on a case by case basis. 

 
7.15 In addition to the above, if your expenditure related to night care exceeds the level of 

the night care element of Attendance Allowance, Disability Living Allowance, 
Personal Independence Payment, Constant Attendance Allowance or Exceptional 
Severe Disability Allowance, any such excess amount would be taken into full 
consideration upon application and appropriate evidence of that expense. Full details 
are set out in Appendix E. 
 

7.16 Non-disability related expenses – the calculation of your maximum contribution will 
take into account such expenses as referred to in the Care Act 2014 Statutory 
Guidance. Some expenses − for example, household content insurances, water 
rates, etc. − are deemed to be afforded by you from your prescribed protected 
income. The Council will seek to allow additional costs, together with other essential 
expenses, such as service charges and ground rent that owner occupiers incur if you 
are not receiving related benefits to cover those costs. Essential expenses may 
include home maintenance (where this is not provided by a third party e.g. landlord or 
council and required for your health and safety (e.g. electrical, heating system 
repairs, home accessibility) and payments under court order (e.g. child maintenance)  

 
7.17 Dependants: The calculation of your maximum contribution will take into account the 

financial implications if you have dependent children up to 18 years of age or for 
whom you provide maintenance payments. In exceptional circumstances, regarding 
dependant adults ( e.g. those in full time education, post 18 and who remain resident 
at the your home or  reside temporarily elsewhere during term-term),  you will be 
required to evidence all financial support provided, as well as evidence that the 
dependant relative has utilised all alternative funding support.  

 
7.18 Your assessable income is worked out by adding together all identified weekly 

income and then subtracting;  

 any appropriate housing costs;  

 any income that must be disregarded in accordance with the Care Act 
2014 Statutory Guidance;  

 any disability-related expenditure; and  

 the minimum income guarantee (MIG)  

 
7.19 The result of that calculation is your assessable income. The maximum that you 

could be asked to contribute each week will be the lower of the assessable income 
and the full cost of the support being received. A breakdown of how the contribution 
has been calculated will be provided to you. 

  
 

8 Charging and Financial Assessment of Non-Residential Services  

 

8.1 If you require care and support in your own home or other community settings you 

must initially satisfy an eligibility assessment.  
 

Page 185



14 | P a g e  
 

8.2 The Council will charge for care and support delivered in your home and other 

community settings. Only where you have an eligible need will a financial 

assessment be required.  
 

8.3 Almost all non-residential community based services fall within the scope of this 

policy and include:  

 Home Care  

 Supported Living/Housing  

 Extra Care  

 Sitting Services  

 Shared Lives Service  

 Day Care services/activities, both building based and in the community  

 Respite  

 Enablement service after first 6 weeks  

 Housing related support services, housework etc.  

 Shopping services  

 Direct Payments  

 Outreach  

 Joint funded services – service users will be required to contribute towards 

the total cost of the services provided by the Council  
 

8.4 Meals in day centres are outside of the scope of the financial assessment since such 

meals are considered a substitute for ordinary living costs. 
 
8.5 If you receive care and support that is likely to be ongoing you will have your costs 

administered through a personal budget. A personal budget is the total amount of 
money we assess will be needed to meet your eligible care and support needs, 
inclusive of any required respite care. A personal budget includes the amount you 
can contribute towards the cost and the amount of funding support that the local 
authority will provide. Personal budgets may also contain funding towards care and 
support costs from the NHS.  

 
8.6 If you have an eligible on-going care and support need, the Council will calculate how 

much your personal budget might be, using its Resource Allocation System (RAS). 
This ‘guide’ amount is known as the ‘indicative budget’. Once the indicative budget is 
calculated, the care and support planning and authorisation process, taking into 
account your views and your agreed social care outcomes, will determine the final 
personal budget required.   

 
8.7 You might choose varied forms of care and support to meet your specific desired 

outcomes, as defined in your care and support plan. If respite is identified as 
necessary within your care and support plan this will be calculated within the cost of 
the care and support package across the course of a year  

 

8.8 If you are not self-funding your care and support costs you will have the option to 

take a personal budget as Council commissioned services, as a direct payment, or a 

combination of both. If you take your personal budget as a direct payment you may 

purchase alternative types of care to meet your assessed care and support needs as 

defined in Sections 31 to 33 of The Care Act 2014.  
 

Page 186



15 | P a g e  
 

8.9 The Council publishes guidance that sets out the criteria for care and support being 

managed through Direct Payments. This information is available on the Council 

website at www.lewisham.gov.uk , or on request in a leaflet format.  
 

8.10 If you receive your care and support costs through direct payments you will usually 

receive payments every four weeks in advance. These payments will reflect the 

agreed weekly budget, less your financially assessed contribution.  At the Council’s 

discretion some Direct Payments will be paid including the financially assessed 

contribution, and invoices will be raised for the contribution.  
 

8.11 Direct Payments will not be made to anyone self-funding their care and support costs 

unless this is agreed as an ‘exceptional circumstance’ case by Council officers. The 

reason for this is that in such a case the Council would be paying the Direct Payment 

amount, and then invoicing you to recover this same amount, which is 

administratively burdensome.   
 

8.12 As a minimum, your assessed contribution will be reviewed on an annual basis and 

you will be advised when this is taking place; this date is typically in line with the 

increase in state benefits and is at the beginning of April each year. Changes to 

circumstances may also lead to a new financial assessment being undertaken. If 

requested by you, your contribution can be reviewed, and if you feel it necessary you 

can request a further review of the financial assessment decision. Such a request 

would need to be supported with evidence showing why you believe an error or 

omission has occurred within the financial assessment calculation.  
 
8.13 The review procedure is fair and equitable. You will be given an explanation for any 

decisions made, and a chance to provide further information if relevant to the 
financial assessment. 

 
 

9 Charging and Financial Assessment of Residential Services  

 

Permanent admission to a care home  

9.1 If you have care and support needs identified that can only be met in a care home, 

you will need to pay towards your accommodation fees in the care home.  

 If your capital assets (such as savings and investments) are above the upper 

capital limit, you will need to pay the full cost of your care home fees – usually 

directly to the care home. 

  

 If your capital assets are below the upper capital limit, we will carry out a 

financial assessment with you to work out how much you can afford to pay 

towards your care home fees. This is called an ‘Assessed Weekly Charge’.  
 

 If you own a property, or a part of a property, or have a beneficial interest in a 

property, there are rules around whether this is counted within your capital 

assets or disregarded. See Appendix B Treatment of Capital for further 

details. 

Page 187

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/


16 | P a g e  
 

 

 If your care home placement is partially funded through NHS Funded Nursing 

Care, you will not need to pay towards the costs of your nursing care, but the 

care costs will be taken into account in the financial assessment. 

Exceptions to being charged  

9.2 You will not be charged :  

 If your care home placement is an ‘After-care’ support service provided under 

section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983, you will not need to have a 

financial assessment as you will be exempt from charges.  

  

 If your care home placement is fully paid for by the NHS through Continuing 

Healthcare, you will not need a financial assessment as that care and support 

is provided free by the NHS. 

 
9.3 Enablement services are provided free of charge for up to the first six weeks. Any 

services following enablement that are arranged by the council are chargeable in line 
with this charging policy document, and any enablement service still being received 
beyond six weeks will be chargeable from the beginning of the seventh week.  
 

If you are responsible for the full cost of care home fees   

9.4 If your identified needs indicate that you need to live permanently in a care home and 

your savings/investments (excluding your former home) are well above the Upper 

Capital Limit, we will arrange advice and support to help you choose a suitable care 

home that will meet your needs.  

9.5 Some important things to consider when choosing a suitable care home are:  

 find out from the care home what would happen if your savings/investments 

fell to the upper capital limit – for example – would that care home accept 

local authority payment rates or would they ask you to nominate someone to 

pay a Third Party Top Up? (This is an additional payment to make up any 

shortfall, paid by someone other than you). If you don’t have anyone willing 

and able to pay a Third Party Top Up, and it is possible that your 

savings/investments may reduce over time to the upper capital limit, you 

should choose a care home that will accept local authority rates.  

 

 You would be responsible for paying the full care home fees directly to the 

provider of the care home accommodation. If you are eligible for an NHS 

contribution towards Registered Nursing Care (in a nursing home), your care 

home will reduce the level of your fees by the amount of funding they receive 

from the NHS.  
 

 While you are responsible for paying the full costs of your care home fees 

(excluding any fees that the NHS covers), you are likely to be entitled to 

receive Attendance Allowance (if you are aged 65 or over) or Disability Living 

Page 188



17 | P a g e  
 

Allowance (Care Component) or Personal Independence Payment (Daily 

Living Component). These benefit payments will help go towards meeting 

your care home fees. More information on these benefits can be found on the 

www.gov.uk website.  
 

 It is important to seek independent financial information and advice so that 

you can make informed decisions about how to manage your financial 

resources. We can help you to access independent financial information and 

advice.  
 

 If, over time, your savings/investments reduce to approach the Upper Capital 

Limit, you should contact the local authority where you live to request a care 

assessment and ask for help with your care home costs. The local authority 

will also review your care and support needs at that time to make sure that 

the care home still meets your identified needs.  

 
Working out your Assessed Weekly Charge for your care home  

9.6 If your capital resources are below the Upper Capital Limit, and you don’t own any 

property or capital, we will carry out a full financial assessment of your income and 

capital assets to work out your ‘assessed weekly charge’ for your care home 

accommodation. We use national rules to do this called ‘Care and Support 

(Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014’ which are issued under section 17 of 

the Care Act 2014.  

9.7 If you have chosen to move to a care home that is more expensive than the care 

homes that we have identified to meet your needs, you will need to identify a person 

who is willing and able to make top-up payments – to make up the shortfall. This is 

called a Third Party Top-Up.  

 
How we work out your Assessed Weekly Charge  

 

9.8 The calculation of your Assessed Weekly Charge for your care home is shown as 

below, and may include the following where applicable: 

Regarded weekly Income  

+ ‘tariff income’ on savings/investments  

- Personal Expenses Allowance  

- Savings Disregard (where this applies)  

- Allowable expenses (where these apply)  

= Assessed Weekly Charge  

Regarded Weekly Income: is the amount of income you receive that is included in 

your financial assessment. Your income is converted to a weekly figure in the 

Page 189



18 | P a g e  
 

financial assessment. We use the national rules set out in The Care and Support 

(Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 and The Care and 

Support Statutory Guidance: Annex C: Treatment of Income when working out how 

much of your income should be regarded in your financial assessment for permanent 

care home accommodation.  

Tariff Income on savings / investments: is a weekly amount calculated from 

capital assets (such as savings and investments) that are not disregarded. The 

weekly amount is added to your regarded income in your financial assessment. The 

way in which ‘tariff income is calculated is shown in Appendix B – Capital Limits 

Schedule We use the national rules set out in The Care and Support (Charging and 

Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 and The Care and Support Statutory 

Guidance: Annex B: Treatment of Capital when working out how much of your capital 

(such as savings and investments), should be regarded in your financial assessment 

for permanent care home accommodation.  

Personal Expenses Allowance: Your financial assessment will always make sure 

you are left with an amount for you to use for your day-to-day personal expenses in 

the care home. There is a standard amount for this Personal Expenses Allowance 

set out in The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) 

Regulations 2014 which is reviewed each year by the Government.  

Savings Disregard: If you are aged 65 or over, and you are in permanent residential 

accommodation and have more than a basic pension income, or savings, you may 

be given an additional allowance called a ‘Savings Disregard’ allowance. This is 

calculated using the national rules set out in The Care and Support (Charging and 

Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014.  

Other specified allowances   

 The rules allow councils discretion to increase the Personal Expenses 

Allowance where it would not be appropriate to leave a person with only the 

standard Personal Expenses Allowance. For example – a person with a 

dependent child.  

 

 In certain situations, allowances for continuing home commitments (for 

example, where committed costs on previous accommodation need to be paid 

for a period of time).  
 

 If you enter into a Deferred Payment Agreement with us, your Personal 

Expenses Allowance will be replaced by a ‘disposable income allowance’.  

9.9 The Care Act 2014 requires that financial assessments are completed for service 

users as individuals. Where capital is held and income is received on a joint basis, 

then it is assumed that each party is entitled to 50% of that capital/income. A couple 

is defined (for the purposes of this charging policy) as two people living together as 

spouses or partners.  

 

Changes to benefits when you move to a care home 

Page 190



19 | P a g e  
 

9.10 Often a permanent move to a care home will mean a change in some benefit 

payments to you. It is best to contact the office that pays you the benefit as soon as 

possible-to tell them that you have moved to a care home, and the date. 

9.11 When we complete a financial assessment with you, we will tell you if there are any 

changes to benefit entitlements and give you information about how to not if your 

change of address. Where new claims have been made, we will tell you how the 

award of a new welfare benefit might affect your assessment outcome. 

 

If you own your property 

9.12 If you own your home, or have a beneficial interest in your home, from which you 

have left to move to a care home, you will need to check whether your property 

capital will be disregarded. 

9.13 The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 

and The Care and Support Statutory Guidance set out the circumstances in which 

property capital is always disregarded. 

9.14 For example:  

 If your spouse or partner still lives in the property–your property capital would 

be disregarded (ignored) in the financial assessment for as long as your 

spouse/partner continues to live there. 

 

 If you have a relative aged over 60, or a disabled relative who still lives in the 

property, the property would also be disregarded for as long as that relative, 

or relatives, were living there. 

9.15 The Regulations state who counts as a ‘relative’ and the Statutory Guidance gives 

more information about these disregards.  

9.16 The Regulations also give councils discretion to disregard property in other 

situations. See ‘Discretionary Disregard of Property’ below. 

9.17 In any case, your property capital is disregarded for up to the first 12 weeks of 

moving permanently to a care home.  

9.18 You are still required to pay your assessed weekly charge during those 12 weeks, 

but your assessed weekly charge is based on your financial situation (excluding your 

property capital). See ’12-week Property Disregard’ below.  

9.19 It is important that you seek independent financial information and advice so that you 

have good information when considering options for your future funding.  

9.20 If your property is not disregarded under the Regulations you may wish to apply for a 

Deferred Payment Agreement with the Council. 

9.21 If you own a property or other valuable asset, over which security can be taken, you 

may be eligible to defer some care costs against the value of the property/asset. This 

Page 191



20 | P a g e  
 

is known as a Deferred Payment Agreement. The Council will make deferred 

payment agreements available under its Deferred Payment Agreement Scheme 

providing the eligibility criteria have been met.  

9.22 Details of deferred payment eligibility and agreements can be found within the 

Council’s ‘deferred payments for people in permanent residential care’ fact sheet, 

which is available on the Council’s website, and in leaflet format on request. The 

Council charges set up costs, an annual monitoring and administration fee, 

termination costs, and interest on all deferred payment loans agreed from April 2015 

onwards. 

9.23 Any properties you own other than your main or only home, either in the UK or 
abroad, will be included within the financial assessment as a capital asset. The only 
exception to this rule is where you are taking steps to occupy these premises as your 
permanent home where this is feasible to do so. In this case, subject to evidence of 
the same, the asset value will be disregarded for a maximum of 26 weeks.  

 

12-Week Property Disregard  

9.24 The purpose of the 12-week property disregard is to provide breathing space to allow 

a long-term decision about the property to be made.  

9.25 The 12-week property disregard applies if:  

 you move into a care home for the first time, and, as a result of the ownership 

of your own home, are responsible for the full cost of the care home fees; or 

you moved into a care home on a temporary basis initially but have now 

become a permanent resident in the care home; or  

 

 you are already living in a care home, and your property was previously 

disregarded in your financial assessment under a ‘statutory disregard’ (where 

national Regulations state it is disregarded) or under a ‘discretionary 

disregard’ (where the Council agreed to disregard it), but, due to a change of 

circumstances those disregards are no longer relevant and the value of the 

property means you would be responsible for the full cost of your care home 

fees. A change of circumstances could be, for example, a partner or relative 

living in the property goes into a care home themselves, or moves house, or 

dies.  

9.26 The 12-week property disregard only applies to your sole or main residence prior to 

moving to a care home. It does not apply to any other property or land you own.  

9.27 If you have savings and investments above the upper capital limit at the start of your 

placement in a care home, and you own a property, you have the opportunity to 

make decisions about what to do with your property during the period you are able to 

fund yourself - unless this is less than 12 weeks. In this event you will be entitled to 

the remaining period of the 12-week property disregard from the start of your 

placement.  

 

Page 192



21 | P a g e  
 

Your financial contribution during the Property Disregard period  

9.28 We will carry out a financial assessment with you to work out your Assessed Weekly 

Charge for your care home during the period of the property disregard.  

9.29 This financial assessment will be based on your financial situation excluding the 

value of your main property. This will take account of your income and any savings or 

assets above the lower capital limit and leave you with a personal expenses 

allowance.  

9.30 The Assessed Weekly Charge is due for payment at the time we raise an invoice to 

you.  

If you receive Attendance Allowance or Disability Living Allowance (Care 
Component) or Personal Independence Payment (Daily Living Component):  

If you receive one of these benefits listed above, these benefits continue to be paid to 
you by the Department of Work and Pensions for only the first four weeks after being 
in a care environment. A care environment includes hospital and care homes. After 
those first four weeks, these benefits are not payable to you while a council provides 
funding towards your care home costs. At the end of your property disregard period, 
you become responsible for the full cost of your care home placement, and your 
entitlement to have Attendance Allowance or Disability Living Allowance (Care 
Component) or Personal Independence Payment (Daily Living Component) restarts.  

Discretionary Disregard of Property  

9.31 The Care Act 2014 sets out a number of situations where the property you lived in 
and own, or have a beneficial interest in, must be disregarded. However there may 
be other circumstances where we consider it appropriate to disregard your interest in 
the property, even though we are not required by the national Regulations to do this. 
This is a discretionary disregard.  

9.32 We have to balance the use of this discretion with the need to ensure that residents 
with assets are not maintained at public expense. 

9.33 If you ask us to consider a discretionary disregard because your property is being 
occupied by a third party, we will consider:  

 the reason for the occupation of the property by the third party  

 the timing of the move into the property by the third party  

 any other relevant issue or circumstance 

 

How do I ask the Council to consider a request for a Discretionary Property 

Disregard?  

9.34 You can ask the financial assessment team.  

9.35 We will gather relevant information from you about your property and details of who 

lives there now. We will gather any other information relevant to your request and will 

talk to you about any other information that is needed from you.  

9.36 Once all relevant information has been gathered a decision will be made and notified 

to you in writing.  

Page 193



22 | P a g e  
 

9.37 All the facts of the case will be considered, and a decision made on the merits of the 

case, whether to agree to a disregard of the property. In cases of difficulty the Head 

of Service will seek advice from the Council’s legal advisers. We will keep you 

updated of the progress of your request.  

9.38 If your request for a discretionary property disregard is turned down, we will tell you 

the reasons. The financial assessments team will put these reasons in writing to you 

and will tell you how to request a review of the decision if you disagree with the 

outcome.  

 

Accommodation located outside of Lewisham  

9.39 We understand that being close to family support is a key factor in people’s selection 

of preferred accommodation. The location of preferred accommodation is not limited 

to the boundaries of Lewisham; accommodation anywhere within the United Kingdom 

(England, Wales, Scotland or Northern Ireland) are permitted, provided it still meets 

the other criteria - such as for suitability, availability and cost. Chapter 21 of the Care 

Act Statutory Guidance provides more information about cross-border placements 

(Care and Support Statutory Guidance Chapter 21 – Cross-border placements: 

www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance. Although we aim to 

ensure that people have a choice of accommodation to meet their assessed care and 

support needs in the local area, we will sometimes place people in other areas if 

there is not enough suitable accommodation within the Lewisham locality to meet a 

person’s assessed needs (if they need very specialist support, for example) or if their 

needs would be best met in a different area.  

9.40 We may refer to our own usual costs when making placements in another council 

area. However, because costs vary from area to area, we will negotiate with the 

provider to determine a reasonable cost to meet the assessed needs as outlined in 

the person’s care plan. If accommodation in another council area is more expensive 

than someone’s Personal Budget for their assessed needs, and that is identified as 

the most suitable accommodation to meet a person’s needs, we will meet this 

additional cost.  

9.41 We will ensure that satisfactory arrangements are made before a person moves to 

accommodation in another council area, including planning for regular reviews. We 

will be responsible for any changes to the person’s accommodation such as moving 

to a different provider, unless there is an emergency situation, where we should be 

involved as soon as possible  

Residence when moving to accommodation outside Lewisham  

9.42 If you move to accommodation outside of Lewisham while we are responsible for 

funding your care (either through choice, or because of the availability of suitable 

accommodation) to meet your care and support needs, you still remain a Lewisham 

resident. We will keep the same responsibility for you that we have for someone 

living in the Lewisham area. Only if you later choose to move by private arrangement 

may you become ‘ordinarily resident’ in your new area. If this happens, your new 

Page 194

http://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


23 | P a g e  
 

council becomes responsible for any future care and support assessment and/or 

funding. If you fund your own care and support and choose to move to a different 

area for accommodation to meet your needs (for example, to be closer to your family) 

you will usually become ‘ordinarily resident’ in the new area. If you become eligible 

for support from adult social care services in the future, the council in your new area 

would be expected to fulfil this responsibility.  

 

The Cost of Accommodation   

9.43 We use your assessment and support planning to identify your personal budget – the 

amount of money that we would expect to pay for care and support to meet your 

assessed needs. 

 For care home accommodation, we identify the expected cost of your 

accommodation based on the amount that we would normally pay to meet 

your assessed needs in a residential or nursing home, reflecting the local 

market conditions.  

 

 For supported accommodation and Extra Care Housing, the housing costs 

are normally separate to your care and support package. You would own or 

rent your accommodation and pay for this independently (claiming Housing 

Benefit and using this to pay the landlord of a shared house if you had a 

tenancy agreement, for example). We will work with you to make sure you 

have suitable accommodation for your care and support needs to be met.  
 

 

9.44 When establishing how much we would expect to pay for your care and support, we 

will take account of your individual circumstances such as medical, cultural or dietary 

needs, to ensure that your needs can be properly met. 

 

Choosing more expensive accommodation: 

Care homes  

9.45 If your preferred care home is more expensive than your Personal Budget for your 

assessed needs, you will be advised of the higher cost of your choice. You will be 

given the opportunity to make an alternative choice that fits within your Personal 

Budget, or to put an arrangement in place to meet the additional cost.  

9.46 If your preferred accommodation meets all other requirements, we will support you to 

move to that accommodation that costs more than your Personal Budget says we 

would expect to pay for your assessed needs, provided that:  

 you can arrange for a third party to pay the additional amount - known as the 

Third-Party Top-Up (TPTU), or;  

 you can pay the additional amount from your own resources - a ‘First-Party 

Page 195



24 | P a g e  
 

Top-Up’.  

9.47 The rules about the situations where you can pay the additional amount yourself are 

shown below.  

 

Third-Party Top-Ups (TPTU)  

9.48 For a Third-Party Top-Up to be put in place, a third-party – such as a family 

member(s), friend, employer, organisation or charity – must be willing and able to 

pay the difference between the Personal Budget and the actual cost of the 

accommodation (or the associated accommodation costs for supported 

accommodation).  

9.49 To avoid the risk of you needing to move to different accommodation, we will usually 

discourage a Third-Party Top-Up unless the nominated Third Party can demonstrate 

that they are willing and able to pay the additional costs for at least a period of two 

years (or up to the duration of the service user’s likely time living in the 

accommodation if it is a short-term arrangement).   

9.50 This additional cost (known as a ‘top-up) must be sustainable and the Council has 

the right to refuse you using their assets for this purpose, if the costs cannot be met 

over a sustained length of time. This is to try to safeguard you from needing to move 

to another care home in the future should you no longer be able to pay the agreed 

top-up amount. If the Council does not agree to provide funding towards a more 

expensive care home due to concerns over the affordability of the top-up required, 

you or your representative can seek legal advice, or advice from an independent 

advocate, and request a review of the decision as set out in section 14.     

9.51 Where the Third Party is an organisation, we will require a letter from a legal 

representative of the organisation confirming that the organisation has the means 

and capacity to sustain payments for the period required to accompany a signed 

Third-Party Top-Up Agreement.  

9.52 Where the Third Party is one or more individuals, we will undertake a financial 

assessment of the individual(s) requiring documentary evidence of financial 

resources identified to meet the top-up payments, such as bank statement and 

details of financial commitments. This is to ensure that they have the means and 

capacity to sustain the payments for the period required. Completion of this 

assessment along with a signed Third-Party Top-Up Agreement and completed 

Direct Debit mandate is usually needed before we will agree to someone moving to 

the more expensive preferred accommodation.  

9.53 We will review all Third Party Top-Up Agreements at least annually, and sooner 

where there is a change to someone’s situation. The Third Party/ies have a 

responsibility to report any changes which may affect their ability to sustain their 

ability to contribute as per the Third-Party Top-Up Agreement within one calendar 

month of the date of that change to the Financial Assessment Team. 

Page 196



25 | P a g e  
 

First-Party Top-Ups (sometimes known as Resident Top-Ups) In specific 

circumstances it is possible for you to pay a ‘top up’ for your preferred 

accommodation from your own resources. These circumstances are shown below:  

1. A person entering care home accommodation whose property capital is 

disregarded for up to the first 12 weeks of the placement and who has either 

sufficient savings to pay the top-up during those 12 weeks, or disregarded income 

sufficient to pay the top up during those 12 weeks.  

2. A person entering care home accommodation whose property capital is 

disregarded for up to the first 12 weeks of the placement and who immediately 

enters into a Deferred Payment Agreement.  

9.54 You would still be responsible for paying an assessed contribution from your capital 

and income during those 12 weeks. The First Party Top-Up payment will be in 

addition to your assessed charge shown by your financial assessment. You would 

need to sign a Top-Up Agreement. With our permission, payment of a First Party 

Top-Up can be deferred providing that a Deferred Payment Agreement is agreed 

between you and the Council before your funding starts - that is, you intend to apply 

for a Deferred Payment Agreement (to start after the 12-week property disregard 

period), and you consent to a first legal charge on your property under a Deferred 

Payment Agreement from the start of your property-disregard period.  

9.55 We may consider the use of a First Party Top-Up in circumstances other than those 

set out above; for example, in the exceptional case that a Deferred Payment 

Agreement is accepted for a person in rented supported accommodation such as 

Extra Care Housing. People who would like to apply for a First Party Top-Up in a 

situation other than those set out above should contact our Financial Assessments 

Team to explain the exceptional circumstances in their situation for consideration. 

We may need to seek specialist legal advice on a case by case basis and the costs 

of this legal advice will be recharged to the individual. 

 

Paying for accommodation  

9.56 We will pay the total cost of the accommodation (or associated accommodation costs 

for supported accommodation) to the care provider, and then recover any top-up 

directly from the person/organisation who has agreed to pay this. To mitigate against 

adverse safeguarding issues (such as the accrual of arrears with a provider) we will 

usually only enter into Top-Up arrangements where the top-up is paid to us, and not 

to the provider directly.  

9.57 From time to time we will review our rates for accommodation. As a result the amount 

that we would expect to pay to meet someone’s assessed needs may remain the 

same, increase or decrease. This may impact on the amount that an individual or 

organisation is asked to pay as the top-up. Similarly, if the accommodation increases 

in price (for example, an annual uplift to reflect inflation, or a restructuring of fees 

because of a new provider), we will have no liability for the increased charges and 

will expect the individual or organisation paying the top-up to pay the additional costs 

Page 197



26 | P a g e  
 

above the amount the Council would expect to pay to meet that person’s needs.  

9.58 When a person/organisation takes on a Top-Up, they assume the contractual 

responsibility for the duration of the person’s residence in the accommodation to pay 

the difference in fees between the amount we would usually expect to pay to meet 

your assessed needs and the actual cost of your accommodation. We will advise the 

person/organisation in writing that fees are not fixed or guaranteed to remain at the 

same level, and that the contribution of the resident or third party may rise faster than 

the Council’s. We will also advise that we have no liability for debts accrued by a 

person/organisation due to non-payment or a shortfall in payment. We will notify 

people/organisations of the likely consequences if they fail to maintain payments. 

These may include legal action to recover the accrued arrears and/or you having to 

move to other accommodation (unless after an assessment of need, it is shown that 

your assessed needs can only be met in the current accommodation). The Council 

has the right, subject to notice, to terminate the contract should the top-up payments 

cease to be adequate.  

 

People who pay the full cost of their care and support  

9.59 If someone paying the full cost of their care and support has made their own private 

arrangement for services, the provider may take any action needed to obtain 

outstanding payments including legal action against the person or third-party who 

signed the contract and agreed to make payments but has failed to do so. The 

provider can also cancel the contract and give notice requiring the person to leave 

their accommodation.  

9.60 If you pay the full cost of your care and support we will encourage you to consider 

what will happen if, over time, your savings/investments reduce and you become 

eligible for financial support with your care and support costs from the Council. If you 

have existing accommodation that is more expensive than we would usually expect 

to pay, this may result in you having to move to other accommodation, unless 

arrangements can be secured by way of another alternative such as a Third-Party 

Top-Up. In this instance, we will support you to find an alternative placement of your 

choice, provided this meets the Council’s criteria around suitability, availability, 

conditions, cost and quality. If a reassessment shows that your needs can only be 

met in the current accommodation, we will endeavour, by way of negotiation, to make 

up the reasonable cost difference between your assessed contribution and the 

accommodation’s fees.  

 

Existing residents  

9.61 If you currently live in accommodation that is more expensive than we would usually 

expect to pay to meet your assessed needs, a review of your situation may result in 

you having to move to other accommodation, unless arrangements such as a Third-

Party Top-Up can be put in place to meet the additional cost. If a reassessment 

shows that your needs can only be met in the current accommodation, we will 

Page 198



27 | P a g e  
 

endeavour, by way of negotiation, to make up the reasonable cost difference 

between your assessed contribution and the accommodations’ fees. 

9.62 If you are eligible to receive local authority funding support, but decide to reside in 

another local authority area, Lewisham Council will have regard to the cost of care in 

that area when setting the personal budget and match the local authority usual rate 

for such care relevant to the area where the service user decides to live 

 

New residents  

 

9.63 The Council will undertake a financial assessment and benefits check if you are 

entering residential care on a permanent basis. This is normally done before you 

start to receive care wherever possible. Contributions are payable from the date care 

commences. The Council publishes a fact sheet containing details on residential care 

charging, which is available on the Council’s website, and in leaflet format on 

request.  
 

 
Self-funders/Those paying the full cost of their services  

 

9.64 A self-funder is a service user whose savings/capital exceed the higher capital 

threshold limit for residential care, or whose income is deemed to be sufficient to pay 

the weekly cost of their care in full, for example, from private pensions, investment 

funds, and property rental income.   
 

9.65 Residential care service users in this position will need to make their own 

arrangements with the care home regarding their permanent residency and payment 

of the care fees. If you are unable to do so and there is no one else who is willing and 

able to act for you, in exceptional circumstances the Council may make 

arrangements with the care home on your behalf. The Council can however offer a 

range of information and guidance to assist people who are self-funding to find the 

right care for themselves.  
 
9.66 If your capital falls to the higher capital limit or below it, a care assessment or care 

review will be completed to determine eligibility for Council funding, and a financial 
assessment will be completed to determine your financial circumstances.  

 

Short Term, Respite and Temporary Stays in Care Homes 

9.67 The Council will charge for care and support delivered in a care home on a 
temporary basis (unless it is provided under CHC s.117 or is part of a 6 week 
enablement package).  

 
9.68 The financial assessment for temporary stays will completely disregard your main or 

only home where you intend to return to that home. This decision will be reviewed, 
and continuation of the property disregard will depend on the extended length of stay 
in a care home after 52 weeks has elapsed, and the individual circumstances 
affecting this.  

 

Page 199



28 | P a g e  
 

9.69 The Council will ensure that where your spouse or partner resides in the same 
residence as you, that your spouse/partner will have an income of at least the basic 
level of income support or pension credit, to which they would be entitled to in their 
own right.  

 
9.70 The Council will ensure that where housing benefit is paid, this is disregarded so it 

can continue to meet the housing costs, as intended.  
 
9.71 The Council will ensure that payments made by you to keep and maintain your home, 

such as rent, water rates, insurance premiums are disregarded when financially 
assessing available income. Similarly, expenses that you would normally incur and 
would continue to pay may also be considered for a disregard from the available 
income for the purposes of the financial assessment. Contributions are usually 
payable from the date care commences. A new financial assessment will be required 
in each financial year where you require respite accommodation in a care home.  

 
9.72 Following an assessment of your eligible care and support needs, a decision may be 

taken that you would benefit from a temporary stay in a care home. A temporary 
resident is defined as a person whose need to stay in a care home is intended to last 
for a limited period of time, and where there is a plan to return home. The service 
user’s stay should be unlikely to exceed 52 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, 
unlikely to substantially exceed 52 weeks.  

 
9.73 If you have a temporary stay in a care home that becomes permanent you will be 

assessed for a permanent stay at the date permanency is confirmed and the care 
plan is amended.  

 
9.74 The Council will financially assess everyone who has a temporary stay in a care 

home, and will charge from the date of admission.  
 

9.75 If your savings and investments are above the upper capital limit: you will need 

to pay the full cost of your accommodation. We will give you advice and support to 

arrange this with a care home provider of your choice.  

9.76 If your total savings and investments are below the upper capital limit we will 

carry out a full financial assessment with you to work out how much (if anything) you 

can afford to pay for your care and support. Your financial assessment will show your 

‘Assessed Maximum Weekly Contribution’. 

 

10 Deprivation of Assets  

 
10.1 People with care and support needs are free to spend their income and assets as 

they see fit, including making gifts to friends and family. This is important for 
promoting their wellbeing and enabling them to live fulfilling and independent lives. 
However, it is also important that people pay their fair contribution towards their care 
and support costs.  

 
10.2 There are some cases where a person may have tried to deliberately avoid paying 

for care and support costs through depriving themselves of assets – either capital or 
income. Where the Council believes they have evidence to support this we may 
either charge the person as if they still possessed the asset or, if the asset has been 
transferred to someone else, seek to recover the lost income from charges from that 

Page 200



29 | P a g e  
 

person. However, the Council cannot recover more than the person gained from the 
transfer.  

 
10.3 If this is the case it is up to you to prove that you no longer have a resource. Failure 

to do so will result in the council treating you as if you still possess the actual capital. 
Examples of acceptable evidence of the disposal of capital would include: a trust 
deed, deed of gift, receipts for expenditure, proof that debts had been repaid.  

 

10.4 Even if you prove that you no longer have the asset, the Council may still deem you 
to have the asset for the purposes of assessment. The timing of the disposal will be 
taken into account when considering the purpose of the disposal.  

 

10.5 Where, for the purpose of avoiding or reducing the contribution, capital which would 
not have been disregarded has been used to acquire personal possessions, the 
current market value of those possessions should be taken into account as an actual 
resource. Their market value should not be disregarded.  

 
10.6 If in depriving yourself of an actual resource, you converted that resource into 

another actual resource of lesser value, you will be treated as notionally possessing 
the difference between the value of the new resource and the one which it replaced 
e.g., if the value of personal possessions acquired is less than the sum spent on 
them the difference should be treated as a notional resource.  

 

10.7 If the Council decides that you have disposed of capital in order to avoid paying a 
contribution or to reduce the contribution payable, the Council will decide whether to 
treat you as having the capital (notional capital) and assess the contribution payable 
accordingly; and then whether to:  

 recover the assessed contribution from you in full; or  

 recover an amount equal to the amount disposed of from the recipient of the 
disposed asset or its value; or  

 recover the assessed contribution by instalment; or  

 defer payment until a later date; or  

 take appropriate action as agreed by either guidance or management  

 

10.8 The Council will determine whether to conduct an investigation into whether 

deprivation of income or assets has occurred. Where an investigation is conducted, 

this will be conducted under guidance contained within the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 2000. Following the investigation, if the Council decides 

that you have deliberately deprived yourself of an asset or income in order to reduce 

a charge for care and support, the Council will charge you as though you still own the 

asset or income.  
 

10.9 Deprivation of income and/or assets is the disposal of income and capital (for 

example, property and investments) in order to avoid or reduce care charges. 

Disposal can take the form of transfer of ownership or conversion into a disregarded 

form. In all cases, it is up to the service user to prove to the Council that you no 

longer possess an income or an asset, and the reason for this. The Council will 

determine whether to conduct an investigation into whether deprivation of income or 

assets has occurred. Where an investigation is conducted, this will be conducted 

under guidance contained within the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.  

Page 201



30 | P a g e  
 

 
 

11 Charging for Support to Carers  

 
11.1 Where a carer has eligible support needs of their own, the Council has a duty, or in 

some cases a power, to arrange support to meet their needs. When the Council is 
meeting this need by providing a service directly to a carer, it has the power to 
charge the carer.  

 
11.2 The Care Act 2014 provides councils with the power to charge for support for carers, 

where they have an eligible support need in their own right.  
 

11.3 The Council values carers within its local community as partners in care and 
recognises the significant contribution they make. Carers help to maintain the health 
and wellbeing of the person they care for, support this person’s independence and 
enable them to stay in their own homes for longer. Currently the Council does not 
charge carers for any care and support provided directly to the carer.  

 
 

12 Pension Reforms  

 
12.1 The Council will follow the guidance set out on the treatment of income and capital in 

Appendices [B and C] and treat a person’s assets accordingly. Where a person has 
chosen to withdraw funds from their pension pot and manage it directly, for example 
combining it with other assets rather than through a pension’s product, this may be 
treated as capital under the rules laid out in Appendix B. 

 
 

13 Methods of Payment and Debt Recovery  

 

13.1 The following methods of payment are available:  

 
 Direct Debit 

 Bank Transfer 

 By Phone 

 Debit or Credit card 

 Post office 

 PayPoint 

 

13.2 The Council’s preferred method of payment is direct debit. Full details of how to 

make payments are at Appendix F. 
  

13.3 The Care Act 2014 consolidates the Council’s powers to recover money owed for 

arrangement and provision of care and support for a service user. These powers can 

be exercised where a service user refuses to pay the amount they have been 

assessed as being able to pay, or have been asked to pay (where the cost of care 

and support is less than their assessed contribution).  
 
13.4 The powers granted to the Council for the recovery of debt also extends to the 

service user or their representative, where they have misrepresented or have failed 

to disclose (whether fraudulently or otherwise), information relevant to the financial 

Page 202



31 | P a g e  
 

assessment of what they can afford to pay. Social workers will be advised of the 

debt, and may become involved if appropriate to your on-going care/well-being.  

 

13.5 If you fail and/or neglect and/or refuse to pay your assessed contribution, the Council 
will take steps to recover any amounts owing, including if appropriate legal action. 
This will be in line with the Council’s Debt Recovery policy.  (Link to be inserted when 
finalised)  

 
 

14 Review of Financial Assessment 

 
14.1 You or someone acting on your behalf have the right to ask the Council for a review 

of a charge for which you have been assessed if you consider that you cannot pay it 
or believe that:  

 The charge is too high  

 Information given may have been misrepresented  

 Some information may have been missed  

 A change in circumstances has occurred  

 A mistake may have been made in applying the charging guidance, or 

 The calculation is inaccurate  

 There are other exceptional circumstances that need to be considered  

 
14.2 Other than in response to a change of circumstances, the Council will consider 

reviews or appeals within 3 months of the date of charge notification and will only 
accept at its discretion those received outside this timescale  

 

14.3 There are two stages to the review process. 
 

Stage 1: Informal review 

14.4 You, or someone acting on your behalf should write to the department giving details 
of why you are requesting a review.  
 

14.5 When a request for a review is received an officer, independent of the disputed 
financial assessment, will reassess the information provided by the service user at 
the time of assessment. Any additional information that was omitted from the initial 
assessment will be considered upon submission of evidence. However, the Council 
is under no obligation to backdate the outcome to the date of the original 
assessment, but will consider the appropriate effective date for any change during 
the review process. An exception to this is where benefit income has stopped without 
your prior knowledge, and where you could not have been reasonably expected to 
know your benefit income had ceased,  which will always result in a backdated 
charging decision to coincide with the date the benefit income ceased to be payable 

 
 
14.6 The review will take place within 14 working days. You will be advised of the outcome 

of the review within 7 working days of a decision being taken. If the charge is found 
to be incorrect, this will be explained in writing, with reasons, also within 7 working 
days. Overall, this stage should take no longer than 28 working days. 
 
Stage 2: Contributions review panel 

 

Page 203



32 | P a g e  
 

14.7 If you or your representative remains unhappy after the charge has been reviewed 
under Stage 1, you or your representative should contact the Council in writing. You 
or your representative should provide clear information on why you remain 
dissatisfied with the outcome which must pertain to a material fact within the 
reviewed assessment and include evidence to support the same. 
 

14.8 A Charges Review Panel will be convened to review the assessment to date and 
initial review. The panel will consist of an Adult Social Care Manager and a Finance 
manager with advice from the legal department of the Council. All appropriate 
stakeholders will be invited to give their view to the panel. 
 

14.9 The panel will make recommendations and you will be informed of the outcome and 
any effect on your charges within 14 days.  

 
14.10 Where the Council still considers that the financial assessment is correct, and the 

service user does not agree with this decision, any resultant complaints about the 
level of charge are subject to the Care and Support Complaints Procedure, as set out 
in The Local Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009. The 
Council will make clear what its complaint’s procedure is and provide information and 
advice on how to lodge a complaint.  
 

 

14.11 Written requests for reviews should be directed to:  
 

Financial Assessment Team  

4th floor, Laurence House  

Catford  

SE6 4RU 
 

Email: financialassessment@lewisham.gov.uk 
 

 
 

15 Complaints 

 
15.1 The council welcomes feedback and has dedicated officers to manage complaints.   
 
15.2 If you are dissatisfied with the way that you have been treated during the financial 

assessment process, or with the service that you receive, you have the right to make 
a complaint to the complaints officer. The Council has a statutory complaints process 
to ensure that service user’ views and concerns are considered and dealt with 
appropriately and the Council holds itself accountable to the highest standards  

 
15.3 Complaints should be directed to :  

 
Community services customer relations team 
5th floor Laurence House 
Catford 
London  
SE6 4RU 

Page 204

mailto:financialassessment@lewisham.gov.uk


33 | P a g e  
 

Email: community.services@lewisham.gov.uk 
 

16 Use of Financial Information and Privacy  

 
16.1 The information the Council collects and keeps about you is confidential and can only 

be seen by authorised staff. This information will only be shared with other relevant 
people and agencies in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 or with the 
written consent of you or your legally appointed representative. This Act also gives 
you the right to see information that the Council keeps about you at any stage. 

 
 
 

17 Equality Impact  

 
17.1 The Council has considered the impact this framework will have on the diverse 

communities of Lewisham. As this guidance merely applies the Care Act 2014, the 
Council has assessed that this guidance does not discriminate against groups of 
service users or present adverse impacts due to any characteristics protected under 
the Equality Act 2010. 

 
 

18 Reviewing the Contributions Guidance  

 
18.1 This policy document will be reviewed as and when there are amendments or 

additions to the Care Act 2014, statutory guidance, and/or Regulations.  
 
 

19 Phasing of changes 

 

19.1 Where a decision taken by the Council, including a change in this charging policy, 
results in an increased charge to a service user, the Council may decide not to 
implement this immediately with existing clients and may, instead, phase the 
increase. Decisions on this phasing will be taken by the Executive  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205

mailto:community.services@lewisham.gov.uk


34 | P a g e  
 

 

Appendix [A]: Choice of Accommodation and Additional Payments  

 
Introduction  
 
1. This Appendix covers:  

 Choice of accommodation when arranging care and support in an accommodation 
setting;  

 Making additional payments for preferred accommodation.  
 
1.1. A person’s ability to make an informed choice is a key element of the care and 

support system. This extends to where the care and support planning process has 
determined that a person needs to live in a specific type of accommodation to meet 
their care and support needs.  
 

1.2. The care and support planning process will have determined what type of 
accommodation will best suit the person’s needs. This could be, for example, a care 
home, shared lives or extra care housing. Where the type of accommodation is one 
of those specified in regulations, the person will have a right to choose the particular 
provider or location, subject to certain conditions. Where this is the case, the 
following guidance should be applied and in doing so, the Council will have regard to 
the following principles:  

 

 good communication of clear information and advice to ensure well informed 
decisions;  

 a consistent approach to ensure genuine choice;  

 clear and transparent arrangements for choice and any ‘top-up’ arrangements; 

 clear understanding of potential consequences should ‘top-up’ arrangements fail 
with clear exit strategies; and  

 the choice is suitable to the person’s needs.  
 
1.3. The Council is aware that the regulations and guidance on choice of accommodation 

and additional costs apply equally to those entering care for the first time, those who 
have already been placed by the Council, and those who have been self-funders, but 
because of diminishing resources are on the verge of needing local authority support.  

 
Choice of Accommodation  
 
1.4. Where the Council is responsible for meeting a person’s care and support needs and 

their needs have been assessed as requiring a particular type of accommodation in 
order to ensure that they are met, the person will have the right to choose between 
different providers of the specified type of accommodation provided that:  

 the accommodation is suitable in relation to the person’s assessed needs; 

 to do so would not cost the Council more than the amount specified in the 
adult’s personal budget for accommodation of that type;  

 the accommodation is available; and  

 the provider of the accommodation is willing to enter into a contract with the 
Council to provide the care at the rate identified in the person’s personal 
budget on the Council’s terms and conditions.  

 
1.5. This choice is not to be limited to those settings or individual providers with which the 

Council already contracts or operates, or those that are within the Council’s 
geographical boundary. It will be a genuine choice across the appropriate provision. 

Page 206



35 | P a g e  
 

1.6. If a person chooses to be placed in a setting that is outside the Council’s area, the 
Council will still arrange for their preferred care. In doing so, the Council would have 
regard to the cost of care in that area when setting a person’s personal budget.  

 
Suitability of Accommodation  
 
1.7. In exercising a choice, the Council will ensure that the accommodation is suitable to 

meet a person’s assessed needs and identified outcomes established as part of the 
care and support planning process which will also include communication with care 
provider.  
 

1.8. People are able to express a preference about the setting in which their needs are 
met through the care and support planning process. This process considers both the 
person’s needs and preferences. Once this is agreed, the choice is between different 
settings, not different types. For example, a person cannot exercise the right to a 
choice of accommodation to choose a shared lives scheme when the care and 
support planning process, which involves the person, has assessed their needs as 
needing to be met in a care home.  

 
 Cost  
 
1.9. The care and support planning process will identify how best to meet a person’s 

needs. As part of that, the Council will provide the person with a personal budget. 
 

1.10. The personal budget is defined as the cost to the Council of meeting the person’s 
needs which the Council is required to meet. However, the Council will endeavour to 
take into consideration cases or circumstances where this ‘cost to the Council’ may 
need to be adjusted to ensure that needs are met. For example, a person may have 
specific dietary requirements that can only be met in specific settings. In all cases the 
Council will have regard to the actual cost of care in deciding the personal budget to 
ensure that the amount is one that reflects local market conditions. This should/will 
also reflect other factors such as the person’s circumstances and the availability of 
provision. In addition, the Council will not set arbitrary amounts or ceilings for 
particular types of accommodation that do not reflect a fair cost of care.  

 
1.11. A person must not be asked to pay a ‘top-up’ towards the cost of their 

accommodation because of market inadequacies or commissioning failures and must 
ensure there is a genuine choice. The Council will therefore ensure that at least one 
option is available that is affordable within a person’s personal budget and will 
endeavour that there is more than one. If no preference has been expressed and no 
suitable accommodation is available at the amount identified in a personal budget, 
the Council will arrange care in a more expensive setting and adjust the personal 
budget accordingly to ensure that needs are met. In such circumstances, the Council 
will not ask for the payment of a ‘top-up’ fee. Only when a person has chosen a more 
expensive accommodation can a ‘top-up’ payment be sought. Refer to point 8 of this 
policy which sets out further guidance on Additional Costs.  

 
Availability  
 
1.12. The Council has specific duties to shape and facilitate the market of care and support 

services locally, including ensuring sufficient supply where possible. As a result, a 
person should not have to wait for their assessed needs to be met. However, in some 
cases, a short wait may be unavoidable, particularly when a person has chosen a 
particular setting that is not immediately available. This may include putting in place 
temporary arrangements – taking in to account the person’s preferences and 

Page 207



36 | P a g e  
 

securing their agreement – and placing the person on the waiting list of their 
preferred choice of provider for example. The Council acknowledges that such 
arrangements can be unsettling for the person and reasonable attempts will be made 
for it to be avoided wherever possible.  
 

1.13. In such cases, the Council will endeavour that in the interim adequate alternative 
services are provided. In establishing any temporary arrangements, the Council will 
provide the person with clear information in writing on the detail of the arrangements 
as part of their care and support plan. This would include information on the 
operation of the waiting list for their preferred setting alongside any other information 
that may be relevant. If any interim arrangements exceed 12 weeks, the person may 
be reassessed to ensure that both the interim and the preferred option are still able to 
meet the person’s needs and that remains their choice.  

 
1.14. Where a person contributes to the cost of their care following a financial assessment 

they will not be asked to pay more than their assessment shows they can afford.  
 
1.15. In some cases a person may decide that they wish to remain in the interim setting, 

even if their preferred setting subsequently becomes available. If the setting where 
they are temporarily resident is able to accommodate the arrangement on a 
permanent basis this will be arranged and the person will be removed from the 
waiting list of their original preferred setting. Before doing so, the Council will make 
clear any consequences of that choice, including any financial implications.  

 
Choice that Cannot be Met and Refusal of Arrangements  
 
1.16. Whilst the Council will do everything it can to meet a person’s choice, inevitably there 

will be some instances where a choice cannot be met, for example if the provider 
does not have capacity to accommodate the person. In such cases, the Council will 
set out in writing where appropriate why it has not been able to meet that choice and 
will endeavour to offer suitable alternatives.  
 

1.17. The Council will attempt to do everything it can to take into account a person’s 
circumstances and preferences when arranging care. However, in all but a very small 
number of cases, such as where a person is being placed under guardianship under 
Section 7 of the Mental Health Act 1983, a person has a right to refuse to enter a 
setting whether that is on an interim or permanent basis. Where a person 
unreasonably refuses the arrangements, the Council is entitled to consider that it has 
fulfilled its statutory duty to meet needs and may then inform the person in writing 
that as a result they need to make their own arrangements. This is a step of last 
resort and the Council would consider the risks posed by such an approach, for both 
the Council itself and the person concerned. Should the person contact the Council 
again at a later date, the Council would consider reassessing the needs as 
necessary and re-open the care and support planning process.  

 
Contractual Terms and Conditions  
 
1.18. In supporting a person’s choice of setting, the Council may need to enter into a 

contract with a provider that they do not currently have an arrangement with. In doing 
so, they would ensure that the contractual conditions are the same.  

 
Additional Costs or ‘Top-up’ Payments  
 
1.19. In some cases, a person may actively choose a setting that is more expensive than 

the amount identified for the provision of the accommodation in the personal budget. 

Page 208



37 | P a g e  
 

Where they have chosen a setting that costs more than this, an arrangement will 
need to be made as to how the difference will be met. This is known as an additional 
cost or ‘top-up’ payment 15 and is the difference between the amount specified in the 
personal budget and the actual cost. In such cases, the Council will arrange for them 
to be placed there, provided a third party, or in certain circumstances the person in 
need of care and support, is willing and able to meet the additional cost.  
 

1.20. The following sections of the policy only apply where the person has chosen a more 
expensive setting. Where someone is placed in a more expensive setting solely 
because the Council is unable to make arrangements at the anticipated cost, the 
personal budget will reflect this amount. The person would then contribute towards 
this personal budget according to the financial assessment. The additional cost 
provisions will not apply in such circumstances.  

 
Agreeing a ‘Top-up’ Fee  
 
1.21. Having chosen a setting that is more expensive, based on good information and 

advice, the Council will endeavour that the person understands the full implications of 
this choice, bearing in mind that this is often a point of crisis. This will include for 
example that a third party, or in certain circumstances the person needing care and 
support, will need to meet the additional cost of that setting for the full duration of 
their stay and that should the additional cost not be met; the person may be moved to 
an alternative setting.  
 

1.22. The Council will ensure that the person paying the ‘top-up’ is willing and able to meet 
the additional cost for the likely duration of the arrangement, recognising that this 
may be for some time into the future. Therefore the Council will ensure that the 
person paying the ‘top-up’ enters into a written agreement with the Council, agreeing 
to meet that cost. The agreement will include the following:  

 

 the additional amount to be paid;  

 the amount specified for the accommodation in the person’s personal budget; 

 the frequency of the payments;  

 to whom the payments are to be made;  

 provisions for reviewing the agreement;  

 a statement on the consequences of ceasing to make payments;  

 a statement on the effect of any increases in charges that a provider may 
make; 

 a statement on the effect of any changes in the financial circumstances of the 
person paying the ‘top-up’.  

 
1.23. Before entering into the agreement, the Council will endeavour to provide the person 

paying the ‘top-up’ with sufficient information and advice to ensure that they 
understand the terms and conditions, including actively considering the provision of 
independent financial information and advice. 
  

1.24. Ultimately, if the arrangements for a ‘top-up’ were to fail for any reason, the Council 
will conduct a needs assessment and offer in the first instance suitable alternative 
arrangements. In cases where alternative arrangements are deemed not feasible, the 
Council will endeavour to meet the cost of the ‘top-up’ until a suitable alternative is 
established.  

 
 
 

Page 209



38 | P a g e  
 

 
The Amount to be Paid  
 
1.25. The amount of the ‘top-up’ should be the difference between the fees charges by the 

preferred provider and the amount that the Council would have set in a personal 
budget or local mental health after-care limit to meet the person’s eligible needs by 
arranging or providing accommodation of the same type. For the purposes of 
agreeing a ‘top-up’ fee the Council will consider what personal budget it would have 
set at the time care and support is needed. It will not automatically default to the 
cheapest rate or to any other arbitrary figure.  

 
Frequency of Payments  
 
1.26. In agreeing any ‘top-up’ arrangement, the Council will clearly set out how often such 

payments need to be made, e.g. on a weekly or monthly basis.  
 
Responsibility for Costs and to whom the Payments are Made  
 
1.27. When entering into a contract to provide care in a setting that is more expensive than 

the amount identified in the personal budget, the Council is responsible for the total 
cost of that placement. This means that if there is a break down in the arrangement 
of a ‘top-up’, for instance if the person making the ‘top-up’ ceases to make the 
agreed payments, then the Council would be liable for the fees until it has either 
recovered the additional costs it incurs or made alternative arrangements to meet the 
cared for person’s needs.  
 

1.28. In terms of securing the funds needed to meet the total cost of the care (including the 
‘top-up’ element) the Council has three options, except where the care and support is 
being funded via a Deferred Payment Agreement, in which case it is added to the 
amount owed. In choosing which option to take the Council will need to consider the 
individual circumstances of the case, and should be able to assure itself of the 
security of the arrangements and that there is no undue pressure on the person 
making the ‘top-up’ payment to increase the level of payment. The options are: 

  

 Treat the ‘top-up’ payment as part of the person’s income and therefore 
recover the costs from the person concerned through the financial 
assessment (where the ‘top-up’ payments are being made by a third party 
rather than the cared for person, this is on the assumption that the third party 
makes the payment to the person with care needs); or  
 

 Agree with the person, the third party paying the ‘top-up’ (if this is not the 
cared for person) and the provider that payment for the ‘top-up’ element can 
be made directly to the provider with the Council paying the remainder.  

 

 The person making the ‘top-up’ payments pays the ‘top-up’ amount to the 
Council. The Council then pays the full amount to the provider.  

 
1.29. In the case of people with eligible needs who pay in full for their own care and 

support who ask the Council to arrange their care, refer to point 19 of this policy.  
 
Provisions for Reviewing the Agreement  
 
1.30. As with any financial arrangement, an agreement to make a ‘top-up’ payment must 

be reviewed. The Council will set out in writing details of how the arrangements will 

Page 210



39 | P a g e  
 

be reviewed, what may trigger a review and circumstances when any party can 
request a review.  

 
Consequences of Ceasing to Make Payments  
 
1.31. The Council will advise in writing the consequences should there be a break down in 

the arrangement to meet the cost of the ‘top-up’. This should include that the person 
may be moved to an alternative accommodation where this would be suitable to meet 
their needs and affordable within the personal budget. As with any change of 
circumstance, the Council will undertake a new assessment before considering this 
course of action, including consideration of a requirement for an assessment of 
health needs, and have regard to the person’s wellbeing.  

 
Price Increases  
 
1.32. Arrangements will need to be reviewed from time to time, for example in response to 

any changes in circumstances of the cared for person, the person making the ‘top-up’ 
payments (if this is different from the cared for person), the Council’s commissioning 
arrangements or a change in provider costs. However, these changes may not occur 
together and the Council will set out in writing how these changes will be dealt with. 
 

1.33. The Council will set out in writing to the person It’s approach to how any increased 
costs may be shared/met. This would also include details of how agreement will be 
reached on the sharing of any price increases. This will also state that there is no 
guarantee that these increased costs will automatically be shared evenly should the 
provider’s costs rise more quickly than the amount the Council would have increased 
the personal budget and there is an alternative option that would be affordable within 
that budget.  

 
1.34. Where the person has a change in circumstances that requires a new financial 

assessment and this results in a change in the level of contribution the person them-
self makes, this may not reduce the need for a ‘top-up’ payment.  

 
Consequences of Changes in Circumstances of the Person Making the ‘Top-up’ 
Payment  
 
1.35. The person making the ‘top-up’ payment could see an unexpected change in their 

financial circumstances that will impact their ability to continue to pay the ‘top-up’ fee. 
Where a person is unable to continue making ‘top-up’ payments, the Council may 
seek to recover any outstanding debt and has the power to make alternative 
arrangements to meet a person’s needs, subject to a needs assessment. The 
Council will set out in writing how it will respond to such a change and what the 
responsibilities of the person making the ‘top-up’ payment are in terms of informing 
the Council of the change in circumstances.  

 
First Party ‘Top ups’  
 
1.36. The person whose needs are to be met by the accommodation may themselves 

choose to make a ‘top-up’ payment only in the following circumstances:  

 Where they are subject to a 12-week property disregard;  

 Where they have a deferred payment agreement in place with the Council. 
Where this is the case, the terms of the agreement will reflect this 
arrangement.  

Page 211



40 | P a g e  
 

 Where they are receiving accommodation provided under section 117 for 
mental health aftercare.  

 
 
People who are Unable to Make Their Own Choice  
 
1.37. There will be cases where a person lacks capacity to express a choice for 

themselves. The Council would therefore act on the choices expressed by the 
person’s advocate, carer or legal guardian in the same way they would on the 
person’s own wishes, unless in the Council’s opinion it would be against the best 
interests of the person.  

 
Self-funders who ask the Local Authority to Arrange Their Care  
 
1.38. In supporting self-funders to arrange care, the Council may choose to enter into a 

contract with the preferred provider, or may broker the contract on behalf of the 
person. Where the Council is arranging and managing the contract with the provider, 
it will ensure that there are clear arrangements in place as to how the costs will be 
met, including any ‘top-up’ element.  
 

1.39. Ultimately, the Council will assure that robust contractual arrangements are in place 
in such circumstances that clearly set out where responsibilities for costs lie and 
ensure that the person understands those arrangements. Self-funders will have to 
pay for the costs of their care and support including, in cases where they choose a 
setting that is more expensive, the top-up element of the costs of that setting.  

 
Choice of Accommodation and Mental Health After-Care  
 
1.40. Regulations made under section 117A of the Mental Health Act 1983 enable persons 

who qualify for after-care under section 117 to express a preference for particular 
accommodation if accommodation of the types specified in the regulations is to be 
provided as part of that after-care. The Council is required to arrange the provision of 
the preferred accommodation if the conditions in the regulations are met. 
  

1.41. The regulations give people who receive mental health after-care broadly the same 
rights to choice of accommodation as someone who receives care and support under 
the Care Act 2014. After-care is provided free of charge. The person will be fully 
involved in the care planning process.  

 
1.42.  An adult has the right to choose accommodation provided that:  
 

 The preferred accommodation is of the same type that the Council has 
decided to provide or arrange;  

 It is suitable for the person’s needs;  

 It is available for mental health after-care purposes; and  

 Where the accommodation is not provided by the Council, the provider of the 
accommodation agrees to provide the accommodation to the person on the 
Council’s terms.  

 
1.43. Where the cost of the person’s preferred accommodation is more than the Council 

would provide in a personal budget or local mental health after-care limit to meet the 
person’s needs, then the Council will arrange for them to be placed there, provided 
that either the person or a third party is willing and able to meet the additional cost. 
  

Page 212



41 | P a g e  
 

1.44. Where the person subject to section 117 has chosen more expensive 
accommodation, the person or a third party can meet the additional cost when the 
Council is providing, or arranging for the provision of accommodation in discharge of 
the after-care duty.  

 
1.45. In securing the funds needed to meet the additional cost, the Council may:  
 

 Agree with the person and the provider, and in cases where a third party is 
paying the ‘top-up’, agree with that third party, that payment for the additional 
cost can be made directly to the provider with the Council paying the 
remainder; or 

 The person or the third party pays the ‘top-up’ amount to the Council. The 
Council then pays the full amount to the provider.  

 
Information and Advice  
 
1.46. Where a ‘top-up’ arrangement is being entered in to, all parties should fully 

understand their responsibilities, liabilities and the consequences of the 
arrangements. The Council will provide the third party with sufficient information and 
advice to support them to understand the terms of the proposed written agreement 
before entering in to it.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 213



42 | P a g e  
 

Appendix [B]: Treatment of Capital 

 
Introduction  
 
1.47. This Appendix covers:  

 The treatment of capital when conducting a financial assessment in all 
circumstances.  

 
1.48. The Council must assess the income and capital of the person when undertaking a 

financial assessment. This Appendix covers the treatment of capital and should be 
read in conjunction with Appendix [C] on the treatment of income. The details of the 
sources of capital which the Council will disregard are set out in the regulations.  
 

1.49. The financial assessment will look across all of a person’s assets – both capital and 
income – deciding which is capital and which income is, and assess those assets 
according to the regulations and guidance. The Council will refer to Appendix [C] on 
the treatment of income and Appendix [E] on deprivation of assets when conducting 
a financial assessment. The treatment of income will vary depending on the type of 
setting a person is receiving care in. The treatment of capital, as set out in this 
Appendix, is broadly the same for all settings. Where there is a distinction between 
care homes and all other settings, this is clearly set out.  
 

1.50. In assessing what a person can afford to contribute the Council must apply the upper 
and lower capital limits. The upper capital limit is currently set at £23,250 and the 
lower capital limit at £14,250.  
 

1.51. A person with assets above the upper capital limit will be deemed to be able to afford 
the full cost of their care. Those with capital between the lower and upper capital limit 
will be deemed as able to make a contribution, known as “tariff income”, from their 
capital. Any capital below the lower capital limit should be disregarded.  

 
Defining Capital  
 
1.52. Capital can mean many different things and the intention is not to give a definitive 

definition here as the Council will consult the regulations and consider the individual 
asset on its merits. In general it refers to financial resources available for use and 
tends to be from sources that are considered more durable than money in the sense 
that they can generate a return.  
 

1.53. The following list gives examples of capital. This list is intended as a guide and is not 
exhaustive.  

 
a. Buildings  
b. Land  
c. National Savings Certificates and Ulster Savings Certificates  
d. Premium Bonds  
e. Stocks and shares  
f. Capital held by the Court of Protection or a Deputy appointed by that Court 

Any savings held in:  
i. Building society accounts.  
ii. Bank current accounts, deposit accounts or special investment accounts. 
This includes savings held in the National Savings Bank, Girobank and 
Trustee Savings  

Page 214



43 | P a g e  
 

iii. Bank.  
iv. SAYE schemes.  

 
Example of tariff income:  

 
Nora has capital of £18,100. This is £3,850 above the lower capital limit of £14,250. 

the £3,850 by £250 produces a figure of £15.40. When calculating tariff income, 
the amount is always rounded up. This therefore gives a tariff income of £16 per 
week.  

 
v. Unit Trusts.  
vi. Co-operatives share accounts. 
vii. Cash. 
viii. Trust funds  

 
Capital limits  
 
2.8. The capital limits set out at what point a person is able to access the Councils 

support and how much support they receive. The Council apply both the upper and 
lower capital limit for people living in a care home but only the lower capital limit for 
people living outside of a care home setting. The capital limits for 2015/16 are:  

 
a. Upper capital limit: £23,250;  
b. Lower capital limit: £14,250.  

 
In a Care Home Setting  
 
2.9. In assessing what a person can afford to contribute towards care in a care home 

setting, the Council will apply the upper and lower capital limits.  
 
2.10. A person with assets above the upper capital limit will be deemed to be able to afford 

the full cost of their care. Those with capital between the lower and upper capital limit 
will be deemed as able to make a contribution, known as ‘tariff income’, from their 
capital. 

 
2.11. If a person clearly has capital in excess of the upper capital limit, there will be no 

need to make a wider assessment. If a person is near the upper capital limit, the 
Council will plan ahead for when assets have been spent down and a person may 
therefore fall below the upper capital limit.  

 
2.12. The capital which a person has below the lower capital limit will be disregarded in the 

calculation of tariff income.  
 
2.13. Where a person has assets between the lower and upper capital limits the Council 

will apply tariff income. This assumes that for every £250 of capital, or part thereof, a 
person is able to afford to contribute £1 per week towards the cost of their eligible 
care needs.  

 
Outside a Care Home Setting  
 
2.14. The Council has not currently set an upper capital limit for a person receiving care 

and support outside of a care home setting.  
 
2.15. The capital which a person has below the lower capital limit will be disregarded in the 

calculation of tariff income.  

Page 215



44 | P a g e  
 

 
2.16. Where a person has assets above the lower capital limit the Council will apply tariff 

income. This assumes that for every £250 of capital, or part thereof, a person is able 
to afford to contribute £1 per week towards the cost of their eligible care needs.  

 

Cases where it is Not Clear Whether a Payment is Capital or Income  

 
Example of capital dispute:  

 
2.17. Arlene has £14,000 in a building society account in her own name. She says that 

£3,000 is set aside for her granddaughter’s education. Unfortunately there is no deed 
of trust or other legal arrangement which would prevent Arlene using the whole 
amount herself. She is therefore treated as the beneficial owner of the whole amount.  

 
Example of capital dispute:  
Lisa has £10,000 in a bank account in her own name and shares valued at £6,500. 
She provides evidence to show that the shares were purchased on behalf of her son 
who is abroad and that they will be transferred to her son when he returns to the UK. 
Although Lisa is the legal owner, she is holding the shares in trust for her son who is 
the beneficial owner. Only the £10,000 is therefore treated as Lisa’s capital.  

 
2.18. Resources should only be treated as income or capital but not both. If a person has 

saved money from their income then those savings should normally be treated as 
capital. However they should not be assessed as both income and capital in the 
same period. Therefore in the period when they are received as income, the resource 
will be disregarded as capital.  

 
2.19. In assessing a person’s assets it may not be immediately clear where a resource is 

capital or income, particularly where a person is due to receive planned payments. In 
general, a planned payment of capital is one which is:  

   a. Not in respect of a specified period; and  
   b. Not intended to form part of a series of payments.  
 
2.20. The Council will also have regard to the guidance on capital treated as income.  
 
Who Owns the Capital?  
 
2.21. A capital asset is normally defined as belonging to the person in whose name it is 

held, the legal owner. However, in some cases this may be disputed and/or beneficial 
ownership argued. Beneficial ownership is where someone enjoys the benefits of 
ownership, even though the title of the asset is held by someone else or where they 
directly or indirectly have the power to vote or influence a transaction regarding a 
particular asset. In most cases the person will be both the legal and beneficial owner. 

 
2.22. Where ownership is disputed, the Council will request written evidence to prove 

where the ownership lies. If a person states they are holding capital for someone 
else, the Council will obtain evidence of the arrangement, the origin of the capital and 
intentions for its future use and return to its rightful owner.  

 
2.23. Where a person has joint beneficial ownership of capital, except where there is 

evidence that the person owns an unequal share, the total value will be divided 
equally between the joint owners and the person will be treated as owning an equal 
share. Once the person is in sole possession of their actual share, they can be 
treated as owning that actual amount.  

Page 216



45 | P a g e  
 

 
2.24. In some cases, a person may be the legal owner of a property but not the beneficial 

owner of a property. They have no rights to the proceeds of any sale. In such 
circumstances the property will not be taken into account.  

 
Calculating the Value of Capital  
 
2.25. The Council will work out what value a capital asset has in order to take account of it 

in the financial assessment. Other than National Savings Certificates, valuation must 
be the current market or surrender value of the capital asset, e.g. property, whichever 
is higher,  
 
minus:  

 
a. 10% of the value if there will be any actual expenses involved in selling the 

asset. This must be expenses connected with the actual sale and not simply 
the realisation of the asset. For example, the costs to withdraw funds from a 
bank account are not expenses of sale, but legal fees to sell a property would 
be; and 
 

b. any outstanding debts secured on the asset, for example a mortgage.  
 
2.26. A capital asset may have a current market value, for example stocks or shares, or a 

surrender value, for example premium bonds. The current market value will be the 
price a willing buyer would pay to a willing seller. The way the market value is 
obtained will depend on the type of asset held.  

 
2.27. Where a precise valuation is required, a professional valuer may be asked to provide 

a current market valuation. Once the asset is sold, the capital value to be taken into 
account is the actual amount realised from the sale, minus any actual expenses of 
the sale.  

 
2.28. Where the value of a property is disputed, the Council will aim to resolve this as 

quickly as possible. The Council may obtain an independent valuation of the person’s 
beneficial share of the property within the 12-week disregard period where a person 
is in a care home. This will enable the Council to work out what charges a person 
should pay and enable the person, or their representative, to consider whether to 
seek a deferred payment agreement.  

 
2.29. The value of National Savings Certificates (and Ulster Savings Certificates) 

(Premium Bonds) is assessed in the same way as other capital assets. To enable an 
accurate value for the savings certificates the person must provide details of the:  

 certificate issue number(s);  

 purchase price; 

 date of purchase.  
 
Assets Held Abroad  
 
2.3. Where capital is held abroad and all of it can be transferred to the UK, its value in the 

other country will be obtained and taken into account less any appropriate deductions 
under paragraph 14. Where capital is held jointly, it will be treated the same as if it 
were held jointly within the UK. The detail will depend on the conditions for transfer to 
the UK.  

 

Page 217



46 | P a g e  
 

2.31. Where the capital cannot be wholly transferred to the UK due to the rules of that 
country, for example currency restrictions, the Council will require evidence 
confirming this fact. Examples of acceptable evidence could include documentation 
from a bank, government official or solicitor in either this country or the country where 
the capital is held.  

 
2.32. Where some restriction is in place, the Council will seek evidence showing what the 

asset is, what its value is and to understand the nature and terms of the restriction so 
that should this change, the amount can be taken into account. The Council will also 
take into account the value that a willing buyer would pay in the UK for those assets, 
but be aware that it may be less than the market or surrender value in the foreign 
country.  

 
Capital Not Immediately Realisable  
 
2.4. Capital which is not immediately realisable due to notice periods, for example 

National Savings Bank investment accounts or Premium Bonds, will be taken into 
account in the normal way at its face value. This will be the value at the time of the 
financial assessment. It may need to be confirmed and adjusted when the capital is 
realised. If the person chooses not to release the capital, the value at the time of 
assessment will be used and it will be reassessed at intervals in the normal way.  

 
Example of diminishing notional capital:  
Hayley is receiving care and support in a care home. She is assessed as having 
notional capital of £20,000 plus actual capital of £6,000. This means her assets are 
above the upper capital limit and she needs to pay the full cost of her care and 
support at £400 per week.  
The notional capital may therefore be reduced by the difference between the sum 
Hayley is paying (£400) and would have paid without the notional capital (£100). If 
she did not have the notional capital it would not affect her ability to pay. This is as 
she has an income of £124.40 and a personal allowance of £24.40 per week and 
would therefore be assessed as being able to pay £100.  

 
Notional Capital  
 
2.5. In some circumstances a person may be treated as possessing a capital asset even 

where they do not actually possess it. This is called notional capital.  
 
2.51. Notional capital may be capital which:  

   a. would be available to the person if they applied for it;  
b. is paid to a third party in respect of the person;  
c. the person has deprived themselves of in order to reduce the amount of 
charge they have to pay for their care.  

 
2.52. A person’s capital will therefore be the total of both actual and notional capital. 

However, if a person has actual capital above the upper capital limit, it may not be 
necessary to consider notional capital in a care home setting.  

 
2.53. Where a person has been assessed as having notional capital, the value of this will 

be reduced over time. The value of notional capital will be reduced weekly by the 
difference between the weekly rate the person is paying for their care and the weekly 
rate they would have paid if notional capital did not apply.  

 
2.54. Where a person is benefiting from the 12-week property disregard and has chosen to 

pay a “top-up” fee from their capital resources between the upper and lower capital 

Page 218



47 | P a g e  
 

limits, the level of tariff income that applies during those 12 weeks is the same as it 
would be if the person were not using the capital to “top-up”.  

 
Capital Disregarded  
 
2.6. The following capital assets will be disregarded:  

a. Property in specified circumstances (see point 12 of this policy);  
b. The surrender value of any:  

 
i. Life insurance policy;  
ii. Annuity.  

 
c. Payments of training bonuses of up to £200;  
d. Payments in kind from a charity;  
e. Any personal possessions such as paintings or antiques, unless they were 

purchased with the intention of reducing capital in order to avoid care and 
support charges.  

f. Any capital which is to be treated as income or student loans;  
g. The value of funds held in trust or administered by a court which derive from a 

payment for personal injury to the person. For example, the vaccine damage 
and criminal injuries compensation funds;  

 The value of a right to receive:  

 Income under an annuity;  

 Outstanding instalments under an agreement to repay a capital sum; 

 Payment under a trust where the funds derive from a personal injury;  

 Income under a life interest or a life-rent;  

 Income (including earnings) payable in a country outside the UK which cannot 
be transferred to the UK;  

 An occupational pension;  

 Any rent. Please note however that this does not necessarily mean the 
income is disregarded. Please see Appendix C for treatment of income.  

 
j. Capital derived from an award of damages for personal injury which is 

administered by a court or which can only be disposed of by a court order or 
direction;  
 

k. The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity purchased 
pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments in consequence 
of personal injury or from funds derived from a payment in consequence of a 
personal injury and any surrender value of such an annuity;  

 
l. Periodic payments in consequence of personal injury pursuant to a court 

order or agreement to the extent that they are not a payment of income and 
area treated as income (and disregarded in the calculation of income);  

 
m. Any Social Fund payment;  

 
n. Refund of tax on interest on a loan which was obtained to acquire an interest 

in a home or for repairs or improvements to the home;  
 

o. Any capital resources which the person has no rights to as yet, but which will 
come into his possession at a later date, for example on reaching a certain 
age; 

 

Page 219



48 | P a g e  
 

p. Payments from the Department of Work and Pensions to compensate for the 
loss of entitlement to Housing Benefit or Housing Benefit Supplement;  

 
q. The amount of any bank charges or commission paid to convert capital from 

foreign currency to sterling;  
 

r. Payments to jurors or witnesses for court attendance (but not compensation 
for loss or earnings or benefit);  

 
s. Community charge rebate/council tax rebate;  

 
t. Money deposited with a Housing Association as a condition of occupying a 

dwelling;  
 

u. Any Child Support Maintenance Payment; 
 

v. The value of any ex-gratia payments made on or after 1st February 2001 by 
the Secretary of State in consequence of a person’s, or person’s spouse or 
civil partner’s imprisonment or internment by the Japanese during the Second 
World War;  

 
w. Any payment made by a local authority under the Adoption and Children Act 

2002 (under section 2(b)(b) or 3 of this act);  
 

x. The value of any ex-gratia payments from the Skipton Fund made by the 
Secretary of State for Health to people infected with Hepatitis C as a result of 
NHS treatment with blood or blood products; 

 
y. Payments made under a trust established out of funds provided by the 

Secretary of State for Health in respect of persons suffering from variant 
Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease to the victim or their partner (at the time of death of 
the victim);  

 
z. Any payments under Section 2, 3 or 7 of the Age-Related Payments Act 2004 

or Age Related Payments Regulations 2005 (SI No 1983);  
 

Example of disregarded capital:  
 

Mr T is a former Far East prisoner of war and receives a £10,000 ex-gratia payment as 
a result of his imprisonment. He now requires care and support and has a total of 
£25,000 in capital. When calculating how much capital should be taken into account, 
the Council will disregard the first £10,000 – the value of the ex-gratia payment.  
The normal capital rules are then applied to the remaining £15,000. In this case, the 
first £14,250 would be completely disregarded in addition to the £10,000. Tariff income 
would therefore only be applied to the remaining £750.00.  
 

(aa)  Any payments made under section 63(6)(b) of the Health Services and Public 
Health Act 1968 to a person to meet childcare costs where he or she is 
undertaking instruction connected with the health service by virtue of 
arrangements made under that section;  

 
(ab) Any payment made in accordance with regulations under Section 14F of the 

Children Act 1989 to a resident who is a prospective special guardian or 
special guardian, whether income or capital.  

Page 220



49 | P a g e  
 

 
Property Disregards  
 
2.7. In the following circumstances the value of the person’s main or only home will be 

disregarded:  
a. Where the person is receiving care in a setting that is not a care home;  
b. If the person’s stay in a care home is temporary and they:  

i. intend to return to that property and that property is still available to 
them; or  
ii. are taking reasonable steps to dispose of the property in order to 
acquire another more suitable property to return to.  

 
c. Where the person no longer occupies the property but it is occupied in 

part or whole as their main or only home by any of the people listed below, 
the mandatory disregard only applies where the property has been 
continuously occupied since before the person went into a care home (for 
discretionary disregards see below):  

i. the persons partner, former partner or civil partner, except where they 
are estranged;  
ii. a lone parent who is the person’s estranged or divorced partner;  
iii. a relative as defined in paragraph 35 of the person or member of the 
person’s family who is:  

 

 Aged 60 or over, or  

 Is a child of the resident aged under 18, or  

 Is incapacitated.  
 
2.8. For the purposes of the disregard a relative is defined as including any of the 

following:  
 

a. Parent (including an adoptive parent)  
b. Parent-in-law  
c. Son (including an adoptive son)  
d. Son-in-law  
e. Daughter (including an adoptive daughter)  
f. Daughter-in-law  
g. Step-parent  
h. Step-son  
i. Step-daughter  
j. Brother  
k. Sister  
l. Grandparent  
m. Grandchild  
n. Uncle  

 
Example of emotional attachment to a property:  
Bea is 62 years’ old and lives with her family in Kent. Her father Patrick is a widower 
who has been living in the family home in Teddington that she and her sister grew up 
in and where she occasionally stays to help her father. Patrick has been assessed as 
having eligible care and support needs that are best met by moving into a care home.  

 
Although Bea is over the age of 60, the family home is not her main or only home 
and the property is therefore not disregarded.  

 

Page 221



50 | P a g e  
 

Example of occupying a property when not physically present:  
 

Matt is 60 years old and has been living overseas for the past 10 years due to his job 
in the diplomatic service. When he is in England, he lives at the family home he grew 
up in. His father Ken has been assessed as having eligible care and support needs 
that are best met by moving into a care home.  
In Ken’s financial assessment, the value of his property is disregarded as his son 
Matt is a qualifying relative that occupies the property as his main or only home. 
Although Matt is not physically present at the property at the point Ken moves into 
the care home, his alternative accommodation is only as a result of his employment 
and the family home is his main home.  
o. Aunt  
p. Nephew  
q. Niece  
r. The spouse, civil partner or unmarried partner of a to k inclusive.  

 
2.9. A member of the person’s family is defined as someone who is living with the 

qualifying relative as part of an unmarried couple, married to or in a civil partnership.  
 
2.10. For the purposes of the disregard the meaning of ‘incapacitated is not closely 

defined. However, it will be reasonable to conclude that a relative is incapacitated if 
either of the following conditions applies:  

a. the relative is receiving one (or more) of the following benefits: incapacity 
benefit, severe disablement allowance, disability living allowance, personal 
independence payments, armed forces independence payments, attendance 
allowance, constant attendance allowance, or a similar benefit; or  
 
b. the relative does not receive any disability related benefit but their degree 
of incapacity is equivalent to that required to qualify for such a benefit. 
Medical or other evidence may be needed before a decision is reached.  

 
2.11. For the purpose of the property disregard, the meaning of ‘occupy’ is not closely 

defined. In most cases it will be obvious whether or not the property is occupied by 
a qualifying relative as their main or only home. However, there will be some cases 
where this may not be clear and the Council will undertake a factual inquiry 
weighing up all relevant factors in order to reach a decision. An emotional 
attachment to the property alone is not sufficient for the disregard to apply.  

 
2.12.  Circumstances where it may be unclear might include where a qualifying relative 

has to live elsewhere for the purposes of their employment, for example a member 
of the armed services or the diplomatic service. Whilst they live elsewhere in order 
to undertake their employment, the property remains their main or only home. 
Another example may be someone serving a prison sentence. It would not be 
reasonable to regard the prison as the person’s main or only home and they may 
well intend to return to the property in question at the end of their sentence. In such 
circumstances the Council will consider the qualifying relative’s length of sentence 
and the likelihood of them returning to the property. Essentially the qualifying 
relative is occupying the property but is not physically present.  

 
Example of local authority discretion to apply a property disregard:  
Jayne has the early signs of dementia but wishes to continue living in her own home. 
She is not assessed as having eligible needs, but would benefit from some 
occasional support. Her best friend Penny gives up her own home to move in with 
Jayne. At this point, there is no suggestion that Jayne may need care in a care home.  

Page 222



51 | P a g e  
 

After 5 years Jayne’s dementia has reached the point where she needs a far greater 
level of care and support and following an assessment it is agreed her needs would 
best be met in a care home. On moving into the care home, the Council uses its 
discretion to apply the property disregard as this has now become Penny’s main or 
only home.  

 
2.13. The Council will take account of the individual circumstances of each case and will 

consider the following factors in making a decision:  
 

 Does the relative currently occupy another property?  

 If the relative has somewhere else to live do they own or rent the property (i.e. 
how secure/permanent is it?)  

 If the relative is not physically present is there evidence of a firm intention to 
return to or live in the property  

 Where does the relative pay council tax?  

 Where is the relative registered to vote?  

 Where is the relative registered with a doctor?  

 Are the relatives belongings located in the property?  

 Is there evidence that the relative has a physical connection with the 
property?  

 
2.14.  A property will be disregarded where the relative meets the qualifying conditions 

(e.g is aged 60 or over) and has occupied the property as their main or only home 
since before the resident entered the care home.  

 
Discretionary Disregard  
2.15.  The Council has a duty to ensure that expenditure incurred in relation to the cost of 

care is properly and fully recovered from qualifying assets. This means that, for any 
person receiving care, the  cost of that care is properly met from income and capital 
assets, in accordance with legislative provision and guidance. 

Such guidance also provides that the Council may wish to apply their discretion in 
disregarding property other than in those cases where it is mandatory to do so. The 
Council will consider such applications as may be made, however, Guidance also 
states that decisions must also be balanced against the need to ensure that a 
person’s assets are not preserved at public expense. 

In making a decision on whether to agree a discretionary disregard of your property 
we will consider our financial resources, and the following factors:  

 What is the nature and closeness of the relationship between you and the 
person remaining in the property?   

 Has the person cared for you and for how long? If so, what is the level 
and nature of the care provided by the person? Has any care been 
provided by others? If so what is the relationship to you and what is the 
level and nature of that care? 

 How long has the person lived in the property?  

 Where did the person reside (live as their main or usual place of 
residence) before moving in to the property and what has happened to 
their former accommodation and any proceeds of sale? 

 What was the main reason for the person to move into your home? Were 
there any other factors affecting the decision to move into your home?  

Page 223



52 | P a g e  
 

 What is the age, employment status and financial circumstances of the 
person? 

 When did you first have identified care needs? 

 When was care home accommodation first considered as an option for 
you? 

The Council will consider such applications on a case by case basis. 
 
12-week Property Disregard  
 
2.16.  A key aim of the charging policy is to prevent people being forced to sell their home 

at a time of crisis. The regulations under the Care Act 2014 therefore create space 
for people to make decisions as to how to meet their contribution to the cost of their 
eligible care needs.  

 
2.17.  The Council will disregard the value of a person’s main or only home when the 

value of their non-housing assets is below the upper capital limit for 12 weeks in the 
following circumstances:  
a. When they first enter a care home as a permanent resident; or  
b. When a property disregard other than the 12-week property disregard 

unexpectedly ends because the qualifying relative has died or moved into a 
care home.  

 
2.18. In addition, the Council has discretion to choose to apply the disregard when there is a 

sudden and unexpected change in the person’s financial circumstances. In deciding 
whether to do so, the Council will consider the individual circumstances of the case. 
Such circumstances might include a fall in share prices or an unanticipated debt. An 
example is given below.  

 
Example of an unexpected change in financial circumstances:  
 

Harry is a widower who owns his own home. 10 months ago he moved into a care 
home as a self-funder. He has been meeting the bulk of his costs from shares he 
received as part of his redundancy package. Due to an unexpected event, the value 
of his shared is suddenly reduced by half, meaning he is unable to meet the cost of 
his care.  
 
Although already in a care home and likely to remain responsible for paying for this 
care, Harry approaches the Council for assistance and to seek a Deferred Payment 
Agreement. During the financial assessment the Council agrees that the 
circumstances could not have been foreseen and uses its discretion to disregard the 
value of his property for the first 12 weeks. This provides Harry with the space he 
needs to make arrangements for the Deferred Payment Agreement to be put in place 
and enable him to continue to meet the cost of his care.  

 
Business Asset partial disregard 26-Week Disregard  
 
2.19.  The following capital assets must be disregarded for at least 26 weeks in a financial 

assessment. However, the Council may choose to apply the disregard for longer 
where it considers this appropriate. For example, where a person is taking legal 
steps to occupy premises as their home, but the legal processes take more than 26 
weeks to complete.  

 

Page 224



53 | P a g e  
 

i. Assets of any business owned or part-owned by the person in which they 
were a self-employed worker and has stopped work due to some disease or 
disablement but intends to take up work again when they are fit to do so. 
Where the person is in a care home, this should apply from the date they first 
took up residence. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 9 of the Care and Support 
(Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  
 

ii. Money acquired specifically for repairs to or replacement of the person’s 
home or personal possessions provided it is used for that purpose. This 
should apply from the date the funds were received. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 
12 of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) 
regulations]  

 
iii. Premises which the person intends to occupy as their home where they have 

started legal proceedings to obtain possession. This should be from the date 
legal advice was first sought or proceedings first commenced. [Schedule 2 
Paragraph 22 of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) 
regulations]  

 
iv. Premises which the person intends to occupy as their home where essential 

repairs or alterations are required. This should apply from the date the person 
takes action to effect the repairs. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 21 of the Care and 
Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  

 
v. Capital received from the sale of a former home where the capital is to be used 

by the person to buy another home. This should apply from the date of 
completion of the sale. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 6 of the Care and Support 
(Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  

 
vi. Money deposited with a Housing Association which is to be used by the person to 

purchase another home. This should apply from the date on which the money 
was deposited. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 11 of the Care and Support (Charging 
and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  

 
vii. Grant made under a Housing Act which is to be used by the person to purchase a 

home or pay for repairs to make the home habitable. This should apply from the 
date the grant is received. [Schedule 4 Paragraph 22 of the Care and Support 
(Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  

 
52-week Disregard   
 
2.20.  The following payments of capital will be disregarded for a maximum of 52 weeks 

from the date they are received.  
a. The balance of any arrears of or any compensation due to non-payment of:  

i. Mobility supplement  
ii. Attendance Allowance 
iii. Constant Attendance Allowance  
iv. Disability Living Allowance / Personal Independence Payment  
v. Exceptionally Severe Disablement Allowance  
vi. Severe Disablement Occupational Allowance  
vii. Armed forces service pension based on need for attendance  
viii. Pension under the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983, based on 
the need for attendance  
ix. Income Support/Pension Credit  

Page 225



54 | P a g e  
 

x. Minimum Income Guarantee  
xi. Working Tax Credit  
xii. Child Tax Credit  
xiii. Housing Benefit  
xiv. Universal Credit  
xv. Special payments to pre-1973 war widows.  

 
As the above payments will be paid for specific periods, they will be treated as income 

over the period for which they are payable. Any money left over after the period for 
which they are treated as income has elapsed will be treated as capital. [Schedule 
2 Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of 
Resources) regulations]  

 
b. Payments or refunds for:  

i. NHS glasses, dental treatment or patient’s travelling expenses;  
ii. Cash equivalent of free milk and vitamins;  
iii. Expenses in connection with prison visits. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 22]  

 
d. Personal Injury Payments.  

 
2 Year Disregard  
 
2.21. The Council will disregard payments made under a trust established out of funds by 
the Secretary of State for Health in respect of vCJD to:  

 
a.  A member of the victim’s family for 2 years from the date of death of the victim (or 
from the date of payment from the trust if later); or  
 
b. A dependent child or young person until they turn 18. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 27]  

 
Other Disregards  
 
2.22. In some cases a person’s assets may be tied up in a business that they own or part 
own. Where a person is taking steps to realise their share of the assets, these will be 
disregarded during the process. However, the person will be required to show that it is their 
clear intention to realise the asset as soon as practicable. In order to show their intent, the 
Council will request the following information:  

 
i. A description of the nature of the business asset;  
ii. The person’s estimate of the length of time necessary to realise the asset or their 
share of it;  
iii. A statement of what, if any, steps have been taken to realise the asset, what these 
were and what is intended in the near future; and  
iv. Any other relevant evidence, for example the person’s health, receivership, 
liquidation, estate agent’s confirmation of placing any property on the market.  

 
2.23. Where the person has provided this information to show that steps are being taken to 
realise the value of the asset, the Council will disregard the value for a period that it 
considers to be reasonable. In deciding what is reasonable the Council will take into account 
the length of time of any legal processes that may be needed.  
 
2.2.4. Where the person has no immediate intention of attempting to realise the business 
asset, its capital value will be taken into account in the financial assessment. Where a 
business is jointly owned, this will apply only to the person’s share.  
 

Page 226



55 | P a g e  
 

Treatment of Investment Bonds  
 
2.25. The treatment of investment bonds is currently complex. This is in part because of the 
differing products that are on offer. As such, the Council will seek advice from Legal 
Services.  
 
2.26. Where an investment bond includes one or more element of life insurance policies that 
contain cashing-in rights by way of options for total or partial surrender, then the value of 
those rights will be disregarded as a capital asset in the financial assessment.  
 
Capital Treated as Income  
 
2.27. The following capital payments will be treated as income. The Council therefore will 
have regard to Appendix C before conducting their assessments.  

a. Any payment under an annuity.  
b. Capital paid by instalment where the total of:  

i. the instalments outstanding at the time the person first becomes liable to 
pay for their care, or in the case of a person in temporary care whom the 
Council had previously decided not to charge, the first day on which the local 
authority decided to charge; and  
ii. the amount of other capital held by the resident is over £16,000. If it is 
£16,000 or less, each instalment should be treated as capital. [Regulation 16 
of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) 
regulations]  

 
Earnings  
 
2.28. Any income of the person derived from employment will be treated as earnings and not 
taken into account in the financial assessment.  
 
Income Treated as Capital  
 
2.29. The following types of income will be treated as capital:  
 

a. Any refund of income tax charged on profits of a business or earnings of an 
employed earner; Any holiday pay payable by an employer more than 4 weeks after 
the termination or interruption of employment; 
  

b.  Income derived from a capital asset, for example, building society interest or 
dividends from shares. This should be treated as capital from the date it is normally 
due to be paid to the person. This does not apply to income from certain disregarded 
capital;  

 
c. Any advance of earnings or loan made to an employed earner by the employer if the 

person is still in work. This is as the payment does not form part of the employee’s 
regular income and would have to be repaid;  

 
d. Any bounty payment paid at intervals of at least one year from employment as:  

i. A part time fireman;  
ii. An auxiliary coastguard;  
iii. A part time lifeboat man;  
iv. A member of the territorial or reserve forces.  

 
e. Charitable and voluntary payments which are neither made regularly nor due to be 

made regularly, apart from certain exemptions such as payments from AIDS trusts. 

Page 227



56 | P a g e  
 

Payments will include those made by a third party to the person to support the 
clearing of charges for accommodation.  
 

f. Any payments of arrears of contributions by a local authority to a custodian towards 
the cost of accommodation and maintenance of a child. [Regulation 18 of the Care 
and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  

 
 Capital Available on Application  
 
2.30. In some instances a person may need to apply for access to capital assets but has not 
yet done so. In such circumstances this capital will be treated as already belonging to the 
person except in the following instances:  

a. Capital held in a discretionary trust;  
b. Capital held in a trust derived from a payment in consequence of a personal injury; 
c. Capital derived from an award of damages for personal injury which is 
administered by a court;  
d. Any loan which could be raised against a capital asset which is disregarded, for 
example the home. [Regulation 21(2) of the Care and Support (Charging and 
Assessment of Resources) regulations] 
 

2.31. The Council will distinguish between:  
a. Capital already owned by the person but which in order to access they must make 
an application for. For example:  

i. Money held by the person’s solicitor;  
ii. Premium Bonds;  
iii. National Savings Certificates;  
iv. Money held by the Registrar of a County Court which will be released on 
application; and  
 

b. Capital not owned by the person that will become theirs on application, for 
example an unclaimed Premium Bond win. This will be treated as notional 
capital. [Regulation 21(2) of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of 
Resources) regulations]  

 
2.32. Where the Council treats capital available on application as notional capital the Council 
will do so only from the date at which it could be acquired by the person. [Regulation 21(2) of 
the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  
 
2.33. When applying notional income to a defined contribution pension this will be calculated 
as the maximum income that would be available if the person had taken out an annuity. 
Further guidance is provided in Appendix C.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 228



57 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix [C]: Treatment of Income  

 
3.1 The treatment of income when conducting a financial assessment in all circumstances. 

This is divided into:  

 Care homes;  

 All other settings;  
 
3.12. The Council will assess the income of the person when undertaking a financial 
assessment.  
 
3.13. There are differences in how income is treated in a care home and in all other settings. 
Charging a person in a care home is provided for in a consistent national framework. When 
charging a person in all other settings, the Council has more discretion to enable it to take 
account of local practices and innovations. This policy sets out the common issues and then 
those particular to each setting.  
 
3.14. This Appendix covers the treatment of income and should be read in conjunction with 
Appendix B on the treatment of capital. The detail of the sources of income which the 
Council will disregard is set out in this policy.  
 
Common issues  
 
3.2. The following section sets out the issues common to charging for all settings.  
 
3.21. Only the income of the cared-for person can be taken into account in the financial 
assessment of what they can afford to pay for their care and support. Where this person 
receives income as one of a couple, the starting presumption is that the cared-for person 

Page 229



58 | P a g e  
 

has an equal share of the income. The Council will also consider the implications for the 
cared-for person’s partner.  
 
3.22. Income is net of any tax or National Insurance contributions.  
 
3.23. Income will always be taken into account unless it is disregarded under the regulations.  
 
3.24. Income that is disregarded will either be:  

a. Partially disregarded; or  
b. Fully disregarded.  

 
3.25. all cases, irrespective of setting, employed and self-employed earnings are fully 
disregarded. Any income earned by the service user’s spouse, partner, or family member 
residing in the same address will also be fully disregarded  
 
3.26. Earnings in relation to an employed earner are any remuneration or profit from 
employment. This will include:  
 

a. Any bonus or commission;  
 
b. Any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to the person 
on account of the termination of their employment by reason of redundancy;  
 
c. Any payments in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as 
compensation for the loss of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of 
income;  
d. Any holiday pay except any payable more than four weeks after the termination or 
interruption of employment;  
 
e. Any payment by way of a retainer;  
 
f. Any payment made by the person’s employer in respect of any expenses not 
wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of 
employment, including any payment made by the person’s employer in respect of 
travelling expenses incurred by the person between their home and the place of 
employment and expenses incurred by the person under arrangements made for the 
care of a member of the person’s family owing to the person’s absence from home;  
 
g. Any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the 
Employment Rights Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal);  
 
h. Any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the Social Security Contributions 
and Benefits Act 1992 (certain sums to be earnings for social security purposes);  
 
i. Any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland;  
 
j. Any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the person who for the 
time being is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from 
work because of illness;  
 
k. The amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken 
into account in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of 
Schedule 3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001.  

Page 230



59 | P a g e  
 

 
3.27. Earnings in relation to an employed earner do not include:  
 

a. Any payment in kind, with the exception of any non-cash voucher which has been 
taken into account in the computation of the person’s earnings – as referred to 
above;  
 
b. Any payment made by an employer for expenses wholly, exclusively and 
necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment;  
 
c. Any occupational/personal pension.  

 
3.28. Earnings in the case of employment as a self-employed earner mean the gross 
receipts of the employment. This includes any allowance paid under section 2 of the 
Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) 
Act 1990 to the person for the purpose of assisting the person in carrying on his business.  
 
3.29. Earnings in the case of employment as a self-employed earner do not include:  
 

a. Any payment to the person by way of a charge for board and lodging 
accommodation provided by the person;  
b. Any sports award.  

 
3.30. Earnings also include any payment provided to prisoners to encourage and reward 
their constructive participation in the regime of the establishment, this may include payment 
for working, education or participation in other related activities.  
 
Benefits  
 
3.31. The Council will take most of the benefits people receive into account. Those the 
Council will disregard are listed below. However, the Council will ensure that in addition to 
the minimum guaranteed income or personal expenses allowance – details of which are set 
out below – people retain enough of their benefits to pay for things to meet those needs not 
being met by the Council.  
 
3.32. Any income from the following sources will be fully disregarded:  
 

a. Direct Payments; 
 

b. Guaranteed Income Payments made to Veterans under the Armed Forces 
Compensation Scheme;  
 

c. The mobility component of Disability Living Allowance;  
 

d. The mobility component of Personal Independence Payments.  
 
3.33. Please refer to Table 1 below which details benefits that will be included in the 
assessment and benefits which will be disregarded in part or in full for people living in a 
‘Care Home Setting’ and ‘Any Other Setting’.  
 
 
 
Table 1 Name of Benefit  

Care Home Setting  Any Other Setting  

Page 231



60 | P a g e  
 

Attendance Allowance, 
including Constant 
Attendance Allowance  

Included I thought they 
stopped receiving AA when 
in a perm care home?  
If a person goes in for a 
temporary period this 
benefit will be disregarded 
in full.  

Included  
The Night Care element 
when the benefit is paid at 
the higher rate, will be 
disregarded if the care and 
support package does not 
include care during the 
night.  
Night services are defined 
as the period from when the 
household closes down for 
the night. Dressing in the 
morning and undressing 
before going to bed are 
daytime activities.  

Disability Living Allowance 
(Care component)  

Included As above  
If a person goes in for a 
temporary period this 
benefit will be disregarded 
in full.  

Included  
The Night Care element 
when the benefit is paid at 
the higher rate, will be 
disregarded if the care and 
support package does not 
include care during the 
night.  
Night services are defined 
as the period from when the 
household closes down for 
the night. Dressing in the 
morning and undressing 
before going to bed are 
daytime activities.  

Personal Independence 
Payment (Daily Living 
component)  

Included As above  
If a person goes in for a 
temporary period this 
benefit will be disregarded 
in full.  

Included with a disregarded 
element  
The Night Care element 
when the benefit is paid at 
the higher rate, will be 
disregarded if the care and 
support package does not 
include care during the 
night.  

 

  

Page 232



61 | P a g e  
 

Appendix [D]: Household Related Expenditure (HRE)  

 
What is HRE?  

 

4.1. Household related expenditure is the cost incurred by the service user in maintaining 

their home. For this purpose the “home” is the service user’s main place of residence. 

Allowable housing costs (e.g. rent/mortgage/council tax) will only be allowed in the financial 

assessment where the service user is liable to pay these costs. Where the service user is 

not liable for these costs, but contributes towards these through a private board agreement 

or similar, then the service user will be expected to meet this expenditure from their 

guaranteed income  
 
What expenditure can be taken into account?  

 

4.12. The following items of HRE are fully taken into account in the financial assessment:  

 

 Council Tax (net of Council Tax support)  

 Rent (if payments are classed as rent for housing benefit purposes, amount taken 

into account is net of housing benefit if in payment)  

 Mortgage Payments (unless paid through Income Support/Pension Credit)  

 Ground Rent Hire purchase agreement to buy the home (e.g. caravan)  

 Any other items of reasonable household expenditure that the service user wishes to 

claim for will need to be evidenced and included in the financial assessment form that 

is completed.  

 

Page 233



62 | P a g e  
 

 

Appendix [E]: Disability Related Expenditure (DRE)  

 

5.1. Disability related expenditure is the additional cost or costs incurred by the service user, 

as a direct result of their disability or medical condition.  

Service users who are in receipt of care, with the exception of permanent care in a care home, 

and are in receipt of disability benefits (Attendance Allowance/Disability Living Allowance and 

Personal Independence Payment) will have a standard rate of DRE automatically applied to 

their financial assessment in recognition of their disability. The service user will also be invited 

to request a review of the DRE award within the assessment notification letter, if they feel the 

standard rate does not meet their current needs   

 

5.2. Only costs incurred and evidenced by the service user will be considered as part of the 

assessment as allowable expenditure. The Council presently uses guide weekly disregard 

allowance rates for certain types of disability related expenditure, and usually these are treated 

as maximum amounts that can be disregarded in the financial assessment calculation.  

 

5.3. However, individual circumstances are taken into account, and reasonableness is applied 

during the financial assessment determination process based on the information and evidence 

provided.  

 

5.4. The Council has the right not to allow costs that should be met by other agencies, such 

as the NHS. This applies to therapies such as physiotherapy, chiropody and incontinence 

pads.  
 

5.5. The Council will consider the following DRE within the financial assessment calculation:  

 payment for any community alarm system;  

 excessive laundry costs, bedding etc. due to incontinence. However, the Council will 

not make allowances at a higher rate where a reasonable alternative is available at 

a lower cost;  

 heating or metered water costs, above average levels for the area and housing type, 

occasioned by age, medical condition or disability; special clothing and footwear; 

special medically advised dietary needs;  

 reasonable costs of basic garden maintenance, cleaning or domestic help, if such is 

necessitated by the service user’s disability and is not already met; reasonable costs 

paid to a personal assistant (not a household member) who carries out necessary 

tasks, for example, around the house;  

 purchase, maintenance and repair of disability related equipment, including 

equipment or transport needed to enter or remain in work; this may include, for 

example, IT costs, where necessitated by the disability;  

 specialist internet access, for example, for blind and partially sighted people;  

transport costs necessitated by illness or disability, including costs of transport to 

day centres, over and above the mobility component of DLA or PIP, if in payment. 

Where the Council provides transport and the service user wishes to use alternative 

transport at a higher cost, the cost of Council provision will be used to determine any 

allowance 

Page 234



63 | P a g e  
 

 All other expenditure will usually be assessed as either an everyday living cost, or 

will be reviewed as a specific need against the service users’ care and support plan, 

taking individual circumstances into account.  

 

5.6. Expenditure which is the responsibility of another organisation (such as the NHS/PCT) 

will not be considered as DRE by the Local Authority. Examples of this includes but is not 

limited to:  
a. Physiotherapy  
b. Travel to and from Hospital  

 
5.7. In assessing disability-related expenditure, the authority should include the following 

(which costs may need to be evidenced):  
a. Payment for any community alarm system (net of Housing Benefit or Supporting 
People Grant)  
 
b. Costs of any privately arranged care services provided it is agreed necessary to 
meet eligible social care needs, including respite care  
 
c. Costs of any speciality items occasioned by disability, e.g.:  

i. Specialist washing powders or laundry  
ii. Additional costs of special dietary needs due to illness or disability (the user 
may be asked for permission for us to approach their GP in cases of doubt)  
iii. Special clothing or footwear, for example, where this needs to be specially 
made, or additional wear and tear to clothing and footwear caused by 
disability  
iiii. Additional costs of bedding, for example, because of incontinence  
iv. Any heating costs or metered costs of water, above the average levels for 
the area and housing type, occasioned by age, medical condition, or disability  
vi. Reasonable costs of basic garden maintenance, cleaning, or domestic 
help, if necessitated by the individuals disability and not met by social 
services  
vii. Purchase, maintenance, and repair of disability-related equipment, 
including equipment or transport needed to enter or remain in work, this may 
include IT costs, where necessitated by the disability; reasonable hire costs of 
equipment may be included, if due to waiting for supply of equipment from the 
local council  
viii. Personal assistance costs, including any household or other necessary 
costs arising for the user  
ix. Other transport costs necessitated by illness or disability, including costs of 
transport to day centres, over and above the mobility component of DLA, if in 
payment and available for these costs. In some cases, it may be reasonable 
for council not to take account of transport e.g. council-provided transport to 
day centres is available but has not been used  
x. In other cases, it may be reasonable for Council not to allow for items 
where a reasonable alternative is available at lesser costs. For example, 
private purchases of incontinence pads, as these are available from the NHS.

Page 235



64 | P a g e  
 

Appendix [F]: Deferred payments 

 

If you need to pay for your care but can't access all your money (for example, because it is 

tied up in a property you own) then a deferred payment agreement might be the right option 

for you.  

Deferred payments have been introduced nationally as part of the Care Act and mean that 

people should not have to sell their homes to pay for their care, as they have sometimes had 

to do in the past.  

With a deferred payment agreement we pay an agreed part of your weekly care and support 

bill for as long as necessary. You also pay a weekly contribution towards your care – that 

you have been assessed as being able to pay – from your income and other savings.    

You can delay repaying us until you choose to sell your home, or until after your death. 

How to find out if you are eligible for a deferred payment agreement 

Deferred payment agreements will suit some people’s circumstances better than others and 

not everyone will be eligible. You should be eligible for a deferred payment agreement if you: 

 are receiving care in a care home (or you are going to move into one soon) 

 own your own home (unless your partner or certain others live there) 

 have savings and investments of less than £23,250 (not including the value of your 

home or your pension pot). 

Use the online  calculator on our website (link below) to give you an indication to whether 

you would be eligible to apply for a deferred payment and the amount you may receive. 

The calculator does not replace our financial assessment. 

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/adult/money/Pages/Deferred-payments-

scheme.aspx 

When to repay a deferred payment agreement 

You have the option to sell your home and pay us back at any point. Or you can have a 

deferred payment agreement for the full length of your stay in a care home and pay it back 

out of your estate, following your death. 

 

The amount you can defer by having a deferred payment agreement 

The amount you can defer will depend on the value of your home, which determines your 

equity limit. As a guide, most people can use 80% to 90% of the equity available in their 

home.  

The limit on equity is to protect you from not having enough money to pay for the costs of 

selling the property (like solicitor fees) and to protect us against a drop in housing prices and 

the risk that it may not get all the money back.  

 

Applying for a deferred payment agreement if your spouse or civil partner lives in 

your house 

Page 236

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/adult/money/Pages/Deferred-payments-scheme.aspx
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/adult/money/Pages/Deferred-payments-scheme.aspx


65 | P a g e  
 

If you need to move into a care home but your partner lives in your home then we will 

consider your partner’s circumstances as well as your own.  

Provided your partner lives in your home as their main or only home, and you are not 

estranged or divorced, then we will exclude the value of your home when it assesses your 

finances to work out how much you will have to pay for care and will not need a deferred 

payment agreement. 

If you and another person part-own your property (and is disregarded) and you would 

otherwise be eligible for a deferred payment, we can consider a deferred payment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 237



66 | P a g e  
 

Appendix [G]: Ways to Pay 

 

Page 238



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Select Committee work programme 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 11 

Class Part 1 (open) 7 February 2018 

 
1. Purpose 
 

To advise Members of the proposed work programme for the municipal year 2017-
18, and to decide on the agenda items for the next meeting. 

 
2. Summary 
 
2.1 At the beginning of the municipal year, each select committee drew up a draft work 

programme for submission to the Business Panel for consideration. 
 
2.2 The Business Panel considered the proposed work programmes of each of the 

select committees on 22 May 2017 and agreed a co-ordinated overview and 
scrutiny work programme. However, the work programme can be reviewed at each 
Select Committee meeting so that Members are able to include urgent, high priority 
items and remove items that are no longer a priority. 

 
3. Recommendations 
 
3.1 The Committee is asked to: 
 

 note the work plan attached at Appendix B and discuss any issues arising from 
the programme;  

 specify the information and analysis required in the report for each item on the 
agenda for the next meeting, based on desired outcomes, so that officers are 
clear about what they need to provide; 

 review all forthcoming key decisions, attached at Appendix C, and consider any 
items for further scrutiny; 

 
4. The work programme 
 
4.1 The work programme for 2017/18 was agreed at the Committee’s meeting on 25 

April 2017. 
 
4.2 The Committee is asked to consider if any urgent issues have arisen that require 

scrutiny and if any existing items are no longer a priority and can be removed from 
the work programme. Before adding additional items, each item should be 
considered against agreed criteria. The flow chart attached at Appendix A may 
help Members decide if proposed additional items should be added to the work 
programme. The Committee’s work programme needs to be achievable in terms of 
the amount of meeting time available. If the Committee agrees to add additional 
item(s) because they are urgent and high priority, Members will need to consider 

Page 239

Agenda Item 11



which medium/low priority item(s) should be removed in order to create sufficient 
capacity for the new item(s). 

 
5. The next meeting 
 
5.1 The following reports are scheduled for the meeting on 6 March 2018: 
 

Agenda item Review type Link to Corporate Priority Priority 
 

Delivery of the Lewisham 
Health & Wellbeing 
priorities 

Standard item Active, healthy citizens High 

Adult learning Lewisham 
annual report 

Standard item Active, healthy citizens High 

Ladywell Unit proposals Standard item Active, healthy citizens High 

Lewisham People’s 
Parliament - learning 
disabilities and health 

Standard item Active, healthy citizens Medium 

 
5.2 The Committee is asked to specify the information and analysis it would like to see 

in the reports for these items, based on the outcomes the Committee would like to 
achieve, so that officers are clear about what they need to provide for the next 
meeting. 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 

7. Legal Implications 
 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

 
8. Equalities Implications 
 
8.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 

Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

8.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act 

Page 240



 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
8.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and 

all activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration 
to this. 
 

9. Date of next meeting 
 
The date of the next meeting is Tuesday 6 March 2018. 
 
Background Documents 

 
Lewisham Council’s Constitution 

 
Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide 

 

Page 241



Appendix A 
 

 

 

Page 242



Work item Type of item Priority
Strategic 

priority

Delivery 

deadline
25-Apr 13-Jun 20-Jul 07-Sep 01-Nov 06-Dec 07-Feb 06-Mar

Lewisham future programme Standard item High CP9 Ongoing

Sustainability and transformation plan Standard item Medium CP9 Apr

Confirmation of Chair and Vice Chair Constitutional req High CP9 Apr

Select Committee work programme 2017/18 Constitutional req High CP9 Apr

CCG update on primary care changes Standard item Medium CP10 Apr

In-depth review In-depth review Performance monitoringCP9 Jan Scope Evidence session Evidence session Report

SLaM quality account Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Jun

Neighbourhood care networks update Standard item Medium CP9 Jun

Adult Safeguarding Board introduction Performance monitoring High CP9 Jul

Grove Park Health Centre Standard item High CP10 Jul

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Quality Account Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Jul

CCG review of access to urgent care Standard item High CP10 Jul

Information item: notes of meeting with GST Standard item Medium CP9 Jul

Information item: Developing Lewisham's Adult Social Care 

On-line Activity
Standard item Medium CP9 Jul

Healthwatch annual report Standard item Medium CP9 Sep

Healthwatch hospital discharge report Standard item Medium CP9 Sep

CQC inspection of Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Performance monitoring Performance monitoringCP9 Nov

Lewisham hospital update (systems resilience) Standard item High CP9 Nov

Waldron walk-in centre – consultation update Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Nov

Consultation on daycare meals Standard item High CP9 Nov

Adult social care charging framework Standard item High CP9 Nov

Public health annual report Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Nov

Partnership commissioning intentions Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Nov

Leisure centre contract Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Dec

Transition from children's to adult social care Standard item Medium CP9 Dec

Integration review update Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Dec

Adult safeguarding annual report Performance monitoring High CP9 Jan

CQC update on care homes Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Dec

CQC inspections of SLaM Performance monitoring High CP9 Dec

The future of the NHS Walk-in Centre, New Cross and 

improving access and provision to primary care - update.
Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Dec

Linkline Community Alarm Service Standard item Medium CP9 Jan

Adult social care charging framework Standard item Medium CP9 Jan

Lewisham People’s Parliament - learning disabilities and 

health 
Standard item Medium CP9 Mar

Ladywell Unit Standard item Medium CP9 Mar

Adult learning Lewisham annual report Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Mar

Delivery of the Lewisham Health & Wellbeing priorities Performance monitoring High CP9 Mar

Item completed

Item on-going 1) Tuesday 25 April 5) Wednesday

Item outstanding 2) Tuesday 13 June 6) Thursday

Proposed timeframe 3) Thursday 20 July 7) Wednesday

Item added 4) Tuesday 12 September 8) Tuesday

7 February

6 March

Healthier Communities Select Committee work programme 2017/18 Programme of work

Meetings

01 November

6 December

P
age 243



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 
 

 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

   
 

Forward Plan February 2018 - May 2018 
 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months.  
 
Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent to Kevin Flaherty, the Local Democracy Officer, at the Council 
Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to: 
 
(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 

decision relates; 
 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards. 

 
 

P
age 245



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 
 

September 2017 
 

Council Tax Base 
 

17/01/18 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

November 2017 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2018/19 
 

17/01/18 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

Local Development Scheme 
 

17/01/18 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

Business Rate Retention Pilot 
Pool 2018-19 
 

17/01/18 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

November 2017 
 

Planning Service Statement of 
Community Involvement 

17/01/18 
Council 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 

 
  

 P
age 246



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

  Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

December 2017 
 

Report of New Bermondsey 
Independent Inquiry Committee 
 

17/01/18 
Council 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris Barnham 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Contract Extension Carers 
Specialist Information Advice 
and Support Service 
 

23/01/18 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

Council Budget 2018-19 
 

07/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

School Admission 
Arrangements 2019-20 
 

07/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

P
age 247



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

September 2017 
 

School Deficits 
 

07/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

November 2017 
 

New Homes Programme 
Update 
 

07/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

Development of Partnership 
Arrangements for 
Neighbourhood Community 
Teams 
 

07/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

Annual Pay Statement 
 

07/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

November 2017 
 

Contract award of new 
framework agreement for 
Personalised Care and Support 
in the Home" 
 

07/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 

 
  

 

P
age 248



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Older People 
 

December 2017 
 

Oracle Financials archiving 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Review of Implementation of 
the Armed Forces Community 
Covenant 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

Annual Budget Update 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

Proposed Change of use and 
site access site adjacent to 
Ashmead School and 265 
Lewisham Way 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

P
age 249



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

January 2018 
 

Update of the Local 
Assemblies Handbook 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Adult Social Care Charging and 
Financial Assessment 
Framework 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Lewisham Gateway - 
Affordable Housing 
contribution. 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Miscellaneous Debt Write-Off 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Public Health Neighbourhood 
Grants 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 

 
  

 

P
age 250



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

September 2017 
 

Contract Award and Approval 
to Proceed with 1 FE 
expansion at Ashmead School 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Contract awards for 2 
supported housing services - 
people with mental health 
problems and those with drug 
and alcohol problems 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Development of a Soft Play 
facility at Glassmill Leisure 
Centre 
 

14/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

Neighbourhood Planning 
 

21/02/18 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

Council Budget 2018-19 
 

21/02/18 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 

 
  

 

P
age 251



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

December 2017 
 

Excalibur Regeneration 
Programme Parts 1 & 2 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Brasted Close Development - 
Land Appropiation 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

August 2017 
 

Response to Consultation 
regarding changes to Targeted 
Short Breaks Provision 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

October 2017 
 

Disposal of the former Saville 
Centre 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

P
age 252



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

October 2017 
 

Schools Minor Works 
Programme 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

August 2017 
 

School Improvement 
Partnership 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

June 2017 
 

Joint Strategic Depot Review 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

October 2017 
 

Update on Fire Safety in 
Lewisham 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

November 2017 
 

Private Sector Housing 
Assistance Policy 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

P
age 253



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

December 2017 
 

Catford Regeneration 
Programme Masterplan Brief 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Lewisham Homes Governance 
Update 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

SEND Consultation Outcome 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Approval to procure three 
SEND school expansion and 
remodelling projects using the 
LCP Framework. 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Contract Award Refurbishment 
Laurence House as part of 
Smarter Working Programme 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 

 
  

 

P
age 254



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Deputy Mayor 
 

January 2018 
 

Contract award for building 
restoration works in 
Beckenham Place Park 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Janet Senior, Acting 
Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Approval of the Dynamic 
Purchasing System 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

August 2017 
 

Fostering Strategy 
 

21/03/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Agreed Syllabus Review and 
Syllabus Launch 
 

21/03/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 Contract award for landscaping 21/03/18 Janet Senior, Acting   

P
age 255



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 works in Beckenham Place 
Park 
 

Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Chief Executive and 
Executive Director for 
Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

  

June 2017 
 

Deptford Lounge & Tidemill 
Academy Facilities 
Management and Centre 
Management Contract Award 
 

21/03/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

December 2017 
 

Contract Award for Additional 
Accommodation Units in 
Young Persons Pathway for 
Care Leavers 
 

21/03/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Contract award for residential 
care service for adults with 
learning disabilities with 
behavioural support needs 
(Holmbury Dene) 
 

21/03/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

PCSA Contract Award for 
Stage 1 of two SEND school 
expansion projects. 
 

10/04/18 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Education 
Business Panel 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 

 
  

 

P
age 256



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Children and Young 
People 
 

January 2018 
 

Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan 
 

06/06/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

January 2018 
 

Demolition Contract Award for 
SEND school expansion 
projects 
 

19/06/18 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Education 
Business Panel 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

P
age 257



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

      

      

P
age 258


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2017
	2 Declarations of interest
	4 Social prescribing review - draft report
	04 Social prescribing review report - draft - 070218

	5 Adult safeguarding annual report
	05 LSAB Annual Report 2016-2017 - 070218

	6 CQC update on care homes
	06 CQC report on care homes in Lewisham - 070218

	7 CQC inspections of SLaM
	07 SLaM CQC inspections - 070218

	8 The future of the NHS Walk-in Centre, New Cross and improving access and provision to primary care - update
	9 Linkline Community Alarm Service
	09 Appendix 1, Linkline Consultation - 070218
	09 Appendix 2, Linkline EIA

	10 Adult social care charging framework
	10 Lewisham ASC charging framework - 070218

	11 Select Committee work programme
	Appendix B - work programme 2017-18 - 070218
	Key Decision Plan - 070218


